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TO BOARD MEMBER 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library Board Meeting will be held on: 

 
DATE AND TIME:  

Thursday 24 February 2022 at 6.00pm 
 
 

 
LOCATION: 

Online Microsoft Teams Meeting 

 
 
APOLOGIES: 

If you cannot attend the meeting, please email dlamb@yprl.vic.gov.au   
by Monday 21 February 2022 
 
Chief Executive Officer 
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A. Welcome and Apologies 

B. Acknowledgement to Traditional Custodians 

“YPRL acknowledges the Wurundjeri people as the traditional 
custodians of the land and we pay our respects to all Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging, who 
have resided in the area” 
 

C. Disclosures of Interest, declaration of Pecuniary and Conflict of 

Interest 
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D. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting 16 December 2021 
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Present 

 

MEMBERS  
Cr Alison Champion Banyule City Council 
Administrator Lydia Wilson City of Whittlesea 
Kate McCaughey City of Whittlesea 
Cr Karen Egan Nillumbik Shire Council  
Cr Frances Eyre Nillumbik Shire Council 
  
  
  

 

OFFICERS  
Jane Cowell CEO, Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
Kath Brackett Banyule City Council 
Corrienne Nichols Nillumbik Shire Council 
Robyn Ellard Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
Sajeeva Tennekoon Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
Kate Karrasch Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
Luciano Lauronce Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
  

 

GUESTS  

Tracey Jermieson Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
Chantel Blitenthall Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
  

MINUTES  

Debbie Lamb Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 
  

APOLOGIES  
  
Cr Elizabeth Nealy Banyule City Council 
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A. Apologies 

 Cr Elizabeth Nealy 

 

BOARD RESOLUTION 

That the Board resolves to receive the apologies 

MOVED Cr Alison Champion  

SECONDED Cr Karen Egan CARRIED 

 

B. Acknowledgement to Traditional Custodians 

 

“YPRL acknowledges the Wurundjeri people as the traditional custodians of the land and we pay 
our respects to all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging, who 
have resided in the area” 
 

C. Disclosure of Interest, Declaration of Pecuniary and Conflict of 

 Interest 

 There were no disclosures. 

 

D. Confirmation of Minutes  
 

BOARD RESOLUTION 

That the Board resolves to confirm the following Minutes of the preceding Ordinary meeting of 

28 October 2021 

MOVED Cr Karen Egan  

SECONDED Administrator Lydia Wilson CARRIED 

 

 

  



YARRA PLENTY REGIONAL LIBRARY  MINUTES 16 DECEMBER 2021 

Page 4 of 9 

E. Presentation of General Reports 

  

ITEM 1  DIAMOND VALLEY LIBRARY BRANCH MANAGER PRESENTATION 

The Diamond Valley Branch Manager gave an overview of the Diamond Valley Library including 

the history of the library, its collection and patron statistics and the programs offered. 

The recent refurbishment of the library made possible from the Living Libraries fund, Nillumbik 

Council and YPRL contributions. The library also has a garden Maker Space that is partnered with 

the Stephanie Alexander Kitchen Garden program and includes regular garden events, food 

swaps, demonstrations and workshops. 

The library’s opportunities and future challenges were outlined and also how the branch is 

delivering on the YPRL Library Plan 2021–2025. The library is looking to redevelop its outdoor 

areas, introduce a community art installation and increase promotion of the library to the 

Greensborough residents and entrepreneurs. 

A 3D walkthrough video was shown to the Board showing the library spaces. The Board thanked 

the Branch Manager for the presentation and the visual presentation. The Board congratulated all 

involved on a very successful refurbishment. 

BOARD RESOLUTION 

THAT the Board resolves to RECEIVE AND NOTE the presentation 

MOVED Cr Alison Champion  

SECONDED Cr Karen Egan CARRIED 

 

4.48pm Tracey Jermieson left the meeting. 

 

ITEM 2  CEO REPORT 

The CEO updates the Board on each of the focus areas of the Library Plan. These focus areas 

reflect the new Library Plan 2021-2025. The CEO highlighted the commencement of investigations 

into the new business model for YPRL with the RFQ going out to support the process. 

YPRL is taking part in the statewide initiative “Big Summer Read” to support children over the 

school holidays in maintaining their reading. The CEO also thanked member councils for 

supporting the “Return Yourself to the Library” campaign by promoting it widely across their 

various networks. 

YPRL has also featured in the national newspaper, The Guardian, with a report on the recently 

launched WiFi Hotspot program for families in need. 

The CEO thanked Board members who came to the recent staff Christmas party. The Chair echoed 

this and highlighted how important it is for the Board to be visible to staff and recognise their 

efforts. 

The Board commented on the new Donnybrook Hub which is a partnership involving the 

developer (Mirvac) and City of Whittlesea. Further feedback is being sought from the community 
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regarding future activities/programs/facilities to be offered at the precinct. The developer is 

supporting the costs for the courier service and is also partially funding jointly with City of 

Whittlesea, a Community Development worker. Work is underway to install MCH and other 

responsive services at the facility. PRACE is working on training to be offered to locals. The Social 

Enterprise café is looking to have their staff learn about libraries and train their staff in that area 

to further support library activities at the centre. The Board congratulated and thanked YPRL on 

the implementation of this model and their support in getting this facility active. 

A comment was raised regarding media mentions and that the City of Whittlesea seems to be 

underrepresented. It was explained that this is often down to timing of articles, but all three 

member councils regularly liaise with YPRL for media coverage of the service. 

The Board thanked the CEO for a comprehensive report. 

BOARD RESOLUTION 
 

THAT the Board resolves to RECEIVE and NOTE the CEO Report 

MOVED Administrator Lydia Wilson  

SECONDED Cr Karen Egan CARRIED 

 

ITEM 3 STATE OF YPRL PRESENTATION 

The CEO delivered a presentation updating the Board on the background and profile of YPRL, the 

2021-2025 Library Plan and YPRL Values. 

All three member councils were thanked for continuing to invest in the libraries and updated on 

the current or recent refurbishments across the service which has been a Regional Library Service 

since 1964. 

The presentation also demonstrated YPRL’s financial position, innovative delivery of services, 

workforce profile, current business model and the plans for moving to a new business model as 

per the Local Government Act 2020. 

The Board thanked the CEO for a comprehensive and informative snapshot of YPRL and 

congratulated the whole team on negotiating the recent agreement for shared services with 

Warrnambool Council. 

BOARD RESOLUTION 
 

THAT the Board resolves to RECEIVE and NOTE the presentation 

MOVED Cr Alison Champion  

SECONDED Cr Frances Eyre CARRIED 
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ITEM 4 YPRL BENCHMARKING 

The CEO delivered a presentation outlining the results of the annual collection of library service 
statistics by Public Libraries Victoria. Due to the impact of COVID across the library service, it is 
recommended caution is exercised when reviewing the statistics. 

Key performance highlights were shared together with areas where performance had dropped. 
Questions around the data were raised and it was explained that the variances were due to the 
different approaches by library services during the pandemic restrictions. 

The State Government contribution was queried and it was confirmed that there is a proposal due 
to be tabled to the State Government in 2022 to amend the funding formula. 

BOARD RESOLUTION 
 

THAT the Board resolves to: 

1. RECEIVE and NOTE the presentation AND 

2. SUPPORT advocacy endeavours in relation to recognition of per capita and socio 
demographic factors in the funding formula for library services. 

MOVED Cr Karen Egan  

SECONDED Cr Alison Champion CARRIED 

 

ITEM 5 FIRE SAFETY PROCEDURE 2021 

The YPRL Fire Safety Procedure provides information for YPRL staff about “code red” and other 
fire danger rated days and outlines changes to standard operating procedures during those days. 

YPRL Executive Leadership Team monitors fire danger days through the CFA website and ongoing 
conditions on the Vic Emergency website. 

Fire risk is assessed and decisions made by the CEO about library closures or changes to working 
conditions and decisions are communicated to all affected staff, volunteers and patrons as far in 
advance as possible. The Mobile Library and Outreach vehicle are likely to be the most impacted 
by this procedure and appropriate risk assessments have been undertaken to determine the 
instances where the service will not operate. 

Any closures to branches or cessation of the Mobile and Outreach services follow the Planned 
Library Closure procedure and relevant closure clauses within the YPRL Enterprise Agreement are 
enacted. 

The Board appreciate a clear and thorough document. 

BOARD RESOLUTION 
 

THAT the Board resolves to ADOPT the YPRL Fire Safety Procedure 2021 and approve the 
closure of the libraries, including the Mobile Library and Outreach vehicle, under its terms 

MOVED Cr Alison Champion  

SECONDED Cr Karen Egan CARRIED 
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ITEM 6  YPRL ACCESSIBILITY ACTION PLAN 

The Accessibility Action Plan (AAP) 2022-2024 provides a strong planning framework to support 

the library to ensure the needs of people with a wide range of disabilities and other access 

challenges are considered and addressed in all library operations. YPRL is committed to ensuring 

that the Library service is accessible to, and inclusive of, all people including people with 

disabilities.  We also are committed to ensure our community has equitable, dignified access to all 

library services, programs, facilities, information, and communication. 

This AAP replaces the previous Disability Action Plan 2013-2017 and provides the framework for 

YPRL to address disability access issues across all areas of library responsibility and operations. 

The development of the plan has been completed in consultation with the Disability Access 

Officers from each member council. The key activities in the plan will be achieved through a 

process of codesign. 

The AAP objectives are to ensure that the library service is accessible to – and inclusive of – 

people with disabilities, and that the community has equitable, dignified access to all the library 

services, programs, facilities, information, communication and employment systems. 

The previous 2013-2017 DAP provided an important framework and actions to provide 
accessibility and inclusion to people with disabilities. The adoption of the new 2022-2024 AAP will 
continue this important focus. 

Board members suggested that YPRL use each council’s community consultation and engagement 
portal to access additional community consultation and this will be added to the action plan  

YPRL will carry out an Audit through the inclusion index and then consult with the three, member 
council advocates who have supported YPRL in creating this plan. 

Board members commented on the positive naming of the Accessibility Action Plan 
demonstrating more inclusive language. 

 

BOARD RESOLUTION 

THAT the Board resolves to ADOPT the YPRL Accessibility Action Plan noting additional member 
council support through online council portals and disability and access to disability advisory 
bodies 

MOVED Administrator Lydia Wilson  

SECONDED Cr Alison Champion CARRIED 

 

OTHER BUSINESS: 

 

E. Continuation of matters lapsed from previous meetings 
Nil 

 

F. Consideration of action on petitions and joint letters 
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G. General Business 
 

Dates and times of 2022 board meetings 
 

YPRL shared a timetable of the 2022 meetings that moved some meetings to day time. All 

members support the proposed timetable. 

 

Acknowledgement to YPRL staff 
 

The Board wish to acknowledge the efforts and contributions made by the Executive 

Leadership Team and all the staff in a very difficult year in continuing to deliver a service 

to the community. It was also acknowledged that there is a strong theme of partnership 

with member councils throughout the reports; the innovation by the YPRL team has been 

exceptional. 

 

The Chair will send a staff message to the CEO on behalf of the board to pass on to YPRL 

staff. 

 

 

H. Reports from delegates appointed by the Board to other bodies 
 

Nil 

 

J.  Confidential Meeting 

5.49pm Chantel Blitenthall Robyn Ellard left the meeting 

 

BOARD RESOLUTION 

That the Board resolves that the Confidential Meeting be held in camera at 5.49pm 

MOVED Cr Karen Egan  

SECONDED Cr Alison Champion CARRIED 

 

 

BOARD RESOLUTION 
 

That the Board meeting be opened to the public at 6.14pm 

MOVED Cr France Eyre  

SECONDED Kate McCaughey CARRIED 
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THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS, 

THE CHAIRPERSON DECLARED THE MEETING CLOSED AT 6.15pm 
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E. Presentation of General Reports 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SECTION E 
 

Presentation of General Reports
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Agenda Item 1: Election of YPRL Chair and Deputy Chair  

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

  

  

REPORT 

SUMMARY 

As specified in the Section 4.3 of the Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service Agreement it is 

necessary to elect a new Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson at the first meeting in each 

calendar year. 

The Agreement specifies that these positions be taken in rotation and that for 2022 the 

Chair come from the Nillumbik Shire Council and the Deputy Chair from the Banyule City 

Council 

The Chief Executive Officer shall act as Chair pro tem for these elections. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That …..……………………. be appointed as Chair of the YPRL Board for 2022 

 M:  

 S:  

 

 

That  ……………………. be appointed as Deputy Chair of the YPRL Board for 2022 

 M:  

 S:  
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Agenda Item 2: YPRL Committee Appointments 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Jane Cowell, Chief Executive Officer 

Attachment: 2 - YPRL Audit Committee Charter - 2011 

 

REPORT 

SUMMARY 

This report is for Board’s action. 

INTRODUCTION 

A review of appointments to the both the YPRL Audit Committee and CEO Employment 

Matters Sub Committee is required. 

The YPRL Audit Committee meets on a regular basis to discuss issues arising from the 

finance and administration area of the library. 

The CEO Employment Matters Sub Committee meets six-monthly to review and discuss the 

CEO’s performance. 

REPORT 

The Board is required to elect one Board member from each member Council to both the 

YPRL Audit Committee and CEO Employment Matters Sub Committee.   

The next meeting of the Audit Committee is scheduled for Thursday 29 April 2022 and is 

scheduled to meet four (4) times per year.  Other meetings may be called as required. The 

Audit Committee is chaired by an Independent Chair, Kerrie Jordan, who was appointed in 

2018. 

The CEO Employment Matters Sub Committee is responsible for the recruitment and 

performance review of the CEO.  The Committee is supported in the performance review 

process by the independent consultant, Margaret Devlin, Managing Director, Centre for 

Organisation Development, who was appointed in 2021. The Committee meets twice a year 

with the next meeting scheduled on July 28, 2022 to undertake the CEO annual 

performance review. 

CONSULTATION 

N/A 

CRITICAL DATES 

The Board are required to appoint representatives from each LGA to form the YPRL Audit 

Committee prior to the next scheduled meeting of 2022 and one Board member from each 

LGA to the CEO Employment Matters Sub Committee. 
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FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

POLICY STRATEGY AND LEGISLATION 

Local Government Act 1989  

LINKS TO STRATEGIC PLAN 

Strategy:  

Organisational strength  

 

Priority:  

• Investment in our staff, capacity, and governance to ensure we are capable and 

ready to adapt, learn and empower our communities in environmentally and 

socially responsible ways. 

DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Under section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to the Library 

must disclose any interests, including type of interest. 

The Responsible Officer reviewing this report, having made enquiries with the relevant 

members of staff, reports that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this 

report.  

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to APPOINT: 

Cr ………………………………………..(Banyule) 

Cr ………………………………………..(Nillumbik) and 

………………………………………..(Whittlesea) to the YPRL Audit Committee 

 M:  

 S:  
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THAT the Board resolves to APPOINT: 

Cr………………………………………..(Banyule) 

Cr ………………………………………..(Nillumbik) and 

………………………………………..(Whittlesea) to the YPRL CEO Employment Matter Sub 

Committee 

 M:  

 S:  

 

 

  



 
 

1 
YPRL Audit Committee Charter June-2011 

YARRA PLENTY REGIONAL LIBRARY 
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER – APRIL 2011 

 
Purpose 

In accordance with Section 139 of the Local Government Act 1989 (as amended) (the Act) 
the Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service (YPRL) has established an Audit Advisory 
Committee (the Committee) to assist the YPRL Board (the Board) in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities for the financial reporting process, the system of internal control, the audit 
process, and the Library’s processes for monitoring compliance with legislation and 
regulations and the code of conduct. 
 
Authority 

The Committee has authority to conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within 
its scope of responsibility.   
 
It has the responsibility for advising the Board on the following:  
 

• Seeking resolution on any disagreements between management and the external 
auditors on financial reporting; 

• The retention by the Board of independent counsel, accountants, or others to advise 
the Committee or assist in the conduct of an investigation. 

 
The Committee should: 
 

• Review all auditing services, including assisting with both internal and external audit 
planning; and monitoring outcomes; 

• Seek any information it requires from Board members, Library staff (including 
senior management, all of whom are directed to co-operate with the Audit 
Committee’s requests) and external parties; 

• Meet with Library staff, internal and external auditors, or outside counsel, as 
necessary. 

 
Composition 

• The Committee will consist of three Board members, one from each Member 
Council, and an independent Chair person; 

• The Member Council representatives should be nominated annually by each 
Member Council. Such nominations to be made at the first Board Meeting of the 
calendar year; 

• Each Council may appoint one proxy member at act as the Audit Committee 
Member Council representative.  Such appointment is to be made in writing at the 
same time as the Board member proxy nominations; 

• The Chair of the Committee must be independent; 

• At least one Committee member should be financially literate. 
 

Meetings 

• The Committee will meet at least four times a year with authority to convene 
additional meetings as circumstances require; 
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• All Committee members are expected to attend each meeting, in person or through 
teleconference or video conference; 

• A quorum for a Committee Meeting is a minimum of any two members; 

• The Committee will invite members of management, auditors or others to attend 
meetings and provide pertinent information, as necessary; 

• The Committee should hold private meetings with both the Internal and External 
Auditors when appropriate; 

• Committee Meeting agendas will be prepared and provided in advance to members, 
along with appropriate briefing materials. 

 
Responsibilities 

The Committee will carry out the following responsibilities: 
 
Annual Financial Report 

• Review significant accounting and reporting issues, including complex or unusual 
transactions and highly judgemental areas, and recent accounting, professional and 
regulatory pronouncements and legislative changes, and understand their effect on 
the financial report; 

• Review with management and the external auditors the results of the audit, 
including any difficulties encountered; 

• Review the annual financial report, and consider whether it is complete, consistent 
with information known to Committee members, and reflects appropriate 
accounting principles; 

• Review with management and the external auditors all matters required to be 
communicated to the Committee under the Australian Auditing Standards; 

• Review financial reports with management and the external auditors and consider 
whether they are complete and consistent with the information known to 
Committee members. 

 
Internal Control 

• Consider the effectiveness of the Library’s internal control system, including 
information technology security and control; 

• Understand the scope of internal and external auditors’ review of internal control 
over financial reporting, and obtain reports on significant findings and 
recommendations, together with management’s responses. 

 
Risk management 

• Review the Library’s risk profile to ensure that material operational risks to the 
Library are dealt with appropriately; 

• Ensure that there is regular review and update of the Library’s risk profile 

• Ensure that the material business risks have been dealt with in a timely manner to 
mitigate exposures to the Library. 

 
Internal audit 

• Review with management the Committee’s Charter, activities, staffing, and 
organisational structure of the internal audit function; 

• Review and recommend to the Board that the annual Audit Plan (including major 
changes) be approved; 



3 
YPRL Audit Committee Charter June-2011 

• In conjunction with the CEO, at least once per year, review the performance of the 
internal audit contractor, including the level of remuneration paid to such 
contractor;  

• Review the effectiveness of the internal audit function, including compliance with 
The Institute of Internal Auditors’ International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing; 

• Ensure that the internal audit’s annual plan is linked with and covers the material 
business risks; 

• Meet with the internal audit contractor separately, to discuss any matters that the 
Committee or internal audit activity believes should be discussed privately if 
required. 

 
External audit 

• Review the external auditor’s proposed audit scope and approach, including 
coordination of audit effort with the internal audit activity; 

• Review the performance of the external auditors; 

• Meet with the external auditors, separately, to discuss any matters that the 
Committee or the external auditors believe should be discussed privately. 

 
Compliance 

• The Chief Executive Officer to provide the Committee with regular reports that 
reflect compliance/non compliance with laws, legislation and policies, including, but 
not limited to, reports on all suspected and actual frauds; thefts and material 
breaches of legislation including compliance with Local Government procurement 
legislation ( and any other applicable procurement legislation) and the Board’s 
procurement policy; 

• Review the effectiveness of the system for monitoring compliance with legislation 
and regulations and the results of management’s investigation and follow-up 
(including disciplinary action) of any instances of non-compliance; 

• Review the findings of any examinations by regulatory agencies, and any auditor 
(internal or external) observations; 

• Ensure that the Member Councils’ operate within an adopted ‘Councillor Code of 
Conduct ‘and that Board Members abide by this Code when undertaking Board 
activities; 

• Review the process for communicating the ‘Employee Code of Conduct ‘to Library 
staff; and for monitoring compliance with this Code, and any other applicable or 
related Code; 

• Ensure that YPRL has procedures for it to receive, retain and treat complaints in 
accordance with the ‘Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001’ and Section 1317AA of 
the ‘Corporations Act 2001.’ 

 
Reporting responsibilities 

• Report regularly to the Board about Committee activities, issues, and related 
recommendations. 

• Provide open communication between internal audit activity, the external auditors, 
and the Board. 

• Review any other reports the Board issues that relate to the Committee’s 
responsibilities. 
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Other responsibilities 

• Review, and monitor compliance with, any policies and procedures that come within 
the scope of the Committee’s authority and its Charter. 

• Consider the findings and recommendations of relevant Performance Audits 
undertaken by the Victorian Auditor-General and ensure that the Library 
implements any relevant recommendations. 

• Perform other activities related to this charter as requested by the Library. 

• Institute and oversee special investigations as needed, in accordance with the 
authority of this Charter, and report these to the Board 

• Review and assess the adequacy of the Committee charter bi-annually, or as 
required, requesting Board approval for proposed changes, and ensure appropriate 
disclosure as might be required by legislation or regulation. 

• Confirm annually that all responsibilities outlined in the Committee’s charter have 
been carried out. 

• Evaluate the Committee’s and individual members’ performance as and when 
appropriate.  
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Agenda Item 3: YPRL Board Code of Conduct Signing 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Jane Cowell, Chief Executive Officer 

Attachment: 3 – YPRL Board Code of Conduct 2022 

 

REPORT 

SUMMARY 

This report is for Board Members action. 

INTRODUCTION 

This report notes the requirement of Board Members to receive a copy of the YPRL Board 

Code of Conduct (as attached) and for Board Members to sign a declaration agreeing to 

abide by the Code. 

REPORT 

The 2022 Board of the YPRL is made up of nominees from each of the member Councils and 

notification of these nominees was received by the YPRL in late 2021.  

As a Regional Library Corporation, Yarra Plenty Regional Library must comply with Section 

76 C of the Local Government Act 1989 as applicable to Regional Library Corporation by 

Section 196 (7)(a) of the LGA.   Section 76 C (6) means that a copy of the Code of Conduct 

must be: 

• Given to each Member of the Board 

• Available for inspection by the public in the Corporation’s office and any district 

offices; and 

• Published on the Corporation’s website 

CONSULTATION 

N/A 

CRITICAL DATES 

The Code of Conduct is required to be signed within the term of the Board Member’s 

appointment. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

POLICY STRATEGY AND LEGISLATION 

Local Government Act 1989  
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LINKS TO STRATEGIC PLAN 

Strategy:  

Organisational strength  

 

Priority:  

• Investment in our staff, capacity, and governance to ensure we are capable and 

ready to adapt, learn and empower our communities in environmentally and 

socially responsible ways. 

DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Under section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to the 

Library must disclose any interests, including type of interest. 

The Responsible Officer reviewing this report, having made enquiries with the relevant 

members of staff, reports that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this 

report. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board Members sign via DocuSign the attached declaration to abide by the 

Yarra Plenty Regional Library Corporation Code of Conduct 

 

 M:  

 S:  

 

 

  



 

1. Section 76C of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) requires each council to adopt a Code of Conduct for 

Councillors. Councils are required to review their Codes within 4  months after each general election of Councillors. 
These provisions also apply to Regional Library Corporations. 

 

Yarra Plenty Regional Library 
Board Code of Conduct1 

 
This Code of Conduct was adopted by resolution of the Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service (YPRL) 
on 17 December 2020 and in accordance with Section 76c of the Local Government Act 1989 (the 
Act). 
 
1.0 Preliminary 
 
YPRL is governed by a Board, comprising six Members who are appointed by member councils in 
accordance with the Act. 
 
The role of the Board is to provide library service policy and planning on behalf of member councils. 
This includes: 
 
a)  consideration of the diverse needs of the local community in decision making; 

b)  providing leadership by establishing strategic objectives and monitoring their achievement; 
and 

c)  maintaining the viability of YPRL by ensuring that resources are managed in a responsible and 
accountable manner 

d) advocate on behalf of YPRL to member Councils, community stakeholders and governments 
for the advancement of library services; 

 
This Code of Conduct for Board Members sets out to strengthen the working relationships between 
Members. It recognises that the establishment of good working relationships between Members 
and with members of YPRL’s staff is the basis for a solid and effective team, to represent the 
member council communities and provide leadership and guidance for the future of YPRL. 
 
The Objectives, Role and Function of the Board are set out in the Library Agreement 2020-2025 
 
2.0 Board Member Conduct 
 
A Board Member must observe the Code of Conduct whenever he or she:  
 
a)  engages in the business of YPRL; 

b)  conducts the business of the office to which he or she has been appointed; or  

c)  acts as a representative of YPRL. 
 
2.1 Conduct Principles 
 
Each Board Member has a responsibility to comply with the Primary Conduct Principles specified 
Sections 76b and 76ba of the Act. 
 
The primary conduct principle requires the Board Member to: 
 
a)  act with integrity; 

b)  impartially exercise his or her responsibilities in the interests of the local community; and 
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c)  not improperly seek to confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person.  
 
The General Principles of conduct principles require Board Members to: 
 
a)  avoid conflicts between his or her public duties as a Board Member and his or her personal 

interests and obligations; 

b)  act honestly and avoid statements (whether oral or in writing) or actions that will or are likely 
to mislead or deceive a person; 

c)  treat all persons with respect and have due regard to the opinions, beliefs, rights and 
responsibilities of other Board Members, YPRL staff and other persons; 

d)  exercise reasonable care and diligence and submit himself or herself to the lawful scrutiny that 
is appropriate to his or her office; 

e)  endeavour to ensure that public resources are used prudently and solely in the public interest; 

f)  act lawfully and in accordance with the trust placed in him or her as an elected representative; 
and 

g)  support and promote these principles by leadership and example and act in a way that secures 
and preserves public confidence in the office of Board Member. 

 
2.2 Particular Conduct - Courtesy and Respect 
 
Board Members will treat all people with courtesy and respect, recognising that there are 
legitimate differences in opinions, race, culture, religion, language, gender and abilities. This 
includes: 
 
a)  Treating all members of the community with dignity and seeking to ensure that neither offence 

nor embarrassment are caused; 

b)  Treating fellow Board Members with respect, even when disagreeing with their views or 
decisions; 

c)  Adopting a professional approach at meetings, being punctual, prepared and attentive; and 

d)  Acting with courtesy towards YPRL staff and avoiding intimidatory behaviour. 
 
2.3 Particular Conduct - Integrity and Honesty 
 
Board Members will always act with integrity and honesty and demonstrate high standards of 
professionalism by: 
 
a)  Acting with integrity in all dealings with the community, with other Board Members and with 

YPRL staff; 

b)  Always acting with impartiality and in the best interests of the community; 

c)  Not acting in ways that may bring YPRL into disrespect or limit its ability to exercise good 
governance; 

d)  Exercising reasonable care and diligence in performing their duties as Board Members; and 

e)  Complying with all relevant laws, be they Federal, State or Local Laws. 
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2.4 Particular Conduct - Position of Trust 
 
Board Members recognise that they hold a position of trust and will not misuse or derive undue 
benefit from their positions.  Accordingly: 
 
a)  Board Members will avoid conflicts of interest and comply with the relevant provisions of the 

Act and this Code of Conduct relating to conflicts of interest; 

b)  Board Members will not exercise undue influence on other Board Members, YPRL staff or 
members of the public, library users, contractors or suppliers to gain or attempt to gain an 
unfair advantage for themselves; 

c)  Board Members will not accept gifts in their roles as Board Members except; 
 

▪ Where the gift would generally be regarded as only having a token value, 

▪ Where refusal of the gift may cause offence or embarrassment, in which case the gift 
may be accepted on behalf of YPRL and becomes the property of YPRL. 

 
YPRL, as part of its public transparency, will maintain a register of gifts received over the value of 
$50.00 and the Chief Executive Officer should be advised of all such gifts so they can be recorded in 
the register. 
 
2.5 Particular Conduct - Public Resources 
 
Board Members will exercise appropriate prudence in the use of public resources. This includes: 
 
a)  Maintaining appropriate separation between their personal property and public property in 

the care of YPRL; 

b)  Not using public resources, including staff and equipment for personal purposes; and 

c)  Ensuring that claims for out of pocket expenses are accurate and relate strictly to YPRL 
business. 

 
2.6 Particular Conduct - YPRL Information 
 
Board Members will treat YPRL information appropriately, by: 
 
a)  Not using information gained by virtue of being a Board Member for any purpose other than to 

exercise their role as a Board Member; 

b)  Respecting YPRL’s policies in relation to public comments and communications with the media; 

c)  Not releasing confidential information within the meaning of section 77 of the Act; and 

d)  Recognising the requirements of the Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 (Vic) regarding 
access to and the use of personal information. 

 
2.6.1 Particular Conduct - Confidential Information 
 
Information is confidential under section 77 of the Act if: 
 
a) the information was provided to the Board in relation to a matter considered in a meeting 

closed to members of the public, in accordance with section 89(2) the Act, and the Board has 
not passed a resolution that the information is not confidential; or 
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b) the information has been designated as confidential information by a resolution of the Board 
which specifies the relevant grounds applying under section 89(2) of the Act and the Board has 
not passed a resolution that the information is not confidential. 

c)  the information has been designated in writing as confidential information by the Chief 
Executive Officer specifying the ground or grounds applying and the Board has not passed a 
resolution that the information is not confidential. 

 
2.6.2  Conflict of Interest Procedures 
 
YPRL is committed to making all decisions impartially and in the best interests of the whole 
community. Board Members recognise the importance of fully observing the requirements of The 
Act in regard to the disclosure of conflicts of interest and will comply with requirements of The Act 
in regard to conflicts of interest.   
 
Board members are to notify, as soon as possible, the Board Chair, if they are unable to vote on a 
matter because of a conflict of interest. 
 
2.7  Relations with YPRL Staff 
 
In interactions with Corporation staff there must have mutual respect and understanding between 
Board Members and Corporation staff in relation to their respective roles functions and 
responsibilities.  To that end: 

• The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for appointing, directing or terminating YPRL 
staff. Board Members must respect this accountability to the Chief Executive Officer.  

• Where they have concerns that a member of YPRL’s staff has acted contrary to a formal 
YPRL policy or decision they will advise the Chief Executive Officer of their concerns. Board 
Members are not in a position to instruct, direct or admonish staff on any matters 
pertaining to the performance of their duties.  
 

• Similarly Board Members must respect that reports are written by staff based on their 
professional knowledge and skills and while one may not always agree with the report, 
Board Members cannot direct or influence the staff member to change the report. 
 

• Board Members will direct all communication or enquiries regarding the Corporation to the 
CEO in the first instance 

 
2.8 Other Matters 
 
Board Members who are aware of, or have good reasons to suspect fraud, corrupt, criminal or 
unethical conduct (by a Board Member, Officer or Library user) will report it immediately to the 
Chairperson or Chief Executive Officer. 
 
YPRL is committed to the aims and objectives of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012. It does not 
tolerate improper conduct by its Board Members or staff; nor the taking of reprisals against those 
who come forward to disclose such conduct. 
 
3.0 Dispute Resolution 
 
While Board Members recognise that debate can be lively within the context of a Board or other 
meetings every effort will be made to ensure that the Code of Conduct, particularly as it relates to 
the manner in which Board Members deal with each other, is followed. 
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It is recognised that at times there may be disputes or grievances between Board Members. 
Sometimes these disputes give rise to the need for further resolution outside the arena of the 
Board Room.  In that event the following procedure will be followed. 
 
Before commencing any formal dispute resolution process, the Board Members who are parties to a 
dispute are expected to use their best endeavours to resolve the matter in a courteous and 
respectful manner between themselves. Where, after these endeavours have been exhausted, the 
matter still remains unresolved, the parties may resort to any or all of YPRL’s three phase dispute 
resolution process. 
 
YPRL’s three phase dispute resolution process involves: 
 

1. direct negotiation between the parties in dispute, with the Chairperson in attendance to 
provide guidance; 

2. external mediation by an independent mediator engaged by the Chief Executive Officer; and 

3. hearing before an independent arbiter. 
 

Phase 1 - Direct Negotiation 
 
Where Board Members who are in dispute have not been able to resolve the dispute between them, 
either (or both) party (parties) may request the Chairperson to convene a meeting of the parties.  
 
A dispute referred for direct negotiation may relate to: 
 

1. an interpersonal conflict between Board Members where the conflict is or is likely to affect 
the operations of YPRL; or 

2. an alleged contravention of this Code of Conduct. 
 
The party requesting the direct negotiation meeting is to provide the Chairperson with the name of 
the other Board Member and the details of the dispute in writing. The written request is to indicate 
that it is for a ‘direct negotiation’ dispute resolution process. Where the request relates to an alleged 
contravention of this Code of Conduct, the request must: 
 

1. specify the name of the Board Member alleged to have contravened the Code; 

2. specify the provision(s) of the Code that is alleged to have been contravened; 

3. include evidence in support of the allegation; 

4. name the Board Member appointed to be their representative where the request is made by 
a group of Board Members; and 

5. be signed and dated by the requester or the requester's representative. 
 
The requestor is to notify the other party of the request and provide him or her with a copy of the 
written request either at the same time as it is provided to the Chairperson or as soon as practicable 
thereafter. 
 
The Chairperson is to ascertain whether or not the other party is prepared to attend a ‘direct 
negotiation’ meeting. 
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If the other party is not prepared to attend a meeting, the Chairperson is to advise the requestor 
forthwith. No further action is required of the Chairperson. 
 
If the other party declines to participate in a meeting, this does not constitute a contravention of this 
Code of Conduct.  
 
If the other party consents to a meeting, the Chairperson is to convene a meeting of the parties at 
the earliest available opportunity. Unless one or both parties are unavailable, this should be within 5 
working days of receiving the consent of the other party. 
 
The Chairperson may present the parties with guidelines, in advance of the meeting or at the 
meeting, to help facilitate the meeting. 
 
The role of the Chairperson at the meeting is to provide guidance to Board Members about what is 
expected of a Board Member including in relation to the role of a Board Member and the observation 
of the Councillor Conduct Principles (as applicable to Board Members in their capacities as Board 
Members) and this Code of Conduct. 
 
The Chairperson is to document any agreement reached at the meeting. Copies of the agreement are 
to be provided to both parties. Where one party does not comply with the agreement, the other 
party has recourse to external mediation or the internal resolution procedure where the matter 
relates to an alleged contravention of this Code of Conduct. 
 
If the parties cannot resolve the dispute at the meeting, a further meeting may be convened with the 
consent of both parties. Where the dispute remains unresolved, either or both of the parties have 
recourse to external mediation or the internal resolution procedure where the matter relates to an 
alleged contravention of this Code of Conduct. 
 
Where the Chairperson is a party to the dispute, the request is to be made to the Deputy Chairperson 
(if any) or the immediate past Chairperson. The Deputy Chairperson or the immediate past 
Chairperson will perform the functions ascribed to the Chairperson. 
 
Phase 2 - External Mediation 
 
A Board Member or a group of Board Members may make an application for a dispute to be referred 
for external mediation whether or not the dispute has been the subject of an application for ‘direct 
negotiation’. 
 
An application made for a dispute to be referred for external mediation may relate to: 
 

1. an interpersonal conflict between Board Members where the conflict is or is likely to affect 
the operations of YPRL; or  

2. an alleged contravention of this Code of Conduct. 
 
The applicant is to submit a written application to the Chief Executive Officer setting out the name of 
the Board Member and the details of the dispute. The application is to indicate that the application is 
for an ‘external mediation’. Where the application relates to an alleged contravention of this Code of 
Conduct, the application must: 
 

1. specify the name of the Board Member alleged to have contravened the Code; 

2. specify the provision(s) of the Code that is alleged to have been contravened; 
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3. include evidence in support of the allegation; 

4. name the Board Member appointed to be their representative where the application is made 
by a group of Board Members; and 

5. be signed and dated by the applicant or the applicant's representative. 
 
The applicant is to notify the other party of the request and provide him or her with a copy of the 
application either at the same time that it is submitted to the Chief Executive Officer or as soon as 
practical thereafter. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer is to ascertain (in writing) whether or not the other party is prepared to 
attend an external mediation. If the other party declines to participate in an external mediation, he 
or she is to provide their reasons for doing so in writing to the Chief Executive Officer. 
 
When the other party declines to participate in an external mediation, this does not constitute a 
contravention of this Code of Conduct. 
 
If the other party agrees to participate in an external mediation, the Chief Executive Officer is to 
advise the applicant and the Chairperson forthwith.  
 
The Chief Executive Officer is to engage the services of an external mediator to conduct the 
mediation at the earliest practicable opportunity. 
 
The mediator is to document any agreement reached at the meeting. Copies of the agreement are to 
be provided to both parties. Where one party does not comply with the agreement, the other party 
has recourse to the internal resolution procedure where the matter relates to an alleged 
contravention of this Code of Conduct. 
 
If the parties cannot resolve the dispute at the meeting, a further meeting may be convened with the 
consent of both parties. Where the dispute remains unresolved, the applicant still has recourse to 
the following internal resolution procedure where the matter relates to an alleged contravention of 
this Code of Conduct. 
 
Phase 3 – Procedure Involving Arbiter 
 
A Board Member or a group of Board Members may make an application alleging that a Board 
Member has contravened this Code of Conduct. The application must: 
 

1. specify the name of the Board Member alleged to have contravened the Code; 

2. specify the provision(s) of the Code that is alleged to have been contravened; 

3. include evidence in support of the allegation; 

4. name the Board Member appointed to be their representative where the application is made 
by a group of Board Members; and 

5. be signed and dated by the applicant or the applicant's representative. 
 
The application must be submitted to the Chief Executive Officer. 
 
An applicant may withdraw an application for an internal resolution procedure.  Once an application 
has been withdrawn, the same or a similar application relating to the same instance in relation to the 
respondent Board Member cannot be resubmitted by the applicant.  
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On receiving an application, the Chief Executive Officer will: 
 

a) advise the Chairperson of the application without undue delay; 

b) provide a copy of the application to the Board Member who is the subject of the allegation at 
the earliest practical opportunity but not later than two working days from receipt of the 
application; 

c) identify an arbiter to hear the application; 

d) obtain from the arbiter written advice that they have no conflict of interest in relation to the 
Board Members involved; 

e) notify the parties of the name of the proposed arbiter and provide them with the opportunity 
(2 working days) to object to the person proposed to be the arbiter; 

f) consider the grounds of any objection and appoint the proposed arbiter or identify another 
arbiter; 

g) provide a copy of the application to the arbiter as soon as practicable after the opportunity 
for the parties to object to an arbiter has expired; 

h) after consultation with the arbiter, advise the applicant and the respondent of the time and 
place for the hearing; and 

i) attend the hearing(s) and assist the arbiter in the administration of the process. 
 
In identifying an arbiter to hear the application, the Chief Executive Officer must select an arbiter 
who is suitably independent and able to carry out the role of arbiter fairly. 
 
The role of the arbiter is to: 
 

i) consider applications alleging a contravention of this Code of Conduct by a Board Member; 

ii) make findings in relation to any application alleging a contravention of this Code of Conduct 
which the arbiter must give to YPRL;  

iii) give a written statement of reasons supporting the findings to the parties at the same time as 
it gives its findings to YPRL; and 

iv) recommend an appropriate sanction or sanctions where the arbiter has found that a Board 
Member has contravened this Code of Conduct. 

 
In considering an application alleging a contravention of this Code of Conduct, an arbiter will: 
 

1. in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, fix a time and place to hear the application; 

2. authorise the Chief Executive Officer to formally notify the applicant and the respondent of 
the time and place of the hearing; 

3. hold as many meetings as he or she considers necessary to properly consider the application. 
The arbiter may hold a directions hearing; 

4. have discretion to conduct the hearings as he or she deems fit while ensuring that the 
hearings are conducted with as little formality and technicality as due and proper 
consideration of the application allows; 

5. ensure that the parties to and affected by an application are given an opportunity to be heard 
by the arbiter; 
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6. consider an application by a respondent to have legal representation at the hearing to ensure 
that the hearing is conducted fairly and may, in his or her absolute discretion, grant the 
application or deny the application; 

7. ensure that the rules of natural justice are observed and applied in the hearing of the 
application; and 

8. ensure that the hearings are closed to the public. 
 
Where an application to have legal representation is granted by an arbiter, the costs of the 
respondent's legal representation are to be borne by the respondent in their entirety.  
 
An arbiter: 
 

a) may find that a Board Member who is a respondent to an internal resolution procedure 
application has not contravened the Code; or 

b) may find that a Board Member who is a respondent to an internal resolution procedure has 
contravened the Code; and 

c) will suspend consideration of an internal resolution procedure during the election period for 
a general election. 

 
The arbiter is to give a copy of his or her findings and the statement of reasons to YPRL, the applicant 
and the respondent. At the same time, the arbiter provides the findings and statement of reasons, he 
or she will, where a Board Member has been found to have contravened the Code, recommend an 
appropriate sanction or sanctions for the contravention for consideration by YPRL. 
 
A copy of the arbiter's findings, statement of reasons and any recommended sanctions is to be 
submitted to the next meeting of the Board for its consideration. If an arbiter has found that a 
contravention of the Code has occurred, the Board may, after considering the arbiter's findings, 
statement of reasons and recommendation on sanctions, give any or all of the following written 
directions to the Board Member: 
 

1. direct the Board Member to make an apology in a form or manner specified by the Board; 
and/or 

2. reprimand the Board Member. 
 
An application cannot be made for this phase of the internal resolution procedure during the Council 
election period for a general election. Any internal resolution procedure that is in progress is to be 
suspended during the election period for a general election. 
 
If the respondent to an application for an internal resolution procedure is not returned to office as a 
Councillor or is returned but is not nominated or appointed as a Board Member following the 
election, the application lapses. If the respondent is returned to office in the election and is again 
nominated or appointed as a Board Member, the application may resume if: 
 

1. the application was made by the Board and the Board so resolves; or 

2. the application was made by a group of Board Members and any one (or more) of those 
Board Members who has been returned to office and has once more become a Board 
Member wishes to proceed with the application; or 
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3. the applicant (individual Board Member) is returned to office and has again been nominated 
or appointed to the Board, and wishes to proceed with the application. 
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Declaration by Board Member 
 
I declare that I will abide by this Code of Conduct: 
 

Board Member’s 
Name 

Board Member’s Signature 
Date of 
Declaration 

Chief Executive Officer 
Signature as Witness to 
Declaration 

Date on which 
Chief Executive 
Officer 
witnessed: 

Cr. Alison 
Champion 

Banyule City 
Council 

    

Cr. Elizabeth 
Nealy 

Banyule City 
Council 

    

Kath Brackett 

Banyule City 
Council 

    

Cr. Karen Egan 

Nillumbik Shire 
Council 

    

Cr. Frances Eyre 

Nillumbik Shire 
Council 

    

Corrienne Nichols 

Nillumbik Shire 
Council 

    

Administrator 
Lydia Wilson 

City of Whittlesea 

    

Kate McCaughey 

City of Whittlesea 

    

 

City of Whittlesea 
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Agenda Item 4: Watsonia Branch Manager Presentation 

 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Barb Armstrong, Branch Manager Watsonia Library 

 

   

REPORT 

A verbal presentation to be delivered by Branch Manager Watsonia Library, Barb 

Armstrong. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to RECEIVE AND NOTE the presentation 

 M:  

 S:  
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Agenda Item 5: CEO Report 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Jane Cowell, CEO 

 

Attachment: 5a – External Meetings attended by CEO December 2021 – 
February 2022 

5b – 2021_2022_Q2_Dashboard 

 

REPORT 

Board and Governance 

New Business Model: YPRL have appointed HLB Mann Judd and Sharrock Pitman Legal to 

provide recommendations and key steps to enable YPRL to transition to a beneficial 

enterprise under Section 110 of Local Government Act 2020 and the steps required to wind 

up the existing Regional Library Corporation.  Initial meeting has been held. 

Business Continuity: The pandemic continues to impact the library service.  Due to staff 

shortages three branches were required to transition to Click and Collect service with 

reduced hours over January and early February.  The requirement to staff entrances with 

COVID Check-in Marshalls adds to the complexity and staffing levels at every branch.  YPRL 

continues to advocate to Local Government Victoria for this requirement to be reduced and 

have the Covid Check-in Marshalls stationed at existing staff desks which will alleviate 

pressure on staffing levels. 

Knowledge and Learning 

Donnybrook Hub: The Donnybrook Hub at the Olivine Estate in Donnybrook opened in late 

November 2021. It operates as a Click & Collect service with a small, curated browsing 

collection.  Usage is expected to increase as residents become aware of the service and 

COVID restrictions ease. 

Book Express at ILCH: A new Book Express collection has been created at the Ivanhoe 

Library and Cultural Hub. Book Express contains the top 10 adult fiction, adult non-fiction 

and teen fiction titles. The collection is a high turnover one and is designed to attract foot 

traffic and visitors to ILCH. The Book Express collection will also contain items that will 

appeal to other visitors to the centre including gallery and Maternal and Child Health 

visitors.  YPRL now provides five sites with this high turnover collection, Diamond Valley, 

Mill Park, Eltham and Watsonia. 

Big Summer Read: Across Victoria (and including libraries from the ACT and Adelaide), 64 

public libraries, including YPRL, collaborated to develop the Big Summer Read. Aimed at 

reducing the ‘summer slide’ of literacy skills, the Big Summer Read is a fun way for primary 

school-aged children and their families to enjoy reading across the summer. This ran from 

December 1 2021 until January 31 2022. Families logged their reading records through 

Beanstack, an interactive app and website portal which helps track number of minutes 



YARRA PLENTY REGIONAL LIBRARY SERVICE  MEETING OF THURSDAY 24 FEBRUARY 2022 

  
SECTION E PRESENTATION OF GENERAL REPORTS  Page 15 of 48 

 

reading and books read. YPRL participated with Family Fun Bundles available for collection 

across all branches and rolled out an activity aimed at building children’s empathy skills 

through the ‘Leaves of Kindness’ project. This activity was inspired by author R.J Palacio’s 

(Wonder) ‘Jars of Kindness’ project and the leaves were pinned on cardboard trees in our 

libraries. During the Big Summer Read over 200 children engaged with YPRL’s program and 

read over 3000 books, placing us in the top 15 libraries of the program. Across the state 

over 7000 children participated with close to 100,000 books read. 

Local and Family History: The Heidelberg Historical Society installed a photographic display 

at Ivanhoe Library & Cultural Hub "Taking the train to Heidelberg c1900s", in December. 

The display features photos taken enroute before electrification of the Heidelberg Railway 

line in 1921. 

Digital assets related to the City of Whittlesea have been added to the online local history 

collection as well as to YPRL’s Pandemic Time Capsule Collection. The Time Capsule 

Collection aims to develop a sense of connection and shared experiences during COVID. 

Photos captured also include YPRL and Councils’ response to COVID such as click and send, 

and vaccination education programs as they have been rolled out. 

Connection 

Diamond Valley Library Official Opening: held on Tuesday 15 February 2022 with Vicki Ward 

MP officially opening the library on behalf of the Minister for Local Government  Shaun 

Leane.  Mayor, Councillor Frances Eyre welcomed all in attendance to the library opening 

and we thank YPRL Board members, Councillor Liz Healy and Councillor Alison Champion 

and Councillor Karen Egan for their attendance. 
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16 Days of Activism: YPRL recognised the 16 Days of Activism by delivering a series of 
events in partnership with our member councils and other organisations including: 

• online information presentations and discussions in partnership with Women’s Health 
in the North (WHIN) 

• a group art project to explore the idea of ‘safe communities’. Submissions were 
displayed in the libraries around the region to further raise awareness and to pose the 
question ‘what makes a safe community?’.  

• Delivered outdoor storytimes throughout the 16 days with storytime themes of 
gender equality and disability rights. 

• Branch staff created book displays and produced gender equality themed book lists 
and blog articles: 
16 Days of Activism  

YPRL Blog Search 16 Days of Activism 

 

Homegrown Summer: The aim of Homegrown Summer was to activate the library spaces 

and attract people back after the COVID lockdowns of 2021. A vibrant program during 

January focussed on fresh local food, fun outdoor activities and local live music. Some of 

the highlights include a Library Unlocked afternoon at Diamond Valley library, with live 

music and pizza on the new decking. Other activities included tie dying workshops, a family 

garden day at Lalor library, in partnership with Bunnings, an Indigenous walk in the Rosanna 

Parklands, led by Aboriginal Elder Uncle Trevor Gallagher and a lantern making session at 

Eltham Library.  

There were strong partnerships with all three Councils with Nillumbik council providing 

entertainers and activities for the Libraries Unlocked session, Banyule City Council providing 

Mushroom Kits for distribution in branches and City of Whittlesea providing entertainers 

for a library event at Whittlesea. A curated library collection was also prepared, with over 

55 items available on the catalogue under the theme "Homegrown Summer" throughout 

the month of January. Unfortunately, several events were cancelled due to facilitators, staff 

and entertainers isolating with Covid-19. 

Storytimes: Face to face storytimes returned to YPRL in December and January and staff 

have worked hard to offer COVID safe early literacy programming to our families. During 

the month of January, due to two branches transitioning to click and collect and staff 

shortages across the region, storytimes delivery has been focussed in our three destination 

branches – Mill Park, Ivanhoe Library and Cultural Hub and Eltham. Concentrating 

storytimes to these 3 locations has meant staff from around the region have been able to 

deliver daily storytimes every day to our communities with no risk of cancellations. And due 

to the Australian Library and Information Association’s (ALIA) agreement with publishers 

regarding copyright, we have continued with digital storytimes which support families who 

are unable to return to face to face storytimes due to the risk of Covid-19. As staffing 

stabilises across the region, we will return to offering face to face storytimes in all branches 

  

https://www.yprl.vic.gov.au/blogs/16-days-of-activism/
https://www.yprl.vic.gov.au/search/?t=16%20days
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Media Mentions: 

Publication Number of Mentions 

Neos Kosmos 3 

North Central Review 2 

Nillumbik News 1 

Your Child - Whittlesea 4 

Your Child – Banyule/Nillumbik 4 

Mirage News 3 

Star Weekly 1 

Banyule City Council 1 

Whittlesea Local Scoop 1 

Yarra Plenty FM 1 

ABC Radio 1 

 

Wellbeing 

Talking together grant application: YPRL, in partnership with Banyule City Council Youth, 
and Arts teams, Happy Brain Education, Banyule Community Health and their Youth 
Foundation and Himilo Community Connections have applied for a State Library Victoria / 
Public Libraries Victoria Libraries for Health and Wellbeing grant. This grant application 
focusses on supporting and resourcing the young Somali Australian community in West 
Heidelberg, particularly young women, young mothers, creatives, entrepreneurs, and 
university students needing to build networks for employment.  If successful, YPRL will be 
the lead agency building shared understanding with the community through the Talking 
Together program, which focuses on social connection and celebration of culture. YPRL will 
engage an (identified) Somali project officer to co-design a series of events with this 
community, seeking to address and support mental health. This includes delivering a suite 
of social opportunities, a wellbeing event, speakers, business networking, study support, 
producing and exhibiting creative work, or whatever the community identifies. The project 
will culminate with a cultural festival and celebration at Ivanhoe Library and Cultural Hub. 
The total funding request is $78,000 with YPRL and partners contributing a similar amount 
of in-kind support. 
 
Cards of Kindness: Community members were invited to write a note in a Christmas card to 
in-patients of the mental health wards of Austin and Northern Hospitals. Volunteers or staff 
delivered the cards to the hospital for distribution to patients. People in mental health 
wards often suffer social isolation and this program supported community connection for 
both the patients and the people who send cards. The Banyule Council’s Arts and Culture 
team supported this program by engaging a local artist to create the Christmas cards. 192 
cards were delivered to the Austin and Northern Hospitals. 
 
Words to the Wise: Young people were invited to write to residents in aged care facilities. 
Over 70 letters, were delivered to five aged care facilities. The aged care facilities stated 
that the pandemic severely disrupted their residents’ links to their local communities, and 
they are keen to re-build these links. The program continued throughout the school 
holidays and received positive responses, with some writers and recipients wanting to 
develop the activity into ongoing correspondence. 
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Organisational Strength 

Interim Audit: As part of the audit strategy, RSD Audit will perform the preliminary audit 

works in March 2022. The interim audit works are conducted to get better understanding of 

our business and related risks, review the nature of the accounting records, and compress 

the time needed to finalise the year-end audit. 

First Nations Cultural Competency program: 

YPRL has commenced a First Nations Cultural Competency learning and development 

program, with eighteen (18) staff attending the first training session in December 2021. 

Further sessions will be run during 2022 as we continue to develop stronger understanding 

and competency to deliver programs and support for our First Nations people.   

 

Grants program: Over the last quarter YPRL has applied for several grants with varying 

success: 

• Vaccine Ambassadors Community Engagement Grant (successful) – administered by 

Public Libraries Victoria. Partnering with Women’s Health in the North (WHIN) for 

engagement sessions focussed on booster shots – $3500) 

• Online Storytime grant (successful) – administered by Australian Library and 

Information Association. Facilitating diverse storytimes across the region with guest 

presenters - $1800 

• Readings Foundation Grant – (unsuccessful) – partnered with Djirri Djirri to engage 

young First Nations people with EYs literacy competencies and train them to deliver 

library storytimes. It also included First Nations youth as train the trainers, 

supporting Indigenous EYs practises in the library setting $15900 (this included 

paying a salary to the trainees) 

• Multicultural Communications Outreach Program (unsuccessful)- Working with CALD 

youth in Lalor area to create videos about the benefits of getting vaccinated. The 

aim was to have young people develop video creation, design and editing skills while 

encouraging their peers and elders to get vaccinated $1740 

 

Several grant opportunities have been unavailable to us due to our company status of 

Regional Library Corporation. Many suitable grants are only available to companies with 

NFP and charities status. While this will probably no longer impact us when our business 

model changes, our strategy at this stage is to focus on partnership opportunities with 

organisations which are keen to apply for grants but have limited resources to administer 

and acquit grants. This mutually beneficial partnership means that YPRL provides the 

resources needed to administer the funds and project management on behalf of both 

organisations while our partner auspices the grant. 

Consultative Committee:  

YPRL’s Consultative Committee is suspended during periods of enterprise bargaining. Now 

that our new Agreement is in place, the Consultative Committee has been reactivated. The 

committee comprises three employee representatives elected by employee union 

members, and three management representatives. The Committee attended a training and 

handover session with the Interest Based Bargaining Team in December 2021 and held their 

first official meeting on 22 February 2022.  
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The purpose of the Committee is to provide a mechanism by which all Employees may 

participate in the implementation of the Agreement and in changes to work practices 

brought about by the Agreement. The Committee can also provide recommendations to 

YPRL with respect to significant changes to existing YPRL policies, new policies and 

initiatives, and major changes to work practices. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to RECEIVE and NOTE the CEO Report 

 M:  

 S:  
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CEO External Meetings December 2021 to February 2022  

Date Meeting/Event Topic 

10 December 
Online 

Libraries and Sustainability Seminar Libraries by design 

13 December 
In person 

Ruth Robles McColl, Banyule City Council YPRL, Banyule Toy Library and Maternal Child Health Officers met to 
discuss the proposed collocation of services in the new Rosanna Library.   

14 December 
Online 

Reachout - Telstra Foundation national 
webinar showcasing community 
engagement and technology innovations. 

National Technology and Wellbeing roundtable #4 

14 December 
Online 

Ian Phillips, Consultant 
Sajeeva Tennekoon, YPRL 

Mobile Library and Outreach Services Review – findings to date. 

18 January 2022 
Online 

Margaret Devlin, Consultant  
Centre for Organisation Development 

CEO Performance Review discussion 

19 January 2022 
Online 

Corrienne Nichols,  
Executive Manager Community Services 
Nillumbik Shire Council 

Regular Partner Meeting 

19 January 2022 
Online 

Steven Blight – Nillumbik Shire Council 

Construction Coordinator, Capital Works 

Nillumbik Shire Council 

Preliminary Planning Meeting for Diamond Valley Library Official Launch 
Tentative dates 15 February and 18 February – awaiting confirmation 
from the Minister. 

20 January 2022 
Online 

Shivam Goel – RSD Audit 
Luciano Lauronce – YPRL 

Interim Audit Planning meeting 

27 January 2022 
Online 

Lydia Wilson – City of Whittlesea 
Karen Egan – Nillumbik Shire Council 
Alison Champion – Banyule City Council 
Margaret Devlin, Consultant  
Centre for Organisation Development 

YPRL CEO Employment Matters Sub Committee 6 Monthly review 

27 January 2022 
Online 

Deb Wilson, On Talent CEO Coaching 
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Date Meeting/Event Topic 

31 January 2022 
Online 

Juliette Viney– Terrafirma 
YPRL Executive Leadership team 

Initial meeting with consultant for Business Continuity Planning Project 

2 February 2022 
Online 

State Library of Victoria Proposed Library Census information session 

2 February 2022 
Online 

State Library of Victoria Libraries for health and wellbeing workgroup meeting 

3 February 2022 
Online 

David Ravida – HLB Mann Judd 
Jeff Long – HLB Mann Judd 
Mitchell Zadow – Sharrock Pitman Lawyers 
Kate Karrasch - YPRL 

Initial meeting to discuss YPRL Business Model Review and transition 

7 February 2022 
Online  

Kate McCaughey, Director Community 
Wellbeing City of Whittlesea 

Regular partner meeting 

7 February 2022 
Online 

Aqilah Abdeen Spark Strategy Consultant 
for City of Greater Dandenong 

City of Greater Dandenong Library service is developing a new Library strategy. 
Meeting to test the first draft with industry professionals. 

8 February 
22 February 
Online 

Banyule City Council Officers 
Ruth Robles McColl – Project Manager 
President Banyule Toy Library 
Nick Hillster  

New Rosanna Library Building Project Working Party 

8 February  Whittlesea Youth Commitment Strategic 
Advisory Working Group  

Supports for neurodiverse young people – recruitment working group meeting #1 

8 February  
In person 

Lydia Wilson 
Cr Karen Egan 
Cr Frances Eyre 

Board Induction meeting. 

9 February 
Online 

Kath Brackett 
Director Community Programs 
Banyule City Council 

Regular Partner meeting 

10 February 
Online 

Banyule City Council West Heidelberg Key Partners Collaboration Meeting 

11 February 
Online 

Banyule City Council Inclusive Banyule Advisory Committee 
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Date Meeting/Event Topic 

15 February 
2022 
Online 

Lydia Wilson, Administrator City of 
Whittlesea 

Finalise YPRL Board Agenda for December meeting 

15 February 
2022 
In person 

State Library of Victoria Public Library 
Advisory Committee  

Meeting held at Ivanhoe Library and Cultural Hub. 

15 February 
2022 
In person 

Nillumbik Shire Council Councillors and 
Officers 
Local MPs 
Community members 

Official opening of Diamond Valley Library 

16 February 
2022 
Online 

Ann Bernadette Lim – Bibliotheca CEO keynote Dry run webinar for to be held on Feb 24th  
Remaining Relevant in the New Normal: Bringing the Community back to the library 

17 February 
2022 
In person 

Karen Taylor – Banyule City Council 
Catherine Ramsay Architect 

Redesign proposal for the ILCH front foyer 

24 February 
2022 

 CEO keynote- International Webinar 
Remaining Relevant in the New Normal: Bringing the Community back to the library 
 

 



Total Members: 111,563
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Total number of Digital Events: 136
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Branch Visits: 124,713 (47% increase) Catalogue Hits: 84,702
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Website Hits: 136,075 (57% increase)
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Staff EFT remains within budget.

Rosanna Library Redevelopment

Records Management 

Business Continuity Planning

LSS Refurbishment

KPI:

Under 4% Budget: How are we tracking?

Volunteer Total: 226 (previously 185)

2020 2021

2,203 606.25

12.96 3.74

FINANCES

Cloud Based Systems

Training Hours Delivered

Average Training Hours per Employee

PROJECTS

OUR PEOPLE & FINANCE 
Staff Total: 162

Full Time:  40

Part Time:  105

Casual: 17

EFT Budget: 98.51 EFT Actual: 97.34

Turnover: 4.94% (previously 2.94%)

Absenteeism: 4.33% (previously 3.54%)
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(58% decrease)

(5.78% increase)

1. All KPIs continue to be impacted negatively due to the COVID pandemic

2. COVID requirements have impacted on absenteeism levels

3. Volunteer numbers increased following recruitment for specific library roles

4. Physical collection items impacted due to suppliers unable to source materials

LOANS

OUR ASSETS 
COLLECTION

2021/2022 Q2: 1 Oct–31 Dec  

Total Physical and Digital Collection: 419,227

Total Digital Items: 65,295

Total Physical Items: 353,932

New Physical Collection Items: 22,922

New Collection Items (Physical and Digital): 25,499 

Total Physical Loans: 282,384

Total Digital Loans: 75,303
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Agenda Item 6: Proposed Budget 2022/2023 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Luciano Lauronce, Finance and Administration Manager 

 

Attachments: 6 – YPRL Budget Document 2022-2023 

REPORT 

SUMMARY 

This Report is for the Board’s decision. 

INTRODUCTION 

The Board is required to approve the Regional Library Service Budget on an annual basis in 

accordance with Section 129 of the Local Government Act 1989. 

Executive Summary 

• The proposed 2022/2023 Budget is underpinned by prudent fiscal management 

principles and existing service levels in all current Library Branches.  It has also been 

based on the Priority Action Plan 2022/2023 and Regional Library Agreement. 

• The overall library operating expenditure for 2022/2023 is budgeted at $17.04 

million, up $408k (2.45%) from the 2021/2022 budget. This increment is primarily 

driven by the estimated impact of inflation, the quantum increases in employee 

costs as per Enterprise Agreement, the change in the superannuation percentage, 

and the reallocation of capital funds to e-content in preference to physical 

collection expenditure. 

• Capital expenditure for 2022/2023 totals $1.74 million. Collection budget provides 

$1.65M to be spent on the procurement of physical collection items. The proposed 

collection budget reflects a reduction of $160k from 2021/2022 budget with the 

relocation of resources to e-content expenditure (part of operating cost). Plant & 

equipment budget of $89k will be primarily allocated to hardware and furniture 

upgrades. 

• Income is primarily based on Council Contributions and State Government Grants. 

The total Member Council Contributions is budgeted at $13.76 million, an 

increment of $270K (2.00%) from the 2021/2022 budget. State Government 

Operating Grants is also expected to increase by $105k to $2.67 million. 

• The total income for budget 2022/2023 will cover the operating and capital 

expenditures with an allocation of $50k to build the asset replacement reserve. 
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Background 

The proposed 2022/2023 Budget has been prepared to maintain the quality services that 

the Regional Library provides to the communities of the three Member Councils. A full 

analysis has been undertaken of all expenditure and income to ensure that the budget is set 

at a realistic and achievable level.  

REPORT 

Budget principles 

The 2022/2023 budget has been prepared according to the following principles: 

Income 

Income is based on Council Contributions, Grants (primarily State Government Grants), 

Library Fees, Investment Income and Other Revenues. 

 

2021-2022 
Budget 

$ 

Proposed 
2022-2023 

Budget 

$ 

Change 

% 

Change 

$ 

Council Contributions 13,488,419 13,758,187 2.00% 269,768 

State Government 2,564,988 2,670,355 4.11% 105,367 

Grants 193,869 197,784 2.02% 3,915 

Other Contributions 13,400 28,573 113.23% 15,173 

Library Fees 120,500 111,319 (7.62%) (9,181) 

Interest 10,000 3,200 (68.00%) (6,800) 

Other Income 216,424 269,854 24.69% 53,430 

Total Income 16,607,600 17,039,272 2.60% 431,672 

 

Council Contributions  

The Member Council contributions are based on the cost apportionment model detailed in 

the YPRL Library Agreement (November 2015). The overall increase from the 2022/2023 

budget is $270K (or 2.00%). 
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2021-2022 
Budget 

$ 

Proposed 

2022-2023 

Budget 

$ 

Change 

% 

Change 

$ 

Banyule 5,376,491 5,550,711 3.24% 174,220 

Nillumbik 2,999,166 3,022,440 0.78% 23,274 

Whittlesea 5,112,762 5,185,036 1.41% 72,274 

Total Council 
Contributions 13,488,419 13,758,187 2.00% 269,768 

 

State Government Operating Grants 

The proposed budget is based on an increment of 4.11% against the 2021/2022 budget, 

which is a 2.50% increase upon the actual amount received in the 2021/2022 financial year. 

The State Government Grant is determined by factors that include population growth, socio 

economic status and other demographic influences.  

 

 

2021-2022 
Budget 

$ 

Proposed 

2022-2023 

Budget 

$ 

Change 

% 

Change 

$ 

Banyule 811,923 845,276 4.11% 33,353 

Nillumbik 429,239 446,872 4.11% 17,633 

Whittlesea 1,323,826 1,378,207 4.11% 54,381 

Total State Government 
Grants 2,564,988 2,670,355 4.11% 105,367 

 

Other Income Streams 

Library’s other income streams are budgeted to increase by $56k or 10.20% from budget 

2021/2022. This increment is mainly due to Banyule City Council contribution for the 

Library After Dark program at Watsonia, and other income from providing library services 

to Warrnambool City Council. 
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2021-2022 
Budget 

$ 

Proposed 
2022-2023 

Budget 

$ 

Change 

% 

Change 

$ 

Grants 193,869 197,784 2.02% 3,915 

Other Contributions 13,400 28,573 113.23% 15,173 

Library Fees 120,500 111,319 (7.62%) (9,181) 

Interest 10,000 3,200 (68.00%) (6,800) 

Other Income 216,424 269,854 24.69% 53,430 

Total other income 554,193 610,730 10.20% 56,537 

 

Operating Expenditure 

The operating expenditure budgeted for 2022/23 is based on the following key drivers: 

• Estimated impact of inflation (2.00%). 

• Quantum increase in employee costs as per Enterprise Agreement and the change 

in the superannuation percentage. 

• The additional budget allocation to e-content in preference to physical collection 

expenditure. 

• The resources required to meet the expectation of our community for high quality 

services. 

 

2021-2022 
Budget 

$ 

Proposed 
2022-2023 

Budget 

$ 

Change 

% 

Change 

$ Note 

Employee Costs 10,579,550 10,903,613 3.06% 324,063 a 

Library Support Centre 14,800 15,096 2.00% 296  

Depreciation/Amortisation 2,041,000 1,786,147 (12.49%) (254,853) b 

Administration Costs 328,246 362,537 10.45% 34,291  

Branch Costs 1,031,594 1,007,560 (2.33%) (24,034)  

Computer Services 970,010 1,054,229 8.68% 84,219 c 

Collection Services 1,149,662 1,333,561 16.00% 183,899 d 
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Finance costs – leases 14,846 11,644 (21.57%) (3,202)  

Other Expenses 501,722 564,886 12.59% 63,164 e 

Total Operating Expenditure 16,631,430 17,039,272 2.45% 407,842  

 

Notes 

a. Employee Cost 

The increment of $324k or 3.06% comparing to budget 2021/2022 is due to: 

• The quantum increases as per Enterprise Agreement (below the expected 

inflation of 2.00%). 

• The band level progression of staff. 

• The superannuation rate increment to 10.50% from current 10.00%. 

• The increase of 1.52 equivalent full-time (EFT) positions that have been allocated 

to meet YPRL's operations as outlined below: 

 

 EFT Growth Budget Impact Externally 

funded 

Ivanhoe Library – to increase 

the number of staffs attending 

on the weekends. 

0.25 $25k No 

Watsonia Library – to deliver 

the Library After Dark program 

that is fully funded by Banyule 

City Council 

0.24 $23k Yes 

Increase part-time relievers 

pool - to effectively backfill 

positions and minimise casual 

appointments. 

0.86 0 - 

Public Participation – to assist 

on delivering ongoing 

initiatives 

0.17 0 - 

Total EFT/Impact 1.52 $48k  

 

 

 



YARRA PLENTY REGIONAL LIBRARY SERVICE  MEETING OF THURSDAY 24 FEBRUARY 2022 

  
SECTION E PRESENTATION OF GENERAL REPORTS  Page 25 of 48 

 

b. Depreciation/Amortisation 

The decrease in depreciation/amortisation expense is the result of allocating additional 

resources to e-content in preference to physical collection. 

c. Computer Services 

The increment of 84k is the result of the strategic decision to continue to invest in ICT 

initiatives and licences. 

d. Collection Services 

The increment of $184k is primarily due to the relocation of resource from physical 

collection capital expenditure to e-content expenditure (part of operating cost). 

e. Other Expenses 

Additional costs as result of the new Service Agreement with Warrnambool (Offset by 

increased income) and the reclassification of Branch Cost expenses. 

Capital Expenditure 

Capital expenditure for 2022/2023 totals $1.74 million. Collection budget provides $1.65M 

to be spent on the procurement of physical collection items such as adult, junior and teen 

books, DVDs, and CDs. The proposed collection budget reflects a reduction of $160k from 

2021/2022 budget because of the relocation of resources to e-content expenditure (part of 

operating cost). Plant & equipment budget of $89k will be primarily allocated to hardware 

and furniture upgrades. 

The Collections Asset Strategic Framework and Plan 2018/2022 articulates a rationale, 

priorities, and targets for the library’s collection from a service provision as well as a 

strategic asset maintenance perspective.   

The four focus areas which underpin the Framework are: 

• Current and relevant collections; Optimised access; Curated collections; Ensured 

sustainability. 

The 2022/2023 Collections budget represents the minimum required to deliver the 

2022/2023 actions described in the Framework. 

Asset Replacement Reserve 

The 2022/2023 budget provides for $50K to be transferred to a reserve to fund the 

replacement of Library assets such as the Mobile Library.  As at 30 June 2021 the amount in 

Reserve was $1.3M.  As accounting depreciation alone does not cover asset replacement 

cost, prudent Asset Replacement Reserve transfers are necessary to ensure that capital is 

available to replace current in-service assets with items of comparable functionality.   

CONSULTATION 

The YPRL Board consultation took place at the December Board meeting 

Individual member Councils have reviewed the proposed budget 
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Public review of the proposed budget will occur as per the recommendations. 

CRITICAL DATES 

The 2022/2023 Budget must be submitted to the State Government Minister by 30 June 

2022. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

All financial implications are included in the body of the report. 

POLICY STRATEGY AND LEGISLATION 

Section 129 of the Local Government Act (1989) as amended states that the Board is 
required to adopt the Budget on an annual basis. 

LINKS TO STRATEGIC PLAN 

Strategy:  

Organisational strength  

 

Priority:  

• Investment in our staff, capacity, and governance to ensure we are capable and 

ready to adapt, learn and empower our communities in environmentally and 

socially responsible ways. 

DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Under section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to the 

Library must disclose any interests, including type of interest. 

The Responsible Officer reviewing this report, having made enquiries with the relevant 

members of staff, reports that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this 

report. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to: 

1. APPROVE the Proposed Budget 2022/2023 for public display 

 

 M:  

 S:  
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2. AUTHORISE the Chief Executive Officer to give public notice of the preparation of the 

Regional Library Corporation Budget in accordance with Section 129 (1) and (3) of the 

Local Government Act 

 M:  

 S:  

  

 

3. Consider any submissions made in accordance with Section 129 (2) of the Local 

Government Act at the next Board meeting 

 

 M:  

 S:  
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1. Executive Summary 

Budget 2022/2023 is underpinned by prudent financial management principles and existing service 

levels in all current Library Branches. It has also been based on the Local Government Act 1989 (the 

Act) and regulations, the Library Plan 2021-2025, and the Priority Action Plan 2022-2023. 

The overall library operating expenditure for 2022/2023 is budgeted at $17.04 million, up $408k 

(2.45%) from the 2021/2022 budget. This increment is primarily driven by the estimated impact of 

inflation, the quantum increases in employee costs as per Enterprise Agreement, the change in the 

superannuation percentage, and the reallocation of capital funds to e-content in preference to 

physical collection expenditure. 

Capital expenditure for 2022/2023 totals $1.74 million. Collection budget provides $1.65M to be 

spent on the procurement of physical collection items such as adult, junior and teen books, DVDs, 

and CDs. The proposed collection budget reflects a reduction of $160k from 2021/2022 budget 

because of the relocation of resources to e-content expenditure (part of operating cost). Plant & 

equipment budget of $89k will be primarily allocated to hardware and furniture upgrades.  

Income is primarily based on Council Contributions and State Government Grants. The total Member 

Council Contributions is budgeted at $13.76 million, an increment of $270K (2.00%) from the 

2021/2022 budget. State Government Operating Grants is also expected to increase by $105k to 

$2.67 million.  

The total income for budget 2022/2023 will cover the operating and capital expenditures with an 

allocation of $50k to build the asset replacement reserve. 
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2. Budget Process Overview 

2.1 Linkage to the Library Plan 

The Yarra Plenty Regional Library (YPRL) has a comprehensive Library Plan that aligns operational, 
corporate, and strategic plans to deliver excellent library services for our diverse and multicultural 
communities. The Library Plan ensures that the budget is developed in response of YPRL priorities 
over the next 12 months and subsequent three financial years. YPRL’s Board will be held accountable 
through the Annual Report and the Annual Audited Financial Statements. 

2.2 Budget Process 

The preparation of the budget begins with senior officers developing the budget in accordance with 
the Act and regulations, the Library Plan 2021-2025, and the Priority Action Plan 2022-2023. The 
‘proposed’ Budget is then submitted to the Board for approval ‘in principle’. 
 
YPRL is then required to give public notice that it intends to adopt the proposed budget. It must give 
28 days’ notice of its intention to adopt the proposed budget and make the budget available for 
inspection. A person has a right to make a submission on any proposal contained in the budget and 
any submission must be considered before adoption of the budget by the Board. The final step is for 
the Board to adopt the budget after receiving and considering any submission from interested 
parties.  Please note that YPRL has not received any public submission to the proposed budget in 
past years. 
 
The budget is required to be adopted by 30 June each year and a copy submitted to the Local 
Government Minister. The key dates for the 2022-2023 budget process are summarised below: 
 

Proposed Budget submitted to the Board for approval 24 February 2022 

Public notice advising intention to adopt Budget 01 March 2022 

Budget available for public inspection and comment until 01 April 2022 

Budget and submissions presented to the Board for adoption 28 April 2022 

Copy of adopted Budget submitted to the Minister 30 June 2022 

 
 

2.3 Budget Influences 

The budget is developed based on number of influences and assumptions, which are likely to impact 
the funding for delivering YPRL’s services. The most significant factors include the estimated impact 
of inflation, the quantum increases in employee costs as per Enterprise Agreement, and the change 
in the superannuation percentage. 
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3. Strategic Plan and measuring success 

YPRL is committed to implementing and monitoring this strategic plan. To do this, we will use a 

range of indicators to evaluate progress and performance.  These indicators will include the 

measurement and assessment of our organisational activity, as well as the broader outcomes we 

contribute to at a community level. 

3.1 Our Plan on a Page 
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3.2 Organisational performance indicators 

These indicators tell us about the use and efficacy of our services. 

Organisational examples:  

• Collections measures, including volume of digital and physical loans and age of the 

collection.  

• Service measures, including the number of members, branch visits, program and events 

attendance, and computer and Wi-Fi use.  

• Library benchmarks, including the costs for service provision.  

3.3 Community indicators 

These indicators assess a range of community outcomes. In combination, they provide a view on 

how YPRL is creating a positive impact in our communities. Over the course of this strategic plan, 

YPRL will look to use existing tools to understand how communities are being positively impacted 

through our service, alongside exploring and aligning to other outcomes frameworks.  

Localised and existing tools:  

• Community surveys, including library satisfaction surveys, and program and events 

feedback. 

• Case studies, including stories of our users and how our service has impacted them.  

National and International frameworks  

Victorian public libraries have committed to embedding the United Nations Sustainable 

Development Goals (SDGs) into their planning. The SDGs provide a framework to demonstrate how 

libraries can support positive change, from quality education to reducing inequalities. This helps 

libraries reflect on and align with other organisations to determine how they can create localised 

outcomes that contribute to meaningful change for the whole of a nation. 
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4. Financial Statements 

The budget information for the year 2022/2023 has been supplemented with projections to 

2025/2026. This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the 

Act and regulations: 

• Comprehensive Income Statement 

• Balance Sheet 

• Statement of Cash Flows 

• Statement of Capital Works 

• Statement of Human Resources 

Comprehensive Income Statement 

For the four years ending 30 June 2026 

  

   Budget 
2021/22 

$  

 Budget 
2022/23 

$  

Projections 
Notes 2023/24 

$ 
2024/25 

$ 
2025/26 

$ 

        
Contributions to Regional Library 
Service - Member Councils 

  13,488,419   13,758,187  14,105,846  14,436,090  14,836,423  

Contributions to Regional Library 
Service - State Government 

    2,564,988  2,670,355  2,730,438  2,798,699  2,868,666  

Grants  193,869   197,784  202,234  207,290  212,472  
Other Contributions  13,400  28,573  14,216  14,571  14,935  
Library Fees  120,500  111,319  113,824  116,670  119,587  
Interest  10,000  3,200  3,272  3,354  3,438  
Other Income  216,424  269,854  275,926  282,824  289,895  
Total Income 5.1.1 16,607,600  17,039,272  17,445,756  17,859,498  18,345,416  

        
Expenses        

Employee Costs  

   
10,579,550  

   
10,903,613  

   
11,173,835  

   
11,432,380  

   
11,759,254  

Library Support Centre Office Costs        14,800         15,096         15,436         15,822         16,217  
Depreciation    2,041,000    1,786,146    1,826,334    1,871,993    1,918,792  
Administration Costs       328,246       362,537       370,694       379,961       389,460  
Branch Costs   1,031,594   1,007,560   1,030,230   1,055,986    1,082,385  
Computer Services       970,010    1,054,229    1,077,949    1,104,898    1,132,520  
Collection Services    1,149,662    1,333,561    1,363,566    1,397,655    1,432,597  
Finance costs - leases         14,846         11,644         10,116            8,768            7,353  
Other Expenses       501,722       564,886       577,596       592,036       606,837  
Total Expenditure 5.1.2 16,631,430  17,039,272  17,445,756  17,859,498  18,345,416  
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Balance Sheet 

For the four years ending 30 June 2026 

  

  
 Budget 
2021/22 

$  

 Budget 
2022/23 

$  

 Projections  
Notes 

2023/24 
$ 

2024/25 
$ 

2025/26 
$ 

Assets        

Cash and Cash Equivalents  6,826,724 6,832,474 6,862,539 6,896,566 6,934,818 

Trade & Other Receivables  29,101 29,683 30,276 30,882 31,499 

Non-Financial Assets  44,602 44,602 44,602 44,602 44,602 

Total Current Assets   6,900,427 6,906,758 6,937,418 6,972,049 7,010,920 

        

Non-Current Assets        

Bookstock, Plant & Equipment  3,802,630 3,864,649 3,904,434 3,942,941 3,980,138 

Right of use Assets  671,727 559,709 468,800 377,891 286,982 

Total Non-Current Assets   4,474,357 4,424,358 4,373,234 4,320,832 4,267,119 

Total Assets 5.2.1 11,374,784 11,331,116 11,310,651 11,292,881 11,278,039 

        

Liabilities        

Current Liabilities        

Trade and Other Payables  688,017 701,777 715,812 730,129 744,731 

Current Lease Liabilities  94,744 77,893 81,880 86,016 90,303 

Employee Provisions  2,052,183 2,088,096 2,129,858 2,177,780 2,232,224 

Total Current Liabilities   2,834,943 2,867,766 2,927,550 2,993,924 3,067,259 

        

Non-Current Liabilities        

Employee Provisions  80,163 81,566 83,197 85,069 87,196 

Non-Current Lease Liabilities  634,056 556,163 474,283 388,267 297,964 

Total Non-Current Liabilities   714,219 637,729 557,480 473,336 385,160 

Total Liabilities 5.2.2 3,549,162 3,505,495 3,485,030 3,467,260 3,452,418 

        

Net Assets   7,825,621 7,825,621 7,825,621 7,825,621 7,825,621 

        

Equity        

Members Contributions  3,770,080 3,770,080 3,770,080 3,770,080 3,770,080 

Accumulated Surplus  4,079,372 4,055,541 4,055,541 4,055,541 4,055,541 

Surplus/(Deficit) of the Year  (23,831) 0 0 0 0 

Total Equity   7,825,621 7,825,621 7,825,621 7,825,621 7,825,621 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

For the four years ending 30 June 2026 

     Budget Projections 

  

   2021/22 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
$  

 2022/23 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
$  

 2023/24 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
$  

 2024/25 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
$  

 2025/26 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
$  

Notes 

Cash flows from operating 
activities        

Member Council Contributions  13,488,419 13,758,187 14,105,846 14,436,090 14,836,423 

State Government Library Grant  2,564,988 2,670,355 2,730,438 2,798,699 2,868,666 

Interest received  10,000 3,200 3,272 3,354 3,438 

Library fees  119,929 110,737 113,230 116,064 118,969 

Other receipts   423,692 496,211 492,376 504,685 517,302 

Payments to employees  (10,537,740) (10,866,297) (11,130,442) (11,382,586) (11,702,682) 

Payments to suppliers  (3,569,429) (3,414,151) (3,488,729) (3,576,018) (3,665,490) 

Net GST payment  (889,934) (909,957) (932,706) (956,024) (979,924) 

Net cash provided by operating 
activities  

5.3.1 1,609,927 1,848,284 1,893,285 1,944,265 1,996,702 

        

Cash flows from investing activities        

Payments for library books, plant 
and equipment   (1,859,832) (1,736,147) (1,775,210) (1,819,591) (1,865,080) 

Proceeds from redemption of 
financial assets  0 0 0 0 0 
Net cash used in investing 
activities 

5.3.2 (1,859,832) (1,736,147) (1,775,210) (1,819,591) (1,865,080) 

        

Cash flows from financing activities        

Interest paid - lease liability  (14,846) (11,644) (10,116) (8,768) (7,353) 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (96,938) (94,744) (77,893) (81,880) (86,016) 

Net cash used in financial activities 5.3.3 (111,784) (106,388) (88,009) (90,648) (93,369) 

        

Net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 

  (361,689) 5,749 30,066 34,026 38,252 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the financial year 

  7,188,413 6,826,724 6,832,474 6,862,539 6,896,566 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the financial year 

  6,826,724 6,832,474 6,862,539 6,896,566 6,934,818 
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Statement of Capital Works 

For the four years ending 30 June 2026 

  

   Budget 
2021/22 

$  

 Budget 
2022/23 

$  

 Projections  

Notes 
2023/24 

$ 
2024/25 

$ 
2025/26 

$ 
Bookstock    1,771,682    1,646,233    1,683,273    1,725,355    1,768,489  
Plant & Equipment         88,150         89,914         91,937         94,235         96,591  
Total Capital Expenditure 5.4.1   1,859,832    1,736,147    1,775,210    1,819,591    1,865,080  

 

Statement of Human Resources 

For the four years ending 30 June 2026 

  
 Budget 
2021/22  

 Budget 
2022/23  

 Projections  

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Staff expenditure $10,579,550 $10,903,613 $11,173,835 $11,432,380 $11,759,254 

Full-time equivalent staff              98.51            100.03            100.03               99.79               99.79  
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5. Notes to the Financial Statements 

This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements. YPRL 

assesses which components are material, considering the dollar amounts and nature of these 

components. 

5.1 Comprehensive Income Statement Notes 

5.1.1 Income 

Income is based on Council Contributions, Grants (primarily State Government Grants), Library 

Fees, Interest, and Other Income. 

 

Budget 
2021/22 

$ 

Budget 
2022/23 

$ 
Change 

% 
Change 

$ 

Council Contributions 13,488,419 13,758,187 2.00% 269,768 

State Government 2,564,988 2,670,355 4.11% 105,367 

Grants 193,869 197,784 2.02% 3,915 

Other Contributions 13,400 28,573 113.23% 15,173 

Library Fees 120,500 111,319 (7.62%) (9,181) 

Interest 10,000 3,200 (68.00%) (6,800) 

Other Income 216,424 269,854 24.69% 53,430 
Total Income 16,607,600 17,039,272 2.60% 431,672 

 

Council Contributions 

The Member Council contributions are based on the cost apportionment model detailed in the 
YPRL Library Agreement (November 2015). The overall increase from the 2022/2023 budget is 
$270K (or 2.00%). 

 

 

Budget 
2021/22 

$ 

Budget 
2022/23 

$ 
Change 

% 
Change 

$ 

Banyule 5,376,491 5,550,711 3.24% 174,220 

Nillumbik 2,999,166 3,022,440 0.78% 23,274 

Whittlesea 5,112,762 5,185,036 1.41% 72,274 
Total Council 
Contributions 

13,488,419 13,758,187 2.00% 269,768 
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State Government Operating Grants 

The proposed budget is based on an increment of 4.11% against the 2021/2022 budget, which is a 
2.50% increase upon the actual amount received in the 2021/2022 financial year. The State 
Government Grant is determined by factors that include population growth, socio economic status, 
and other demographic influences. 
 

 

Budget 
2021/22 

$ 

Budget 
2022/23 

$ 
Change 

% 
Change 

$ 

Banyule 811,923 845,276 4.11% 33,353 

Nillumbik 429,239 446,872 4.11% 17,633 

Whittlesea 1,323,826 1,378,207 4.11% 54,381 
Total State Government 
Grants 

2,564,988 2,670,355 4.11% 105,367 

 

Other Income Streams 

Library’s other income streams are budgeted to increase by $56k or 10.20% from budget 
2021/2022. This increment is mainly due to Banyule City Council contribution for the Library After 
Dark program at Watsonia, and other income from providing library services to Warrnambool City 
Council. 

 

Budget 
2021/22 

$ 

Budget 
2022/23 

$ 
Change 

% 
Change 

$ 

Grants 193,869 197,784 2.02% 3,915 

Other Contributions 13,400 28,573 113.23% 15,173 

Library Fees 120,500 111,319 (7.62%) (9,181) 

Interest 10,000 3,200 (68.00%) (6,800) 

Other Income 216,424 269,854 24.69% 53,430 
Total other income 554,193 610,730 10.20% 56,537 
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5.1.2 Expenditure 

The operating expenditure budgeted for 2022/23 is based on the following key drivers: 
 

• Estimated impact of inflation (2.00%). 

• Quantum increase in employee costs as per Enterprise Agreement and the change in the 
superannuation percentage. 

• The additional budget allocation to e-content in preference to physical collection 
expenditure. 

• The resources required to meet the expectation of our community for high quality 
services. 

 

 

Budget 
2021/22 

$ 

Budget 
2022/23 

$ 
Change 

% 
Change 

$ 

Employee Costs 10,579,550 10,903,613 3.06% 324,063 

Library Support Centre 14,800 15,096 2.00% 296 

Depreciation/Amortisation 2,041,000 1,786,147 (12.49%) (254,853) 

Administration Costs 328,246 362,537 10.45% 34,291 

Branch Costs 1,031,594 1,007,560 (2.33%) (24,034) 

Computer Services 970,010 1,054,229 8.68% 84,219 

Collection Services 1,149,662 1,333,561 16.00% 183,899 

Finance costs – leases 14,846 11,644 (21.57%) (3,202) 

Other Expenses 501,722 564,886 12.59% 63,164 

Total Operating Expenditure 16,631,430 17,039,272 2.45% 407,842 
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Key expenditure components 

Employee Costs 

The increment of $324k or 3.06% comparing to budget 2021/2022 is due to: 

• The quantum increases as per Enterprise Agreement (below the expected inflation of 

2.00%). 

• The band level progression of staff. 

• The superannuation rate increment to 10.50% from current 10.00%. 

• The increase of 1.52 equivalent full-time (EFT) positions that have been allocated to meet 

YPRL's operations as outlined below: 

 
 EFT 

Growth 

Budget 

Impact 

Externally 

funded 

Ivanhoe Library – to increase the number of staffs 

attending on the weekends. 

0.25 $25k No 

Watsonia Library – to deliver the Library After Dark 

program that is fully funded by Banyule City Council 

0.24 $23k Yes 

Increase part-time relievers pool - to effectively backfill 

positions and minimise casual appointments. 

0.86 0 - 

Public Participation – to assist on delivering ongoing 

initiatives 

0.17 0 - 

Total EFT/Impact 1.52 $48k  

Depreciation/Amortisation 

The decrease in depreciation/amortisation expense is the result of allocating additional 

resources to e-content in preference to physical collection. 

Computer Services 

The increment of 84k is the result of the strategic decision to continue to invest in ICT 

initiatives and licences. 

Collection Services 

The increment of $184k is primarily due to the relocation of resource from physical collection 

capital expenditure to e-content expenditure (part of operating cost). 

Other Expenses 

Additional costs as result of the new Service Agreement with Warrnambool (Offset by 

increased income) and the reclassification of Branch Cost expenses. 

5.2 Balance Sheet Notes 

5.2.1 Total Assets 

Total assets include current assets, assets that can reasonably expect to be converted into cash 

within one year, and non-current assets. While maintaining a solid cash and cash equivalent 

position, total assets are decreasing primarily due to the amortisation of Right of use Assets (leased 

assets). 
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5.2.2 Total Liabilities 

Total liabilities include current liabilities, debts or obligations that are due to be paid to creditors 

within one year, and non- current liabilities. The decrease in total liabilities is mainly driven by the 

repayment of the lease liabilities. 

5.3 Statement of Cash Flows Notes 

5.3.1 Net cash provided by operating activities 

Net cash provided by operating activities is expected to remain stable for year 2022/2023 and the 

three subsequent financial years to 2025/2026. 

5.3.2 Net cash used in investing activities 

Net cash used in investing activities is the result of the funding requirement from YPRL to support 

the investment in bookstock, and plant and equipment.  

5.3.3 Net cash used in financial activities 

Net cash used in financial activities is the result of the repayment of YPRL lease obligations. 

5.4 Statement of Capital Works Notes 

Collection budget, Bookstock, provides $1.65M to be spent on the procurement of physical 

collection items such as adult, junior and teen books, DVDs, and CDs. The proposed collection 

budget reflects a reduction of $160k from 2021/2022 budget because of the relocation of resources 

to e-content expenditure (part of operating cost).  

The Collections Asset Strategic Framework and Plan 2018/2022 articulates a rationale, priorities and 

targets for the YPRL’s collection from a service provision as well as a strategic asset maintenance 

perspective.   

The four focus areas which underpin the Framework are: 

• Current and relevant collections 

• Optimised access 

• Curated collections 

• Ensured sustainability 

The 2022/2023 Collections budget represents the minimum required to deliver the 2022/2023 

actions described in the Framework. 

Plant & equipment budget of $89k will be primarily allocated to hardware and furniture upgrades. 
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6. Financial Performance Indicators 

The following table outlines a summary of budgeted financial performance indicators for the years 

up to 2025/2026. These indicators are used as a guide to assess YPRL financial position and 

performance.  

Overall, for the years up to 2025/2026. YPRL continues to be financially sound reflecting the ongoing 

commitment of Member Councils. 

 

Financial Indicators Budget 
2021/22 

Budget 
2022/23 

Budget 
2023/24 

Budget 
2024/25 

Budget 
2025/26 

Working Capital 
 

2.43 2.41 2.37 2.33 2.29 

Underlying Result 
 

(0.14%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Renewal Gap 
 

0.91 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 

Loans and borrowings 0.67% 0.62% 0.50% 0.51% 0.51% 
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7. Yarra Plenty Regional Library Fees and Charges schedule – 2022/2023 

All fees and charges inclusive of GST as it applies. 

General fees & charges 

Description Fees & Charges 

Overdue charge None 

Lost library card $2.50 

Lost items Cost of the item 

Book sales As marked 

Inter library loans 
$10 service fee 

Cost recovery: $16.50 if applicable 

Printing and copying 
A4: 20c per page (B&W) A3: 40c per page (B&W) 

A4: 60c per page (colour) A3: $1.20 per page (colour) 

Debt recovery $15 service fee plus debt 

Book club fee $100 per club per annum 

 



Venue hire - Fees & charges 

Venues  Capacity 
  

Seniors  Community  Community/Business Standard/Business 
rate 

Hourly 
 

$ 

Full day 
rate 8hrs 

$ 

Hourly 
 

$ 

Full day 
rate 8hrs 

$ 

Hourly 
 

$ 

Full day 
rate 8hrs 

$ 

Hourly 
 

$ 

Full day 
rate 8hrs 

$ 

Ivanhoe                    

Yarra-me Djila Theatrette 80         15.00          90.00          37.50       247.50          56.25       337.50          75.00       450.00  

Meeting room 1.34 10           5.50          33.00            9.00          54.00          13.50          81.00          18.00       108.00  

Wilim Ngarrgu 1.39  54           8.00          48.00          32.50       156.00          45.50       273.00          65.00       390.00  

Wilim Ngarrgu 1.40 54           8.00          48.00          32.50       156.00          45.50       273.00          65.00       390.00  

Combined 110         15.00          90.00          37.50       247.50          56.25       337.50          75.00       450.00  

IT Lounge 2.27 17 Free N/A Free N/A 24.5 N/A 35 N/A 

Tom Roberts Room 14           5.50          33.00          17.50       105.00          24.50       147.00          35.00       210.00  

Clara Southern Room  14           5.50          33.00          17.50       105.00          24.50       147.00          35.00       210.00  

Nellie Ibbott Chamber  60           8.00          48.00          32.50       156.00          45.50       273.00          65.00       390.00  

Thomastown                    

Community room 1 40           5.50          33.00          22.50       135.00          31.50       189.00          45.00       270.00  

Community room 2 25           5.50          33.00          17.50       105.00          24.50       147.00          35.00       210.00  

Community room 1 & 2 combined 70           8.00          48.00          32.50       156.00          45.50       273.00          65.00       390.00  

Computer room 16 Free N/A Free N/A 24.5 N/A 35 N/A 

Diamond Valley                   

Community room  20 5.5 33 17.5 105 24.5 147 35 210 

Watsonia                   

Community room 25 5.5 33 17.5 105 24.5 147 35 210 

Mill Park                    

Computer room 16 Free N/A Free N/A 24.5 N/A 35 N/A 

 



 

Venue hire – Other fees & charges 

Description  Fees & Charges 

Deposit - Community and Seniors 
groups 

$150 

Deposit - Commercial and 
individual  

$300 

Support staff - Theatre Tech Provided on application 

Support staff - IT Provided on application 

Support staff - Catering  Provided on application 

After hours event  Provided on application 

Security staff  Provided on application 

Catering  Provided on application 

Venue damages  Variable  
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Agenda Item 7: Quarterly Finance Report December 2021 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Luciano Lauronce, Finance and Administration Manager 

 

Attachments: 7a - Balance Sheet December 2021 

7b - Cash Flow Statement December 2021 

REPORT 

SUMMARY   

This report is for the Board’s information. 

INTRODUCTION 

The December 2021 quarterly financial report presents YPRL’s operating result and capital 

expenditure financial performance against budget and includes the following financial 

statements: 

• Balance Sheet (attached) 

• Cash Flow Statement (attached) 
 

REPORT 

Operating Result 

As of 31 December 2021, YPRL has achieved a $1.432m operating surplus. This result 

compares favourably to year-to-date (YTD) budget by $245k. Although COVID-19 pandemic 

increased the challenge of making judgements and estimates regarding future income and 

expenditure, YPRL year-end operating result forecast is favourable to annual budget by 

$21k reducing the deficit to $3k. 

Key operating result variances: 
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Notes: 

1. State Government contribution was higher than expected resulting on a favourable 

variance. 

2. Banyule contribution, $30k, agreed after budget 2021/2022 approval for Watsonia 

Library After Dark program. 

3. Photocopy fees income is expected to decrease due to COVID19 restrictions. 

4. YPRL will provide library services to Warrnambool City Council during the financial year 

2021/2022. This new revenue stream ($80k annually plus one-off $30k for the initial 

systems set-ups) will be partially offset by additional expenditure. 

5. Current YTD favourable variance is partially captured by year end forecast. This is the 

result of COVID-19 lockdown during the first semester on YPRL staff requirements. 

6. Unfavourable forecast variance is related to cleaning expenditure at Ivanhoe Library & 

Cultural. This additional expenditure is fully offset by Other Revenue as per agreement with 

Banyule City Council (cost reimbursement – Banyule portion). 

7. Hot-spot WIFI program for those families in our community without access to internet. 

8. The unfavourable forecast variance is the result of YPRL strategy to re-allocate funds 

from physical collection (capital expenditure budget) to e-content resources (part of 

operating cost). 

9. Additional expenditure related to Warrnambool City Council service agreement. 
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Capital Expenditure 

As of 31 December 2021, overall capital expenditure is ahead YTD budget by $71k. 

However, year-end forecast shows a favourable variance to budget of $100k. 

 

Notes: 

10. Bookstock expenditure is ahead of YTD budget by $115k. However, year-end forecast, 

compares favourably to budget as result of YPRL strategy to re-allocate funds to e-content 

resources (part of operating cost – note 8). 

11. Plant & Equipment expenditure is expected to occur in the second semester of the 

financial year 2021/2022. 

Financial Position 

YPRL, on 31 December 2021, continues to remain financially sound and maintain a strong 

liquidity position with a working capital ratio, which assesses YPRL’s ability to current 

commitments, of 3.13. 

CONSULTATION 

Consultation was held with the Executive Managers during the preparation of this report. 

CRITICAL DATES 

N/A 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Any financial implications are included in the body of the report. 

POLICY STRATEGY AND LEGISLATION 

Section 138 of the Local Government Act (1989) as amended states that a quarterly finance 

report is to be presented 
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LINKS TO STRATEGIC PLAN 

Strategy:  

Organisational strength  

 

Priority:  

• Investment in our staff, capacity, and governance to ensure we are capable and 

ready to adapt, learn and empower our communities in environmentally and 

socially responsible ways. 

DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Under section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to the 

Library must disclose any interests, including type of interest. 

The Responsible Officer reviewing this report, having made enquiries with the relevant 

members of staff, reports that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this 

report. 

CONCLUSION 

As of 31 December 2021, YPRL has achieved a $1.432m operating surplus. This result 

compares favourably to YTD budget by $245k. Overall capital expenditure is ahead of YTD 

budget by $71k. Both, operating result and capital expenditure, year-end forecasts compare 

favourably to budget.  

YPRL continues to remain financially sound and maintain a strong liquidity position with a 

working capital ratio, which assess YPRL’s ability to current commitments, of 3.13. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to RECEIVE and NOTE the Quarterly Finance Report December 
2021 

 M:  

 S:  

 

 

  



Jun
2021

Dec
2021

YTD
Variance

$ $ $

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7,188,413 8,250,285 1,061,872

Trade & Other Receivables 28,530 35,126 6,596

Other Assets 44,602 5,000 (39,602)

Total Current Assets 7,261,545 8,290,412 1,028,867

Non-Current Assets

Bookstock, Plant & Equipment 3,864,743 3,680,899 (183,844)

Right of use Assets 790,782 790,782 0

Total Non-Current Assets 4,655,525 4,471,681 (183,844)

Total Assets 11,917,070 12,762,093 845,023

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables 1,151,345 411,864 (739,481)

Current Lease Liabilities 96,938 48,858 (48,080)

Employee Provisions – Current 2,011,944 2,183,952 172,008

Total Current Liabilities 3,260,227 2,644,674 (615,553)

Non Current Liabilities

Employee Provisions – Non Current 78,591 106,760 28,169

Non Current Lease Liabilities 728,800 728,800 (0)

Total Non-Current Liabilities 807,391 835,559 28,168

Total Liabilities 4,067,618 3,480,233 (587,385)

Net Assets 7,849,452 9,281,859 1,432,407

Equity

Members Contributions 3,770,080 3,770,080 0

Accumulated Surplus 4,079,372 4,079,372 0

Year to Date 1,432,408 1,432,408

Total Equity 7,849,452 9,281,860 1,432,408

December 2021 Financial Quarterly Report

Balance Sheet



Jun 2021
Inflows/

(Outflows)

Dec 2021
Inflows/

(Outflows)
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Member Council Contributions 13,039,630 6,744,210

State Government Library Grant 2,516,355 2,605,225

Payments to suppliers (2,362,475) (2,208,593)

Payments to employees (9,408,796) (5,156,685)

Interest received 6,246 2,678

Library fees 47,181 18,677

Other receipts 361,996 340,990

Net GST payment (872,484) (392,524)

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,327,653 1,953,977

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for library books, plant and equipment (1,719,418) (836,656)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,719,418) (836,656)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid – lease liability (16,388) (7,368)

Repayment of lease liabilities (93,282) (48,080)

Net cash used in financial activities (109,670) (55,449)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,498,565 1,061,872

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 5,689,848 7,188,413

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7,188,413 8,250,285

Cash Flow Statement

December 2021 Financial Quarterly Report
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Agenda Item 8: Digital Inclusion Action Plan 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Robyn Ellard, Executive Manager Public Participation 

 

Attachments: 8a - Digital Inclusion Action Plan 

8b – Digital Inclusion Strategy 2020-2022 Year 2 Review 

REPORT 

SUMMARY 

This report is for the Board’s consideration and adoption of the new YPRL Digital Inclusion 

Action Plan 2022-2025 which replaces the previous Digital Inclusion Strategy. 

The Year 2 Review of the previous Strategy is also included for the Board’s review. 

INTRODUCTION 

The previous 2020-2022 Digital Inclusion Strategy replaced our 2016 eGov Strategy and was 

developed in response to community needs and our member Councils’ strategies. The 

Strategy brought a focussed direction to our services, activities, and infrastructure that 

support the community in digital inclusion. This new Plan brings our strategy into line with 

our current Library Plan and broadens the focus to support our key outcomes: knowledge 

and learning, connection, wellbeing, and organisational strength.  

It expands the focus from primarily digital skills and safety to include access, connection, 

and information literacy. The broader actions will allow us to deliver to the community but 

have flexibility for changing circumstances. The Year 2 Review of the previous Strategy 

shows that although we delivered strong, responsive services to our community during a 

pandemic, the highly specific actions do not always reflect that. 

BACKGROUND 

Digital Inclusion refers to all aspects that affect an individual or group’s ability to engage in 

the online world. It encompasses their level of access to internet and devices, affordability 

of connecting, and their level of digital skill and confidence.  

Digital connection is becoming essential for everyday life, with government services, 

education, banking, and more moving online, as well as connection with family and friends. 

This change has been accelerated by the ongoing pandemic. Although digital inclusion is 

largely increasing, and Banyule, Nillumbik and Whittlesea all sit close to the national and 

state average for digital inclusion, pockets of ‘digital exclusion’ remain, and those who are 

less connected are becoming proportionately more disadvantaged. Libraries play a critical 

role for these people. 

This Action Plan comprises four objectives supported by a number of actions. The aim of 

the Action Plan is to: 

• Provide equitable access to the digital world 

• Connect people to each other 
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• Seek radical partnerships and collaborations 

• Increase organisational and staff capacity 

CONSULTATION: 

Consultation was held with the Executive Managers and Senior Leadership Team during the 

preparation of this report. 

CRITICAL DATES 

N/A 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Nil 

LINKS TO STRATEGIC PLAN 

Strategies: 

• Knowledge and learning 

• Connection 

• Organisational strength 

• Wellbeing 

Priorities: 

• Together we build capacity and confidence for people across our communities to 

meaningfully participate in work and community life. 

• Create places and spaces for people throughout our communities to connect, 

belong and actively engage with each other. 

• Investment in our staff, capacity, and governance to ensure we are capable and 

ready to adapt, learn and empower our communities in environmentally and 

socially responsible ways. 

• Help individuals and communities to better engage in, understand and take 

positive actions to support their mental and physical health. 

DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Under section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to the 

Library must disclose any interests, including type of interest. 

The Responsible Officer reviewing this report, having made enquiries with the relevant 

members of staff, reports that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this 

report. 
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CONCLUSION 

YPRL aims to be a sector leading library service that provides opportunities for our diverse 

communities to read, learn, create, connect, and live well. The previous 2020-2022 Digital 

Inclusion Strategy provided an important framework and actions to underpin this work and 

adoption of the new 2022-2025 Action Plan will continue this strategic focus. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to ADOPT the Digital Inclusion Action Plan 2022-2025 

 M:  

 S:  
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Digital Inclusion Action Plan 2022-2025 

What is Digital Inclusion? 

Day to day economic and social life is experiencing rapid digital transformation. Digital inclusion is 
the capability and capacity of individuals or groups to fully engage with the online world and to use 
technology confidently in their daily lives.  

Those without this capability are considered “digitally excluded”. People who are digitally excluded 
may struggle to access education and services, connect with family and friends, manage their health, 
follow news and media, participate in cultural activities, manage their finances, or engage with the 
wider world. 

The three main barriers to digital inclusion are: 

1. Access – the availability of the internet and connected devices. 
2. Affordability – the financial means to get online. 
3. Digital Ability – confidence to use the internet safely. 

Libraries have a key role to play in reducing and removing these barriers for our communities. 

Strategic Alignment 

This Action Plan is informed by the three member councils’ community, health and wellbeing, social 
enterprise, and business plans, as well as YPRL’s Library Plan 2021-2025. Our vision is: 

Informed creative communities: connected, empowered and well 

Our three-member councils understand the value of digitally connected citizens and the necessity of 
accessing services online, and appreciate the role of the library in supporting the community with 
access and skills.    

The Victorian State Government has produced the Victorian Digital Strategy 2021-2026, aiming to 
deliver better, fairer, more accessible services; a digital-ready public sector; and a thriving public 
economy. 

Sustainable Development Goals 

YPRL supports and contributes to the delivery of these United Nation’s Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDG); understanding the important role libraries play in the international drive for greater 
social equality, improved economic prosperity and a more sustainable environmental approach. The 
SDGs provide a framework to demonstrate how libraries can support positive change, from quality 
education to reducing inequalities. This helps us to reflect on and align with other organisations to 
determine how we can create localised outcomes that contribute to meaningful change for the 
whole nation. 

This Action Plan contributes to: 

SDG 3: Good health and wellbeing – Libraries support social connection for mental wellbeing, as well 
as connecting to health information.  

SDG 4: Quality education – Libraries support access to education, through provision of internet, PCs 
and hardware, and safe spaces to study. 

SDG 8: Decent work and economic growth – Libraries provide access to information and skills 
training that people need to find, apply for, and succeed in work. 

SDG 9: Industry, innovation and infrastructure – Libraries provide access to technology and high-
speed internet that may not be available anywhere else. 

SDG 10: Reduced inequalities – Libraries provide neural and welcoming spaces that make learning 
and information accessible to all. 

https://yprl-filestore.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/policies/YPRL_LibraryPlan_20212025FINAL.pdf
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SDG 11: Sustainable cities and communities – Libraries are trusted institutions devoted to promoting 
cultural inclusion and understanding.  

Context 

This Action Plan underpins YPRL’s digital inclusion strategy for the next three years. 

There is more reliance than ever on online technologies to manage daily life, and those who are 
digitally excluded struggle more and more to fully participate in society. 

The Australian Digital Inclusion Index is published each year, using data from the Australian Internet 
Usage Survey to measure digital inclusion across the areas of access, affordability, and digital ability.   

The Index looks at these areas and assigns a score out of 100. The national average in 2021 is 71.1, 
up 3.6 from 2020. Whittlesea and Nillumbik both sit above the national average, with an average 
index of 73.0, while Banyule is slightly below, at 71.0. 

Measure Access Affordability Digital Ability Overall 

Banyule 71.0 95.0 63.0 71.0 

Nillumbik 73.0 95.0 64.0 73.0 

Whittlesea 74.0 93.0 66.0 73.0 

National 
Average 

70.0 93.1 64.4 71.1 

State Average 71.0 93.0 65.0 72.0 

Data: Australian Digital Inclusion Index 2021 

Through the pandemic, as more people have been forced to pick up digital skills, digital inclusion has 
improved. However, 11% of people nationally are still classed as “highly excluded”, with an index 
score of less than 45. Access, affordability, and digital ability remain far from universal, and public 
libraries play a key role in filling the gap. 

Index data also shows that: 

- Digital inclusion increases with education, employment, and income. 
- Australians who speak a language other than English at home generally have higher levels of 

digital inclusion. 
- Couples with children tend to be more digitally included than people who live alone 
- Digital inclusion for seniors is improving. 

Libraries support their communities in all three areas relating to digital inclusion: access, 
affordability, and digital ability. 

Access: libraries see first hand the impact that access to internet can have. Staff observed library 
users sitting in the car park for hours on end while the branches were closed during lockdown, so 
that they could use the free wifi for school work – this led to the successful 100 Hotspots program.  

PC use is declining overall but is critical for those who use it, as they usually don’t have a device of 
their own. Access to their email, banking, government portals, and other everyday necessities is 
enabled through the library. 

Affordability: libraries are public infrastructure and are free to use, with equitable access for all. 

Digital ability: YPRL supports the community to improve digital skills through one on one tech help 
sessions, structured classes, and ad hoc tech assistance. Staff are highly digitally literate and are 
skilled in teaching those less able. 

Library Staff 
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Library staff are key to adapting to the changing needs and demands of library users. Libraries are 
filling the void of access and digital knowledge and will be increasingly sought after to support digital 
literacy and access to digital services, especially government services. 

The digital literacy and digital confidence of YPRL staff has grown markedly over the last few years, 
with changing services during lockdowns and restricted services meaning that many staff have 
embraced new skills. As Victoria moved to a reliance on QR codes, and then digital vaccination 
certificates, libraries were critical in helping people understand how to interact in this new world, 
and staff at all levels quickly became experts on MyGov and Service Victoria. 

Staff are also critical in online information needs and information literacy. Information and 
misinformation are everywhere, and skills in searching for, filtering, and interpreting information will 
continue to increase in demand.  

YPRL staff take an inquiring mindset towards technology and are not afraid to try, test, and learn. 

Objectives and Actions 

Objective Description Actions 

Provide 
equitable access 
to the digital 
world 

Our communities have 
access to the tools and 
information they need to 
engage online safely and 
confidently 

This will be achieved by: 

• Providing access for the community to get online, with 
hardware and internet, for example PCs, Wi-Fi, 
hotspots for loan 

• Delivering programming that supports digital literacy  

• Providing quality information on esafety in a range of 
formats  

• Delivering services and programs that increase 
information literacy and address misinformation and 
fake news 

• Provide quality eresources that are relevant to the 
community and reflect interests and need 

Connect people 
to each other  

Our library users can 
connect online with their 
friends, families, the 
library community, and 
the wider world 

This will be achieved by: 

• Delivering programming that brings people together 

• Supporting the community with tech help and digital 
literacy 

• Focused support for key online government services 

Seek radical 
partnerships 
and 
collaborations 

We understand the 
power of partnerships 
and the reach and 
benefits they bring to our 
communities and 
organisation 

This will be achieved by: 

• Collaborating and engaging with partners to design and 
deliver programs that support digital inclusion, 
especially around areas of esafety 

• Leveraging partnerships to deliver efficient programs 
with maximum impact, for example U3A, Councils, 
Whittlesea Community Connections 

• Seeking grants for creative ways to deliver new 
technology, services, and activities    

Increase 
organisational 
and staff 
capacity 

Our staff feel confident 
and empowered to 
engage our communities 
in digital literacy. Our 
technology and 
equipment are well 
maintained and current 

This will be achieved by: 

• Empowering staff to keep up to date with technology 
trends and community needs 

• Staff awareness and knowledge of the technologies 
available to them within YPRL, and of the emerging and 
relevant technologies in the community 

• Managers and staff view providing technology advice 
and support as a core branch activity, with all branch 
staff able to provide tech help 
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• Branch staff engaging with community to understand 
digital needs and requirements and provide advice to 
YPRL management around equipment and software 
needs.  
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Digital Inclusion Strategy 2020-2022 

Year 2 Review  

Context 

The Digital Inclusion Strategy ensures that local residents of Banyule, Nillumbik and Whittlesea can 

access the training, support and connectivity they need to thrive in the increasingly-digital world. 

The Strategy ensures a coordinated and well-planned approach to the delivery of services and 

programs that offer digital literacy and eGov support.  

The strategy was informed by The Australian Digital Inclusion Index report from 2019 and this report 

includes the figures for 2020, in which the score for the northern suburbs of Melbourne has actually 

gone down slightly, demonstrating the continued need to address this issue in our communities. 

It’s important to note that digital inclusion is not just about access, but places particular emphasis on 

empowerment and participation, both social and economic. While technical skills and abilities are 

essential, they alone are not sufficient to be fully engaged with digital environments. Individuals 

should be able “to create meaning and feelings in it” thereby embracing the cultural and creative 

manifestation of digital inclusion instead of focusing just on technical skills per se. 

Digital Inclusion: Goals 

• Goal 1: Create a regional approach to digital literacy support 

• Goal 2: Increase organisation capacity by training staff and volunteer digital mentors 

• Goal 3: Make resources available and accessible through the collection and website 
 

The following principals underpin YPRL’s commitment to supporting digital inclusion within its 
communities: 

• YPRL is a place of connection, information and training 

• YPRL takes a partnership approach to service 

• YPRL advocates for the benefit of its communities 

• YPRL has a digitally-literate workforce  

Digital Inclusion Year 2: What We Achieved 

In year 2, significant initiatives included: 

1. Rolling out Digital Mentor training to 19 staff and 8 volunteers under the Be Connected 
program 

2. Delivering 261 hours of Digital Mentorship across a four month period, with 157 people 
signed up as mentees 

3. Launch of the 100 Hotspots program, providing students with no internet at home with a 
wifi dongle to enable access to education and schooling. 

 

Challenges 

The Covid-19 pandemic created severe challenges for YPRL in delivering on the goals of our Digital 

Inclusion strategy. While YPRL successfully moved much of our programming online, it is extremely 

difficult to deliver digital literacy training and mentorship remotely, since some level of proficiency 

with technology is required initially. 
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Though technological assistance is most effective and accessible when delivered in person, to 

continue providing essential digital assistance staff utilised the avenues available to them. Scripts for 

our Caring Calls project included a question about technical assistance, requests for further 

assistance could then be forwarded on to designated staff if required. YPRL also advertised our help 

service and answered questions through our social media channels. 

 

Action Measure Achieved? Review 

Audit of staff time 
providing tech 
assistance 

Audit completed No The plan was to develop and 
deliver an audit as visitation 
returned to pre-2020 levels. 
This has not happened, with 
continuing lockdowns and 
reduced foot traffic. The 
decision was made not to 
proceed with an audit at this 
time. Staff and managers have 
informally monitored changing 
digital needs of the community 
and been able to respond in an 
agile manner: for example 
more help needed with MyGov, 
Service Victoria app and 
vaccination certificate access. 

Digital Mentor 
Program 

1. Train 25 
Digital 
Mentors 

2. Sign up 100 
mentees 
across all 
branches, 
signed up on 
the Be 
Connected 
website. 

Yes 1. 19 staff and 8 volunteers 
were trained as Digital 
Mentors, who then delivered 
one on one sessions with 
mentees right across YPRL. 
2. 157 mentees were signed up 
on the Be Connected website 
between March and July 2021, 
with 261 hours of mentorship 
recorded in that period across 
nine branches 

Develop basic 
guidelines 

Guidelines developed No The Digital Mentor team have 
reviewed and determined that 
flowchart-style guidelines 
would not be useful to staff at 
this time. Instead, the focus has 
been on ensuring staff are 
aware of key eGovernment 
services and the variety of 
guides to their use. 

Develop partnerships 
with U3A, councils 

Three new 
partnerships 
established 

Yes Robust and rewarding 
partnerships are in place with 
U3A, Banyule Carers Network, 
Banyule Young Carers, 
community health, Banyule 
HACC Social Support, 
Whittlesea Community 
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Connections, Nillumbik Probus. 
YPRL is supplying spaces, 
computers, internet, training, 
advertising, while partners or 
volunteers deliver sessions. 

Explore more flexible 
staffing arrangements 
to allow for on-the-
spot learning for 
patrons 

Pilot and assess one 
flexible staffing 
arrangement 

Yes Multiple flexible staffing 
arrangements were trialled to 
meet community needs, 
including having extra staff on 
hand to help with connecting 
vaccine certificates in the 
Service Victoria app 
 

Ensure library 
collections are 
relevant to 
community need 

% of new items loaned 
in the first year of 
purchase – keep at or 
above 95% 

Yes % of new items loaned in the 
first year currently sits at 
96.66%, showing that our 
collections are highly relevant 
to the community. 

Apply for grants and 
EOIs for funding to 
increase capacity and 
deliver programs 

Maintain or increase 
funding for digital 
literacy programs – 
2019 benchmark 
$4,000 

No The $38,500 Be Connected 
grant, awarded in 2020, was 
implemented in 2021 and no 
further grants were sought 
during that implementation 
period.  

Explore and introduce 
innovative program 
models such as Securi-
Tea and Paperwork 
Lounge  

Events and activities 
for adults are valued 
(benchmark: user 
survey rating average 
94.4%) 

Yes Innovative programming has 
been explored and many 
different kinds of online 
programming are being 
delivered, including a Minecraft 
server, coding and tech help via 
Teams.  

Undertake lobbying to 
appropriate bodies to 
make improvements 
to services 

Improved digital 
access and support for 
local residents 

Yes Digital access and support has 
been improved by the 100 
Hotspots program, where 
we’ve partnered with Vodafone 
and Whittle Community 
Connections to provide 
loanable hotspots to families 
with no internet at home and 
thus limited access to online 
education during lockdowns 

Put the user 
experience at the 
front of future ICT 
purchasing decisions 
such as software, 
hardware, website etc 
– ensure purchases 
are reviewed for 
accessibility and ease 

Improved accessibility 
and ease of use of 
YPRL systems and 
software. 

Yes Ongoing user experience 
reviews have led to changes 
with Spydus and our website. 
Accessibility and ease of use 
are a focus for all new 
purchases. 
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of use before 
purchase. 

Create opportunities 
for service providers 
to present in libraries 

Maintain or grow 
attendance at all 
programs 
(benchmark: 207,759) 

No Although attendance hasn’t 
grown, due to Covid, service 
providers run frequent 
programs in our libraries, 
including COTA, council 
agencies, and more. 

Share key information 
from government 
partners about eGov, 
digital literacy, privacy 
and internet safety to 
YPRL audience 
through website, 
social media and in-
branch, such as during 
key national 
campaigns Safer 
Internet Day and 
National Esmart 
Week. 

Increased visitation to 
website and social 
media channels 

Yes eGov and digital literacy 
information is shared regularly 
through our website and social 
media, especially around Covid 
information. Website 
visitations have increased, as 
has social media reach and 
engagement. 

Conduct a survey of 
staff skills 

Survey conducted No The survey was reviewed and 
determined to be an inefficient 
and staff-intensive way of 
collecting the required data; 
managers and senior staff are 
monitoring trends as part of 
routine operations to inform 
services. The pandemic means 
that our visitor numbers have 
been lower than usual and 
services have been disrupted, 
but there has been a sharp 
increase in demand for 
assistance with digital 
government services, especially 
MyGov and Services Victoria. 

Develop and deliver 
training to assist staff 
to increase their 
professional digital 
literacy, confidence, 
and familiarity of 
online spaces. 

Maintain or increase 
staff number of staff 
training hours. 

Yes Staff training has increased, 
with 19 staff training as Digital 
Mentors, and many staff 
undertaking additional training 
during lockdowns. Staff’s digital 
literacy confidence and 
engagement has grown, with 
requests for more staff 
opportunities to deliver STEM 
programs to our communities. 
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Agenda Item 9: Mobile and Outreach Services Review 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Sajeeva Tennekoon, Executive Manager Technology & Assets 

 

Attachments: 9a – YPRL Outreach Services Review - Report December 2021 

9b – YPRL Outreach Services Review - Board Presentation 
220224  

REPORT 

SUMMARY 

This report is for the Board’s consideration and adoption of YPRL’s recommendation of the 

Mobile and Outreach Services Review. 

INTRODUCTION 

YPRL conducted a Request for Quote (RFQ) which closed on the 8th April 2021, to review its 

Mobile Library and Outreach Service delivery to its member councils. The review was to 

make recommendations based on the changing community needs and the individual 

councils' future strategies. Ageing service delivery vehicles and the need to replace them 

was the key contributing factor in conducting this review. 

In July 2021, YPRL engaged I & J Management Services as the preferred candidate from the 

organisations who submitted their proposals. The review was to examine current, global 

and local best practice in mobile and outreach library service delivery and determine: 

• whether these service approaches meet current, developing and future 
community needs 

• whether there are alternative delivery models that meet these needs 

• if these services meet and support the YPRL Library Plan and member Council 
strategies. 

REPORT 

The consultants engaged with each Council’s respective stakeholders, YPRL staff and 

management teams in addition to referencing the customer surveys that have been 

conducted over the period. The COVID scenario made it difficult and impossible to 

undertake significant face to face customer engagements. 

The report is clearly separated into the Mobile Library service and the Outreach service that 

we conduct at the present time. There are clearly varying needs to the communities that 

we service and significant differences in each council area due to their current future 

service delivery strategies.  

The report identifies three distinct future directions for YPRL in delivering services to the 

three councils,  

1. Steady state – Assumes minor changes and continue with Asset replacement as is. 
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2. Transition – Explore new ways and commence the Transition to new ways of 
delivering services. 

3. Transformation – Transform the service with major changes. 

YPRL has reviewed the options provided and considering the individual council’s strategies 

and service needs, is in favour of option 2, where we commence the transition in anticipating 

the City of Whittlesea and City of Banyule infrastructure strategies. 

This will provide continuity of services to those communities that rely on the Mobile Library 

service and who have limited other options, and positions YPRL to transition to the new 

way of working when the time comes. 

Please note that the consultant will be presenting their finding and the detailed report is 

attached for review. 

CONSULTATION 

• City of Whittlesea 

• City of Banyule 

• Nillumbik Shire Council 

• YPRL Mobile and Outreach staff 

• Patrons and Outreach organisations 

CRITICAL DATES 

N/A 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Asset replacement will be funded by the Asset Replacement fund that all member Councils 

have contributed to. 

POLICY STRATEGY AND LEGISLATION 

N/A 

LINKS TO STRATEGIC PLAN 

Strategies:  

• Connection 

• Organisational strength  

Priorities:  

• Create places and spaces for people throughout our communities to connect, 

belong and actively engage with each other. 

• Investment in our staff, capacity, and governance to ensure we are capable and 

ready to adapt, learn and empower our communities in environmentally and 

socially responsible ways. 
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DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Under section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to the 

Library must disclose any interests, including type of interest. 

The Responsible Officer reviewing this report, having made enquiries with the relevant 

members of staff, reports that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this 

report. 

CONCLUSION 

The report and the YPRL preferred transition option provides the best way forward in 

providing services to the community, with the view to transforming the service in the 

future.  

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to ENDORSE the transition of the Mobile and Outreach services 
to Option 2: Transition as outlined in the Mobile and Outreach Services Review Report 

 M:  

 S:  
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Introduction 

1. In July 2021 YPRL engaged I & J Management Services to review YPRL’s mobile library and 
outreach services and to make recommendations for future service delivery to communities with 
limited access to physical library branches. The review was to examine current global and local 
best practice in mobile and outreach library service delivery and determine: 
- whether these service approaches meet current, developing and future community needs 
- whether there are alternative delivery models that meet these needs 
- if these services meet and support the YPRL Library Plan and member Council strategies. 

2. The review occurred within the context of the COVID pandemic and repeated library closures and 
restrictions on access to Victorian library services over the past two years. The findings and 
recommendations recognise the significant and disruptive impact of COVID and where possible 
have taken a multi-year view on underlying levels of service provision, access, uptake and use. 

YPRL’s mobile and outreach services 

3. YPRL is one of Victoria’s largest and leading library services. It consistently performs at or above 
the national public library standards, especially in terms of collection provision, use and turnover 
and having high levels of participation in library programs. YPRL’s mobile and outreach services are 
similarly well-used and efficiently delivered. 

4. YPRL’s mobile and outreach services are currently delivered through: 
- a mobile library vehicle (19m prime mover and customer-built semi-trailer) which makes 14 

stops per week at 13 locations across the three LGAs (10 in Nillumbik, 3 in Whittlesea, 1 in 
Banyule) 

- an outreach vehicle (7.5m custom-fitted truck) which visits 43 retirement villages and 
nursing homes on a 3-week cycle. 

5. The single mobile library service meets different community and Council needs in each LGA. 
- In Nillumbik, especially in smaller rural townships (St Andrews, Christmas Hills, Arthurs 

Creek, Panton Hill, Hurstbridge), the mobile library delivers both service inclusion (in terms 
of providing place-based local services) and social inclusion (in terms of providing a 
gathering point for the community). 

- In Banyule, the mobile library stop at Heidelberg West delivers equity to a disadvantaged 
community, with the hope that this can contribute to increased community capability and 
aspirations. 

- In Whittlesea, the mobile library delivers access by acting as an interim service outlet, 
seeding library use in smaller and greenfields communities until they grow to the point 
where they warrant provision of a static library branch. 

- The mobile library also facilitates improved early year’s literacy outcomes through an 
expanded and targeted approach to engaging local childcare centres, kindergartens and 
schools which offers onsite visits for children and book deliveries at 34 participating centres. 

6. The outreach vehicle’s dual focus is on access to collections – that older persons in nursing homes 
and retirement villages might otherwise find difficult to obtain, due to limited mobility, health 
issues or transport options – and inclusion – through its capacity to create a social gathering point 
which is more than just a book drop-off service. The YPRL service has reach which is above that 
seen in most library services, with dedicated coverage of 60-70% of facilities in the 3 LGAs. 

7. Utilisation levels and customer feedback demonstrate users’ high regard for YPRL’s mobile and 
outreach services and the important contribution they make to improving social connections, 
literacy and reading levels, and mental and emotional wellbeing. 
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- On average the mobile and outreach services have around 3,500 members, host more than 
30,000 visits and make more than 100,000 loans per year. Borrowing rates for the mobile 
library (e.g. loans per member, loans per visit) are 50% higher than the average across the 
YPRL network. 

- Prior to COVID the mobile library had seen increasing membership, up 45% from 2014-15 to 
2018-19 due to increasing population in Doreen and Mernda and targeted engagement of 
childcare centres and kindergartens. This is in contrast to most Victorian mobile library 
services where usage levels have been slowly declining in recent years. 

- Mernda is by far the busiest mobile stop in terms of visits per hour, with Mernda and Epping 
having the most loans per hour. 

Factors influencing future directions 

8. As public library services are volume-driven (i.e. the larger the population the greater the demand) 
the most significant factor influencing the future provision of library services in the 3 LGAs is 
forecast population growth. This will affect decisions on both the library network’s built 
infrastructure and its mobile and outreach services. 

9. In the next 20 years YPRL's regional population will increase by around 185,000. 
- Most of this (69%) will occur in three areas in Whittlesea not currently serviced by a static 

library branch: 

• 85,000 (46%) will be in greenfields developments in Donnybrook and Wollert 

• 28,000 (15%) will be in Epping North and Epping 

• 14,000 (8%) will be in South Morang and Mernda. 
- More than half of the remaining 31% will occur as infill or strategic redevelopments in 

Banyule (Heidelberg, Ivanhoe, Greensborough) and Whittlesea (Thomastown, Lalor, 
Bundoora. 

- Nillumbik's entire Shire population will grow by only 9,500. As a proportion of the total 
regional population Nillumbik will shrink from 16.1% in 2016 to 11.6% in 2041. 

10. A number of other factors have been considered by the review, including: 
- strategic community objectives of each of the member Councils and YPRL (as described in 

their long-term vision, strategic, community wellbeing and asset plans) 
- public library standards, guidelines and conventions 
- new and emerging library service models 
- operational considerations, including staffing needs and the asset replacement schedule for 

the current mobile and outreach vehicles. 

Options and recommendations 

11. The recommended approaches for future mobile and outreach services vary by LGA and service. 
- Nillumbik: With little forecast population growth, like-for-like demographic replacement, 

limited local service infrastructure and no major civic developments in the pipeline, 
continue mobile library services for the foreseeable future, especially to more distant 
townships. Retain and Review. 

- Banyule: Council is committed to exploring options to increase community infrastructure and 
service access in the area within the next 5 years. Continue mobile library service until 
alternative services are established. Replace and Stop. 

- Whittlesea: City’s proposed hub and spoke model has the mobile library complementing 
programs delivered at Community Activity Centres. Given current under-servicing and 
forecast population growth deploy the mobile library in the interim until appropriate library 
infrastructure is established. Seed, Build, repeat. 

- Outreach: Continue service and explore opportunities to increase reach, strengthen 
transparency and standardise operations. Refine and Enhance. 

- Community programming: Continue current early years literacy support through the mobile 
library and expand library programming in the community. Lead. 
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12. While there is considerable uncertainty about the future composition of library infrastructure, the 
following recommendations are made to efficiently enhance, in the short to medium term, mobile 
and outreach services for residents in YPRL’s three LGAs. 

 

Rec M1 That YPRL replace the current mobile library with a custom-built and custom-fitted 
medium rigid truck. 

Rec C1 That YPRL purchase a long wheelbase vehicle to act as a general purpose Community 
Outreach van delivering literacy support and outreach services in community locations. 

Rec N1 That YPRL continue provision of mobile library services in the Shire of Nillumbik for the 
foreseeable future, especially to the more distant townships of St Andrews, Christmas 
Hills, Arthurs Creek and Panton Hill. 

Rec N2 That YPRL and the Shire of Nillumbik explore and trial flexible service models to 
complement the mobile library and increase service access in smaller communities. This 
might involve a mix of unstaffed service points (in community, commercial or purpose-
built facilities, potentially with extended hours access), drop in programming and 
outreach services. 

Rec N3 That longer-term, following consultation with the Shire of Nillumbik and community 
members, and subject to the outcomes of Rec N2, YPRL consider replacing the mobile 
library vehicle with a smaller custom-fitted long wheelbase van which would just service 
the Shire of Nillumbik. 

Rec B1 That YPRL continue to provide a mobile library service in Heidelberg West until 
alternative service access is established. 

Rec B2 That YPRL work closely with the City of Banyule and its community partners in 
development of appropriate service solutions. This may involve some onsite library 
collections and technology access, local program delivery and drop in library 
programming through the outreach vehicle. 

Rec W1 That, until full-service library branches are opened, YPRL and the City of Whittlesea: 

- explore opportunities to increase the number of hours of mobile library service 
provision in Mernda, Doreen and Epping North (e.g. weekend hours) 

- explore and trial flexible service models to complement the mobile library and 
increase service access (e.g. in community or commercial facilities) 

- explore opportunities to increase community programming in activity centres, 
including targeted use of the Community Outreach van. 

Rec W2 That as library branches are opened in Whittlesea YPRL look to replace the mobile 
library with a smaller custom-fitted long wheelbase van (like the proposed outreach 
vehicle) to deliver outreach services (e.g. collections, programs) in emerging population 
areas (e.g. Wollert, Donnybrook). 

Rec O1 That YPRL continue to provide an outreach service to people living in nursing homes, 
retirement villages and other assisted living facilities. 

Rec O2 That YPRL replace the current outreach vehicle with a long wheelbase van that: 

- is more agile and better able to get into and deliver a service to participating 
facilities 

- removes the requirement for the driver to have a heavy vehicle licence 
- is custom-fitted to hold a relevant collection and provide a focal point for gathering 

of library users. 
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Rec O3 That YPRL regularly monitor the number of nursing homes and retirement villages in the 
3 LGAs and ensure that all have the opportunity to participate in the outreach service. 
Facilities that choose not to participate should be re-contacted each year in case 
demand changes. 

Rec O4 That YPRL support facilities with fewer than 5 active library users through an alternative 
book drop or delivery service. 

Rec O5 That YPRL explore options for: 

- using more staff in the provision of the outreach service 
- using the vehicle for other community-based outreach activities on evenings and 

weekends. 

Rec Op1 That YPRL review the standard of facilities at all mobile library stops to ensure that: 

- all sites are safe for library users and mobile library staff (e.g. road surfaces, 
pedestrian areas, electrical connections) 

- signage is accurate, consistent, informative and encourages community access. 

Rec Op2 That as the composition of the mobile and outreach fleet changes, YPRL work with the 3 
LGAs to house and maintain vehicles at Council facilities close to their primary area of 
operation. 

Rec Op3 That YPRL identify and employ, as needed, relief drivers to ensure the mobile library 
trailer is on the road as much as possible. 

Rec Op4 That, as frontline library staff, mobile library and outreach service staff be positioned 
within the Public Participation portfolio. Day-to-day reporting could be through a senior 
branch manager in the relevant location (e.g. Outreach Service staff report to Branch 
Manager, Ivanhoe Library and Community Hub). 
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INTRODUCTION  
Yarra Plenty Regional Library 

Yarra Plenty Regional Library service (YPRL) is a co-operative venture of three northern Melbourne 
metropolitan Councils – Banyule, Nillumbik, and Whittlesea. Together the three Councils cover a large 
geographic area (985 sq km) in the outer north and north-east metropolitan area and comprise a diverse 
range of communities with a combined population of around 420,000. Some areas are of suburban density 
with commercial and retail services the predominant activities, while others encompass rural and remote 
communities. 
 
YPRL is one of Victoria’s leading public library services, serving its population through: 
 
▪ nine library branches 
▪ a ‘click and collect’ service at Hurstbridge Hub 
▪ the library website, the library app and access to downloadable digital resources 
▪ a mobile library, with 14 weekly stops in 13 mostly rural locations 
▪ an outreach vehicle, which visits nursing homes, retirement villages and assisted living 

accommodation facilities on a 3 week cycle. 
 

 

 

Outreach Services Review 

YPRL engaged I & J Management Services to review the library services delivered by the mobile library and 
outreach vehicle and to make recommendations for future service delivery to communities with limited 
access to physical branches. The review was to examine current global and local best practice in mobile 
and outreach library service delivery and determine: 
 
▪ whether these service approaches meet current, developing and future community needs 
▪ whether there are alternative delivery models that meet these needs 
▪ if these services meet and support the YPRL Library Plan and member Council strategies. 
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The review was conducted from July to December 2021. It adopted a layered approach to its research, 
consultation and analysis phases. That is, in examining the concept of ‘current, developing and future 
community needs’ it started by considering relevant regulatory requirements and industry standards, then 
looked at what the respective communities want and expect from their library service, and then what 
library services the three member Councils expect to deliver to their communities through YPRL. 
Therefore, the methodology adopted worked progressively through: 
 
▪ public library standards, guidelines and conventions 
▪ data and evidence on population profile and forecast growth, service provision, service access, 

service utilisation and service efficiency 
▪ understanding of contemporary library practices and emerging service delivery models 
▪ stakeholder views, including those of mobile library and outreach service users, member Councils, 

mobile and outreach staff, and YPRL management 
▪ reflection on future options 
▪ recommendations on what is reasonable, practical and achievable. 
 
The findings from this research and consultation are documented in detail in the accompanying Outreach 
Service Review – Working Notes, October 2021. The analysis, conclusions and recommendations presented 
in this final report are based on these working notes. 
 

COVID 

The YPRL Outreach Services Review is occurring within the context of the COVID pandemic and repeated 
library closures and restrictions on access to Victorian library services. From March 2020 to October 2021 
communities in metropolitan Melbourne have been in lockdown for more than 250 days. During the past 
18 months there have been times when YPRL’s library branches have been closed and the mobile service 
and outreach vehicle have not been running. When branches and the mobile have been open there have 
been restrictions on use and caps on attendance. 
 
YPRL has responded to these challenges by introducing Click and Collect services, home delivery and online 
programming models that enable library users to access the library collection and activities and maintain 
a connection to their library service. 
 
The findings and recommendations from the Outreach Services Review recognise the significant and 
disruptive impact of COVID on service provision, access and use. Where applicable, analysis focuses on use 
of mobile and outreach services prior to March 2020, on the assumption that there will be greater 
similarity between pre-COVID ‘normal’ and post-COVID ‘normal’ than there is between either of these 
times and the past 18 months. 
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PART 1. YPRL’S CURRENT MOBILE AND OUTREACH SERVICE 

1.1. Yarra Plenty Regional Library 

Yarra Plenty Regional Library (YPRL) is Victoria’s third largest library service, serving a regional population 
of 433,000 in 2020-21. YPRL is expected to become the state’s second largest library in the next 3-4 years 
when its population surpasses Eastern Regional Libraries. Casey Cardinia Libraries currently serves a 
population of 480,000. 
 
Under normal ‘non-COVID’ circumstances, YPRL annually has around 3.1M loans, 1.6M branch or mobile 
visits, 1.1M website visits and 200K attendances at more than 7,000 library programs. Approximately 30% 
of the region’s population are library members. These figures have dropped by 50-60% in the past two 
years due to COVID-related closure of public libraries and social distancing requirements, but are expected 
to increase again as the community emerges from COVID lockdowns. 
 
Data from Public Libraries Victoria’s (PLV) Annual Survey of Victorian Public Libraries indicates that among 
the 47 Victorian library services in 2019-20 YPRL had high service and utilisation levels, ranking: 
 
▪ 4th in total opening hours per week 
▪ 4th in number of collection items (2nd for digital items, 4th for physical items) 
▪ 4th in total number of public access devices 
▪ 2nd in total expenditure, 2nd in expenditure on library staff and 1st in expenditure on collections 
▪ 4th in total members and 1st in active borrowers 
▪ 3rd in total library visits 
▪ 2nd in total number of loans and downloads (2nd for physical items, 3rd for digital items) 
▪ 1st in number of attendees at library programs 
▪ 2nd in website visitors. 
 
Operationally, YPRL is a very efficient, good quality library service, ranking: 
 
▪ 2nd on turnover of physical items (loans per item) 
▪ 3rd on loans per staff FTE 
▪ 5th on % of the physical collection purchased in the last 5 years. 
 
Overall, in 2019-20 YPRL operated on total funding of $36.19 per capita, which was the 17th lowest of 
Victoria’s library services. This middle to lower range figure indicates a good level of funding and realisation 
of efficiencies offered through the collabrative regional library corporation (RLC) model. YPRL had one of 
the lowest staffing ratios at 0.22 staff FTE per 1,000 population, consistent with the levels seen at the other 
three large metropolitan RLCs (Whitehorse Manningham 0.22, Casey Cardinia 0.21, Eastern 0.20). 
 

Australian public library standards 

YPRL performs very well against the national public library standards related to collection provision and 
use (based on 2018-19 data, the last year of data unaffected by COVID restrictions). YPRL is well above 
standard on collection expenditure, collection size, physical quality and circulation, and very high on 
turnover. This indicates a high quality well-used community focused library collection. The other area of 
above average performance is in relation to program participation, with YPRL 40% above the national 
standard. 
 
On all other standards, YPRL is at or slightly below the intended level – but never more than 20% from the 
benchmark. This includes indicators related to library funding, staffing, opening hours, membership, 
visitation, technology provision and use and customer satisfaction. 
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Australian standards December 20201 YPRL vs Australian standard 

Library Operations 

S1 Library expenditure per capita $36.37 -19% Median $45 
$36 to $53 

S2A Staff FTE per 3,000 population (minimum) 0.66 -17% 0.8 

S3 Tier 1 Library opening hours 63 +13% 56 

Collections and Services 

S4 Expenditure on library materials per capita $5.59 +24% $4.50 

S5 Collection items per capita 1.0 +20% 0.8 

S6 Age of collection - % purchased in last 5 years 85% +42% 60% 

S7 Public internet workstations per 2,500 population 0.51 -15% 0.6 

Service Use 

S8 Library members as % of population 34% -3% 35% 

S9 Visits to library per capita 3.7 -7% 4.0 

S10 Circulation (loans per capita) 7.4 +23% 6.0 

S11 Turnover of stock (loans per collection item) 8.2 +105% 4.0 

S12 Number of hours of use of public PCs per capita 0.28 -7% 0.30 

S13 Program participation per capita 0.42 +40% 0.30 

S14 % of library users who rate service as ‘good/very good’ 85% -5% 90% 

 

1.2. The 10th branch 

YPRL’s mobile library and outreach service can be considered the 10th ‘branch’ in the YPRL network, just 
as the elibrary and access to digital collections can be considered YPRL’s 11th or ‘virtual’ branch. 
 

Membership 

The mobile and outreach services have combined membership of around 3,000 to 4,000 people. 
Membership of the mobile service increased in 2020-21 as people chose to join and use this service rather 
than the library branches. In 2020-21, for the first time, the mobile library’s membership (3,168) exceeded 
that of the Whittlesea branch (2,778). 2020-21 also saw a large increase in online memberships through 
which members can access ebooks and other eresources (membership is recorded against YPRL HQ). 
 

Library membership by branch 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Banyule (3): Ivanhoe, Rosanna, Watsonia 39,525 40,470 32,499 32,335 

Niillumbik (2): Diamond Valley, Eltham 32,319 32,673 26,774 25,428 

Whittlesea (4): Lalor, Mill Park, 
Thomastown, Whittlesea 

58,814 59,603 47,363 45,410 

Mobile  2,006   2,277   2,034   3,168  

Outreach  907   1,033   720   746  

YPRL HQ (incl. online memberships)  4,292   5,435   8,990   13,763  

Home library  120   108   63   49  

Total  137,983   141,599   118,443   120,899  

% of total     

Banyule 28.6% 28.6% 27.4% 26.7% 

Nillumbik 23.4% 23.1% 22.6% 21.0% 

Whittlesea 42.6% 42.1% 40.0% 37.6% 

Mobile and Outreach 2.1% 2.3% 2.3% 3.2% 

Other (YPRL HQ/Home Library) 3.2% 3.9% 7.6% 11.4% 

 

                                                      
1 Standards and Guidelines for Australian Public Libraries, APLA/ALIA, 2020. 
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Library visits 

Visits to the mobile library increased from 21,131 in 2017-18 to more than 35,000 in 2018-19 due to 
increased community engagement (see Section 1.3). While total visitation to the mobile dropped off in 
2019-20 and 2020-21 due to COVID-related closures, visits to the mobile library increased as a proportion 
of total YPRL visits – from 1.3% in 2017-18 up to 3.4% in 2020-21. This is likely to be a factor of both 
people’s reluctance to visit highly attended branch libraries and a heightened sense of relative COVID 
safety in the smaller mobile setting. 
 

Library visits by branch 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Banyule (3): Ivanhoe, Rosanna, Watsonia  501,185   490,321   375,393   196,200  

Niillumbik (2): Diamond Valley, Eltham  373,472   377,248   269,105   126,357  

Whittlesea (4): Lalor, Mill Park, 
Thomastown, Whittlesea 

 689,305   653,758   477,584   214,778  

Mobile 21,131 35,044 25,058 18,880 

Total 1,585,093 1,556,371 1,147,140 556,215 

% of total     

Banyule 31.6% 31.5% 32.7% 35.3% 

Nillumbik 23.6% 24.2% 23.5% 22.7% 

Whittlesea 43.5% 42.0% 41.6% 38.6% 

Mobile 1.3% 2.3% 2.2% 3.4% 

 
Due to COVID restrictions the mobile and outreach services were shut down from: 
 
▪ 20 March to 29 June 2020 (inclusive) … 14.5 weeks 
▪ 9 July 2020 to 26 January 2021 (inclusive) … 29 weeks 
▪ 31 May 2021 to 30 June 2021 (inclusive) … 4.5 weeks. 
 

Loans 

Despite the introduction of click and collect and other delivery models, the volume of llbrary loans in all 
Victorian library services has been massively hit COVID closures. Loans from branches in 2020-21 were 
62% down on the 2017-18 total. However, loans of digital resources increased significantly from around 
6% of total loans in 2017-18 and 2018-19 to nearly 20% in 2020-21. 
 

Library loans by branch 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Banyule (3): Ivanhoe, Rosanna, Watsonia  1,113,857   1,073,086   842,130   377,792  

Niillumbik (2): Diamond Valley, Eltham  838,285   790,353   615,321   258,045  

Whittlesea (4): Lalor, Mill Park, 
Thomastown, Whittlesea 

 1,003,323   908,865   732,363   500,188  

Mobile  63,236   102,118   73,605   35,475  

Outreach  22,143   22,179   17,247   8,726  

eLibrary  195,805   138,335   182,007   295,103  

Other (YPRL HQ/Home Library)  537   69,038   11,240   134,022  

Total 3,237,186 3,103,974 2,473,913 1,609,351 

% of total     

Banyule 34.4% 34.6% 34.0% 23.5% 

Nillumbik 25.9% 25.5% 24.9% 16.0% 

Whittlesea 31.0% 29.3% 29.6% 31.1% 

Mobile and Outreach 2.6% 4.0% 3.7% 2.7% 

eLibrary 6.0% 4.5% 7.4% 18.3% 

Other (YPRL HQ/Home Library) 0.0% 2.2% 0.5% 8.3% 
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In addition to growing its share of membership and visits over the past few years, the mobile library service 
also has the highest ratio of loans per member and loans per visit across the YPRL network. Pre-COVID, 
from 2017-18 to 2019-20, the mobile library consistently had the highest loan ratios. 
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1.3. Mobile library service 

YPRL’s mobile library service provides local access to library collections and services for people living in 
communities with limited access to physical branches (predominantly remote and rural communities). 
 
The Mobile Library (ML) is operated via a 6-wheel 3-axle 19-metre prime mover and trailer. The library 
trailer houses 15,000 items, including books, DVDs, magazines, audiobooks and large print publications. 
On-board facilities include two public computers with internet access, wifi and a dedicated children’s area. 
The ML has capacity for approximately 30 visitors on board at any time (non-COVID), as well as an external 
awning. In addition to their desk space, the two staff have a small secure area in the main trailer. 
 

 
 
A leased VW Caddy Van is used to carry stock to and from the ML when required and operates as a shuttle 
service alongside the mobile. Both the ML and Caddy Van are housed at the City of Whittlesea’s Epping 
Works Depot when not in use. 
 

Schedule 

In its weekly timetable the ML makes 14 stops at 13 locations between 9am and 8.30pm Monday to Friday. 
The Shire of Nillumbik has 10 stops at 9 locations, City of Whittlesea 3 stops and City of Banyule one stop. 
 

Mobile stop  9  10  11  12  1  2  3  4  5  6  7  8 

Monday                         
Epping W 9-12                  

Doreen W         1-2.30             

Mernda W             3-4          

Tuesday                         

Panton Hill N    10.30-12.30                 

St Andrews N           2-4.30         

Hurstbridge N                   6-8.15 

Wednesday                         

North Warrandyte N   10-12                  

Kangaroo Ground N        12.30-2.30             

Diamond Creek N             3-5        

Thursday                         

Arthurs Creek N  9.45-12                  

Yarrambat N           2-5        

Diamond Creek N                    6.30-8.30 

Friday                         

Heidelberg West B 9-12                  

Christmas Hills N           2-4          
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The schedule of mobile stops has remained fairly stable over the past 15 years. Mernda and Doreen were 
added to the schedule between 2008 and 2010 as major residential development began to occur and the 
population in these townships began to grow. With the opening of the new library branch in Whittlesea in 
2014, the City of Whittlesea replaced the mobile stop at Whittlesea with one at Epping. 
 

Mobile library and outreach service – trends 

In 2020-21 the mobile library had 3,168 active (borrowing) members. This was a significant increase in the 
2019-20 figure of 2,034, driven by increased use of the mobile during COVID closures. 
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Historically, membership of the mobile library has seen major step changes related to cleansing of the 
membership database and changing definitions – an active member is now someone who has borrowed 
an item during the past 12 months. Prior to COVID the mobile library had seen steadily increasing 
membership, up 45% in four years from 1,572 in 2014-15 to 2,277 in 2018-19. This was due to an increasing 
population in Doreen and Mernda and targeted engagement of childcare centres and kindergartens. 
 
Annual visits to the mobile were around 35-40,000 from 2006-07 to 2008-09, but declined slowly over the 
next eight years. Annual loan numbers also declined over this period. Visits and loans started to pick up 
again from 2017-18, with more than 60% growth in both visits and loans in 2018-19 (the last full year prior 
to COVID closures). On the figures to 16 March 2020, immediately prior to the first COVID lockdowns in 
Victoria, the mobile was on track to record further increases in total visits and loans in 2019-20. 
 

 
 

Mobile library visits by location 

Mobile library data from July 2018 to June 2021 illustrates the changes in use of the mobile library over 
that time, as well as differences between the average number of visits at each location. Epping (at Galada), 
Panton Hill and Mernda are the busiest stops in terms of the total number of people who visit the mobile 
library (average 83-90 visits per week). However, Mernda is open for only one hour per week, and is 
therefore by far the busiest stop in terms of visits per hour – around 3-4 times the rate seen at most stops. 
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In this three year period four stops had peak visitor numbers over 100 per stop (Kangaroo Ground, Epping, 
Panton Hill and Mernda), with five having fewer than 20 customers at least once. At most stops the average 
door count numbers were fairly consistent over time. 
 

Day* Location Scheduled Customer visits Stop Visits 

  stops 
(max 157) 

Max. Min. Average duration 
(hrs) 

per 
hour 

Mon Epping 87 140 50 90 3 29.9 

Mon Doreen 87 82 28 53 1.5 35.4 

Mon Mernda 86 120 30 83 1 83.2 

Tue Panton Hill 92 135 25 89 2 44.6 

Tue St Andrews 92 73 25 59 2.5 23.4 

Tue Hurstbridge 91 92 44 70 2.25 31.0 

Wed North Warrandyte 96 68 19 42 2 21.0 

Wed Kangaroo Ground 96 145 15 67 2 33.6 

Wed Diamond Creek 96 67 22 49 2 24.7 

Thu Arthurs Creek 96 76 10 54 2.25 24.2 

Thu Yarrambat 95 90 12 55 3 18.3 

Thu Diamond Creek 95 69 28 46 2 22.9 

Fri Heidelberg West 92 85 32 65 3 21.7 

Fri Christmas Hills 92 65 13 40 2 20.2 

Total  1,263 145 10 61 30.5 28.1 
Note: From a maximum of 157 possible weeks, COVID closures took around 50 weeks off the mobile schedule. 
* For this analysis, the visitation data for the 7 days from 30 June 2020 to 8 July 2020 between lengthy Lockdowns 1 
and 2 have been excluded. The visit numbers on these days were around one-third of usual visit numbers. 

 
With average visits at most stops around 20-30 per hour, a visit time of around 5 minutes means that at 
any one time there would be 2-3 customers on the mobile. 
 
Average visit levels increased at all stops in 2021. From an overall average of 788 visits per week in the two 
pre-COVID years from July 2018 to June 2020, average attendance during the four months of opening from 
late January 2021 to end May 2021 increased by 47% to 1,156 per week. This indicated growth from a pre-
COVID 26 visits per hour across the mobile network to 38 visits per hour when the mobile opened up in 
January 2021. Visits to the mobile at Kangaroo Ground, for example, more than doubled from 29 to 61 per 
hour. Mernda increased 42% from 77 to 110 visits per hour – averaging a visitor every 30 seconds. 
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Loans by mobile location 

Note: Due to changes in YPRL systems in 2020 and intermittent COVID shutdowns from March 2020 to August 2021 
there is no consistent longitudinal data on reservations, loans, renewals and returns by mobile stop. Therefore, the 
following analysis uses the best data available, recognising that it is not indicative of ‘normal’ or ‘full year’ use of the 
mobile library. However, it is assumed that the relativities between stops have not been significantly influenced by 
the data constraints. 

 
In terms of the volume of mobile library loans: 
 
▪ the Whittlesea stops have the highest (Epping) and the lowest number of loans (Mernda, Doreen) 
▪ the one Banyule stop has a relatively high number of loans 
▪ the number of loans across the mobile network is well-spread, from a maximum of 10.6% of the 

total at Epping down to 3.2% at Doreen 
▪ renewals are 3.5% of original issues, which is a relatively low renewal rate 
▪ returns are 86% of original issues, meaning that 14% of items are returned to branches (indicating 

cross-network usage). 
 

Mobile stop 
2020-21 

LGA Original 
issues 

Renewals Total 
loans 

% mobile 
loans 

Returns Loans 
per hour 

Epping W 3,638 122 3,760 10.6% 4,053 90 

Arthurs Creek N 3,086 130 3,216 9.1% 2,781 84 

Heidelberg West B 2,855 9 2,864 8.1% 2,029 53 

Diamond Creek N 2,705 77 2,782 7.8% 3,687 41 

Christmas Hills N 2,661 11 2,672 7.5% 2,170 74 

Yarrambat N 2,445 77 2,522 7.1% 1,291 49 

Panton Hill N 2,504 8 2,512 7.1% 1,806 79 

Kangaroo Ground N 1,986 22 2,008 5.7% 1,095 59 

St Andrews N 1,960 23 1,983 5.6% 1,576 50 

North Warrandyte N 1,537 27 1,564 4.4% 1,441 46 

Hurstbridge N 1,519 19 1,538 4.3% 1,890 43 

Mernda W 1,255 80 1,335 3.8% 498 95 

Doreen W 1,146 6 1,152 3.2% 816 55 

Other - 4,988 588 5,576 15.7% 4,202 - 

Mobile total  34,285 1,199 35,484 100% 29,335  60 

 
However, the picture looks quite different when it comes to total loans per opening hour. This takes 
account of the fact that Diamond Creek has two 2-hour stops on the weekly schedule while Mernda has 
only one hour. The mobile library was operating for around 17 weeks during 2020-21, with fewer Monday 
stops due to public holidays meaning that there was less presence at the Whittlesea locations. Despite (or 
because of) this, the two stops with the highest number of loans per hour are both in Whittlesea. 
 
Mernda averaged 95 loans per hour (on top of its 110 visits per hour) and Epping had 90 loans per hour. 
This suggests that these locations may merit longer or multiple stops, although this could have the effect 
of spreading borrowing across a longer time period and may not attract additional customers. Arthurs 
Creek (84), Panton Hill (79) and Christmas Hills (74) also had relatively high numbers of loans her hour. The 
remaining eight stops had between 59 and 41 loans per hour. Diamond Creek having the lowest loan rate 
calls into question the value of having two stops there during the week. Clearly the afternoon and evening 
spots increase access for different users, but this same argument could also be applied to other locations. 
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There is also data which indicates that in the period from January to August 2021 around 11% of the 35,000 
loans from the mobile library were reserved items – where in effect the mobile is operating as a book 
delivery service. At most stops this figure ranged between 8% and 13%, with higher figures at Hurstbridge 
(30%), Diamond Creek (18%) and Heidelberg West (17%), and lower figures at Christmas Hills (3%) and 
Kangaroo Ground (6%). This indicates that there is a high level of browsing of the mobile library collection. 
 

Industry trends in mobile library use 

In terms of visits, YPRL has the second largest mobile library service in Victoria behind Casey-Cardinia, 
which has around 50,000 visits per non-COVID year. Prior to 2018-19 YPRL sat among a group of mobile 
services with around 20,000 visits per annum (e.g. Geelong, West Gippsland, Hume, Mornington 
Peninsula). However the significant growth in use in YPRL in 2018-19, which was sustained in the first nine 
months of 2019-20 (pre-COVID), has now put YPRL in a clear second place (in volume terms). 
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Library service Mobiles 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 % 16-17 
to 18-19 

Casey-Cardinia 1       56,890  53,960 50,135 33,951 - 12% 

Yarra Plenty 1 15,499 21,131 35,044 25,058 + 126% 

Geelong 2       26,089  26,339 23,235 17,374 - 11% 

West Gippsland 2       23,901  23,607 23,699 16,074 - 1% 

Central Highlands 6       15,190  17,733 21,583 13,942 + 42% 

Mornington Peninsula 1       24,190  18,759 19,486 12,655 - 19% 

Swan Hill 1       13,972  12,307 10,363 7,235 - 26% 

Hume 1       37,351  22,308 14,788 7,218 - 60% 

Eastern 2       11,473  10,412 9,333 5,485 - 19% 

Other (8-9 services) 12 31,554 24,256 23,797 18,229 - 25% 

Total 29 256,109 230,812 231,463 157,221 - 10% 

 
From 2016-17 to 2018-19 total visits to Victorian mobile libraries decreased by an average of 10% (from 
256,000 to 231,000). In this time only two mobile libraries experienced growth in visitation – YPRL +126% 
and Central Highlands + 42%. 
 

Mobile library operations 

Running costs 

The major capital costs of the mobile library are split between the prime mover and the trailer. Total 
replacement of a large fully equipped mobile library vehicle is now in the order of $1M. In broad terms the 
total cost of providing and running the mobile library is estimated in the order of $360,000 per year. 
 

Item Amount Note 

Capital cost 

Prime mover $225,000 Purchased 2019 

Mobile trailer $395,000 Purchased 2006 

Collection $117,000 Current (depreciated) book value 
~ 15,000 items are part of the wider YPRL collection 

Annual operating cost 

Staffing $186,000 ~ 2.2 FTE 

Vehicle maintenance $30,000 Includes fuel 

VW Caddy Van lease $12,000  

Sub-total $228,000  

Estimated annual cost 

Vehicle $80,000 Estimated annual commitment to allow for 10-year 
replacement of both the prime mover and trailer 

Collection $50,000 Estimated annual commitment assuming write-off over 
5 years  

Running costs $228,000 See above 
Caddy Van assumed as essential to mobile operation 

Total (approx.) $358,000  

 
The YPRL Regional Library Agreement apportions costs for running the mobile library between the Councils 
on the basis of the number of hours of service in each municipality. When the current cost apportionment 
model was developed in 2015 the estimated annual operating cost of $395,000 (including salaries, asset 
replacement, shares of the collections/computer/organisational development budgets and maintenance 
and fittings) was split between the Councils as Nillumbik 69%, Whittlesea 21% and Banyule 10%. 
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With the current mobile library schedule of 30.5 hours per week over 14 stops at 13 locations, the cost 
apportionment would be Nillumbik 72%, Whittlesea 18% and Banyule 10%. 
 
Cost comparisons 

Calculating accurate library servicing costs requires detailed knowledge of all aspects of library service 
provision and finances. The following analysis is VERY BASIC and INDICATIVE ONLY. 
 
▪ Total YPRL expenditure figures include all central library management and overhead costs while 

the mobile figures do not. 
▪ Mobile library costs include estimates for capital replacement. YPRL costs do not include the cost 

of providing branch infrastructure. 
▪ Total YPRL figures include mobile library costs, so this is not a comparison of mobile vs branch 

network costs. 
▪ There is a flawed logic in calculating aggregate cost per visit or cost per loan figures as each 

calculation assumes that the visit or loan is the only output from the library service, when in fact 
loans, visits, program attendance, technology use, etc. are all valid outputs, and library users 
realise different reading, wellbeing, educational and social benefits from their library use. 

 

2018-19 YPRL Mobile library 

Total expenditure $15,202,000 $360,000 

Total visits 1,556,371 35,044 

Total loans (physical) 2,965,369 102,118 
   

Cost per visit $9.78 $10.27 

Cost per loan $5.13 $3.53 

Loans per visits 1.9 2.9 

 
Recognising the limitations of this rudimentary analysis there are two key points. 
 
▪ Cost per visit to the mobile is of a similar order of magnitude to YPRL’s average cost per visit. 
▪ Cost per loan on the mobile is lower than the YPRL average. This probably reflects the fact that the 

mobile library primarily offers a collection service, whereas some branch library customers are not 
interested in borrowing and are using the static library for other purposes such as attending 
programs, work and study, and accessing computers. Consequently, the loan per visit ratio on the 
mobile (2.9) is much higher than the network average (1.9). 

 
Mobile library operations 

In considering the operation of the mobile library service, discussions with the mobile library staff and 
review of a report they produced for YPRL management in 2019 have highlighted the following points. 
 

Staffing ▪ Two staff are required to operate the mobile library. Back up is required to cover 
annual leave, sick leave, professional development, etc. 
- Shifts are spread on the two days with evening stops (i.e. Tuesday and 

Thursday), with an overlap during the middle of the day. 
▪ Essential employment condition is heavy vehicle licence. Customer service skills 

and library experience are desirable skills. All current staff have relevant licences. 
▪ Key staff responsibilities are: 

- mobile operations (including driving, cleaning and managing the maintenance 
of the truck) 

- customer service 
- general library and collection responsibilities. 
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Stops ▪ Given its size and handling, the mobile library has limited parking options. As far 
as possible it is parked in a central location, close to schools, shops or community 
centres. Safe customer access onto the mobile vehicle is also a consideration. 

▪ An audit of the mobile stops has identified the need for Councils to undertake 
targeted maintenance of: 
- parking surfaces, kerbs, intruding or overhanging vegetation 
- power sources (installation and/or repair) 
- street parking signage (to ensure the parking space is correctly marked and 

accessible for the vehicle during advertised opening times – including set-up 
and take-down) 

- library signage (to standardise messaging and promote the presence of the 
library and opening hours).  

Schedule ▪ In 2019 mobile staff recommended changes to opening hours at most library 
stops. The recommendations for more/fewer/alternate hours aimed to: 
- increase opening and access at high traffic stops 
- provide for more time-efficient movement of the vehicle between stops and 

to/from the overnight depot at Epping 
- allow for stops in two different locations in Diamond Creek 
- accommodate an additional stop at the Orchard Rd Community and Early 

Learning Centre in Doreen South. 

Depot ▪ In 2019 mobile staff suggested alternate locations for the mobile library vehicle 
that could provide the same level of maintance support but reduce travel 
distances and times, leading to savings in running costs and engine wear. 

 Depot Annual km travelled 
from depot 

Annual engine hours 
(drive time) 

 Current: Whittlesea Depot, Epping 15,528 330 

 Alternate 1: Nillumbik Depot, Plenty 12,422 

-3,106 km, -20% 

254 

-76 hrs, -23% 

 Alternate 2: Panorama Coaches 
(private facility), Diamond Creek  

11,496 

-4,032 km, -26% 

233 

-97 hrs, -29% 

COVID ▪ The mobile library ceased operations during COVID lockdowns. It did not run 
from 20 March to 29 June 2020. Having re-opened for 7 days, it closed again 
from 9 July 2020 to 27 January 2021. From 31 May 2021 the mobile has been in 
lockdown or open for Click and Collect only at Diamond Creek. 

 

1.4. Additional early years’ literacy support 

Mobile staff use the VW Caddy Van to deliver books to 34 childcare centres, kindergartens and schools 
along the mobile route (see Appendix 2). This supports a range of YPRL’s outreach objectives and targeted 
early years’ literacy outcomes. 
 
▪ Participating centres get access to current book stock that staff can read to children, encouraging 

enjoyment in reading. (It is reported that where centres do have reading material this is typically 
limited in volume and not recently published). 

▪ Some young children visit the mobile and become familiar with the working of a public library 
service (as well as learning the ‘rules’ of small walking excursions). Through these visits parents 
also become aware of the mobile library and library services. 

▪ Some young children are registered as library members and learn about borrowing benefits, rights 
and responsbilities (and potentially continue that membership as they grow older). 

▪ The service gets books into these early years’ facilities, and in some cases it gets books into homes. 
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Visits to the mobile library and/or collection of boxes of selected books (approx. 30 items per box) occur 
in one or a combination of three ways. 
 
1. The mobile library’s scheduled stop is near the centre or school and children are brought to the 

mobile to see the collection and/or select reading material (see ‘V’ for visit in following table). This 
attendance contributes to increased visit numbers and borrowing. 

2. A centre staff member collects a box of books from the mobile library when the mobile is in town 
(‘M’ for mobile). In three facilities (Galada Kindergarten, Mernda ELC, Arthurs Creek PS) there are 
both visits to the mobile library and a book drop off. 

3. A mobile staff member shuttles a box of books from the mobile to the facility along the mobile 
library route (‘D’ for delivery). 

 

 Banyule Nillumbik Whittlesea Total 

EY Facilities V M D V M D V M D V M D 

Childcare - - - - 3 2 3 - 4 3 3 6 

Kinder - 1 - - 6 1 1 - - 1 7 1 

School - 1 - 9 - - 1 - 2 10 1 2 

Total - 2 - 9 9 3 5 - 6 14 11 9 

LGA total 2 21 11 34 
     

Boxes / month V M D V M D V M D V M D 

Childcare - - - - 5 4 6 - 8 6 5 12 

Kinder - 2 - - 14 2 6 - - 6 16 2 

School - 4 - 40 - - 8 - 7 48 4 7 

Total - 6 - 40 19 6 20 - 15 60 25 21 

LGA total 6 65 35 106 
V = Visit to the mobile. M = Mobile drops off books to the centre. D = Caddy van delivers books to the centre. 

 
The current schedule would in non-COVID times see around 106 boxes of books per month borrowed by 
childcare centres, kindergartens and schools. With an average of around 30 books per box this represents 
more than 3,000 loans per month and approximately 30,000 loans per year. In a ‘normal’ year (102,118 
loans in 2018-19) this could represent up to one-third of total borrowing from the mobile library. 
 
The distribution of visits/deliveries to early years’ centres and schools and boxes borrowed by LGA is 
broadly in line with the distribution of mobile stops and borrowing across the network. That is, mostly in 
Nillumbik, some high volume stops in Whittlesea, and just a couple in Banyule. 
 

 Banyule Nillumbik Whittlesea Total 

Mobile locations 1 9 3 13 

Early years’ facilities 2 21 11 34 

Boxes per month 6 65 35 106 
     

Mobile locations 8% 69% 23% 100% 

Early years’ facilities 6% 62% 32% 100% 

Boxes per month 6% 61% 33% 100% 

 
The data on the total number of visits and loans to each of the mobile stops is influenced by: i) the number 
of stops where boxes of books are delivered to early years’ settings and schools; and ii) where children 
come on to the mobile vehicle to browse (and borrow from) the collection.  
 
Few other Australian library services are known to operate early years’ literacy outreach support to the 
extent of that offered through the YPRL mobile. Eastern Regional Libraries has a mobile literacy officer and 
the City of Charles Sturt library service invites schools and kindergartens to be included on their visit 
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schedule. Most mobile library services stop near schools or community centres as these are accessible 
gathering points where there may be a keen audience, but they do not necessarily target engagement with 
early years’ facilities in the surrounding areas. Eastern Regional Libraries, for example, has the Knox Mobile 
Library vehicle (equivalent in size to the YRPL outreach vehicle) which visits aged care facilities, industrial 
estates, schools and community centres as part of its normal schedule. 
 

1.5. Outreach service 

YPRL’s Outreach Vehicle (OV) provides access to library collections for residents of aged care facilities and 
retirement villages who (in most cases) have limited access to physical branches. 
 
The Outreach Vehicle is a 7.5-metre-long Isuzu NQR 450 
Long truck. It houses 2,600 items including large print 
books, DVDs, magazines and audiobooks. Facilities 
include public wifi, 240v power via an onboard generator, 
wheelchair access via lift and stairs, and a Reverse Cycle 
Air Conditioning unit for heating and cooling. When not 
in use the OV is housed at the City of Banyule Depot. 
 
The OV is designed for ambulatory people who are not 
able to visit their local branch library but who are able to 
choose their own library materials. The OV has rear steps 
and a wheelchair lift that aids people with walking 
frames and mobility issues. 
 

Outreach service schedule 

The OV currently visits 43 nursing homes, retirement villages and assisted living accommodation facilities 
on a 3-week cycle. Retirement villages (RV) typically provide independent living facilities for people aged 
55 years and above (more often 70 years and above). They tend to have more residents than nursing 
homes or aged care facilities, and their residents are more mobile with fewer care needs. Nursing homes 
(NH) typically have fewer residents, but those residents have higher personal and health care needs. 
Nursing home operations are regulated by the Commonwealth government. 
 
The OV does not operate on Mondays, which allows for regular upkeep and maintenance. The schedule 
has four rounds from Tuesday to Friday over three weeks, with stops occurring between 9am and 5pm. 
The OV schedule (see Appendix 1) currently has 19 stops in Banyule, 15 in Whittlesea and 9 in Nillumbik. 
 

Facility Banyule Nillumbik Whittlesea Total 

Retirement Village (RV) 3 5 6 14 

Nursing Home (NH) 12 3 8 23 

Both RV and NH (RVNH) 2 1 1 4 

Other 2 - - 2 

Total 19 9 15 43 

 

Membership and loans 

At June 2021 the outreach van had 746 members, down from a maximum of 1,033 in 2018-19. The number 
of members can be fluid: 
 
▪ as facilities are added to or deleted from the schedule 
▪ as facilities vary between individual borrowing and collective borrowing 
▪ as residents at each facility sign up or cease borrowing 
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▪ as infirm or aged residents leave the facility (e.g. for higher care options) or pass away. 
 

As at August 2021 the total number of library members served by the outreach van was recorded as 697. 
This ranged from a high of 107 members for the three facilities on Round 11 to only 31 members at the 
four facilities on Round 12. Four rounds have average members per facility above 20 while two rounds 
have fewer than 10 members per facility. 
 

Round Week / Day Location Number of 
facilities 

Number of 
members 

Average 
members 

1 Wk 1 / Tue Whittlesea 4 44 11 

2 Wk 1 / Wed Nillumbik / Banyule 3 53 18 

3 Wk 1 / Thu Banyule 3 63 21 

4 Wk 1 / Fri Banyule 3 51 17 

5 Wk 2 / Tue Banyule / Whittlesea 3 90 30 

6 Wk 2 / Wed Whittlesea 4 62 16 

7 Wk 2 / Thu Banyule / Nillumbik 3 39 13 

8 Wk 2 / Fri Nillumbik 4 40 10 

9 Wk 3 / Tue Banyule 5 35 7 

10 Wk 3 / Wed Whittlesea 4 82 21 

11 Wk 3 / Thu Whittlesea 3 107 36 

12 Wk 3 / Fri Nillumbik / Banyule 4 31 8 

Total   43 697 16 

 
On average, the facilities in Whittlesea have higher membership numbers than those in Nillumbik and (to 
a lesser extent) Banyule. Retirement villages have higher membership numbers than nursing homes. 
 

Facility Facilities Members Average members 
per facility 

Total 43 697 16 
    

Banyule 19 305 16 

Nillumbik 9 97 11 

Whittlesea 15 295 20 
    

Retirement Villages 14 363 26 

Nursing Homes 23 214 9 

Retriement Villages + Nursing Home 4 114 29 

Other facility 2 6 3 

 
The current Rounds Manual, which records specific instructions on servicing each facility, indicates that 
the highest number of library members (more than 40) are at: 
 
▪ 65 … Bundoora Retirement Village (Rd 5, Banyule) 
▪ 55 … Plenty Valley Retirement Village, Epping (Rd 10, Whittlesea) 
▪ 52 … Arilla Retirement Village, South Morang (Rd 11, Whittlesea) 
▪ 46 … Mernda Retirement Village (Rd 11, Whittlesea) 
▪ 42 … Lifestyle Lyndarum, Wollert (Rd 6, Whittlesea). 
 
Conversely, 10 facilities currently have fewer than five active members. Seven of these facilities are in 
Banyule, two in Nillumbik and one in Whittlesea. 
 
Pre-COVID the outreach vehicle was generating around 22,000 loans per year, or 0.7% of total YPRL loans. 
On average, each registered member borrows around one item every two weeks, which represents around 
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1.5 items per 3-weekly round. In practice, borrowing rate is slightly greater than this as ‘active’ members 
may not have been borrowing for the full year (e.g. new residents who take up membership mid year, 
residents who pass away during the year). This borrowing rate is lower then the 30-40 items per year for 
members of the mobile library. 
 

Indicator 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Outreach members  907   1,033   720   746  

Outreach loans  22,143   22,179   17,247   8,726  

Loans per member 24.4  21.5 24.0 11.7 
COVID note Reported figures are … ~ 75% of full year ~ 50% of full year 

 

Outreach service operations 

Running costs 

In broad terms the total cost of running the outreach van is in the order of $130,000 per year. 
 

Item Amount Note 

Capital cost 

Outreach van $215,000 Purchased 2005 

Collection - ~ 2,600 items are part of the wider YPRL collection 

Annual operating cost 

Staffing $75,000 ~ 0.8 FTE 

Vehicle maintenance $15,000 Includes fuel 

Sub-total $90,000  

Estimated annual cost 

Vehicle $30,000 Estimated annual commitment to allow for 10-year 
replacement of the outreach van 

Collection $10,000 Estimated annual cost assuming write-off over 5 years  

Running costs $90,000 See above 

Total (approx.) $130,000  

 
The YPRL Regional Library Agreement apportions costs for running the outreach vehicle between the three 
Councils on the basis of the number of sites visited in each municipality. When the current cost 
apportionment model was developed in 2015 the estimated annual operating cost of $126,000 was split 
between the Councils as Banyule 56%, Whittlesea 34% and Nillumbik 10%. 
 
With the current schedule of 43 stops, the cost apportionment would be Banyule 44%, Whittlesea 35% 
and Nillumbik 21%. 
 
On a very basic assessment (see also comments in Section 1.4 on costing of mobile library services), the 
average cost per loan for the outreach van of approximately $5.86 is higher than the YPRL average and 
much higher than for the mobile library. This is probably due to the lower number of users at each RV and 
NH. However, a cost per loan of $5.86 is by industry standards quite reasonable, with the Victorian average 
for 2018-19 across all library services and all service delivery modes being $6.37. 
 

2018-19 YPRL Mobile library Outreach van 

Total expenditure $15,202,000 $360,000 $130,000 

Total loans (physical) 2,965,369 102,118 22,179 

Cost per loan $5.13 $3.53 $5.86 

 



Yarra Plenty Regional Library 
Outreach Services Review 

I & J Management Services 

 

 

 Final Report, December 2021  Page 26 
 

Outreach service operations 

Discussions with outreach staff and telephone interviews with primary contacts at a sample of facilities 
have highlighted the following operational points of interest. 
 

Staffing ▪ One Band 5 staff member runs the outreach vehicle. They use Monday for 
administrative tasks and book selection, and are then on the road for rounds 
from Tuesday to Friday. 

▪ A relief driver is used when required. 
▪ Key staff responsibilities are: 

- outreach operations (including driving, cleaning and managing the 
maintenance of the truck) 

- customer service duties 
- general library and collection responsibilities. 

COVID ▪ COVID presents a heightened risk for people living in aged care facilities and 
retirement villages, due to their age profile and, in some cases, co-morbidities. 
Several facilities have temporarily suspended visits from the outreach van to 
reduce the risk of exposure. Social distancing measures are also in place. 

Nursing 
Homes 

▪ The OV operates slightly differently between nursing homes and retirement 
villages. At nursing homes: 
- the primary contact is likely to be an employee, usually the Lifestyle 

Coordinator or Centre Manager 
- residents are older (i.e. 80 years+), less mobile and have more complex care 

needs 
- residents may come on to the vehicle, although there is more likely to be a 

book drop or the primary contact browsing and selecting books, in either 
case based on each customers’ known interests 

- there is high borrowing of large print books, mainly fiction 
- any in-house ‘library’ at the home is usually made up of items donated by 

residents’ families or discards and is not well-suited to the current reading 
interests and needs of borrowers 

- most customers were library members prior to entering the home 
- regular communication with and promotion to the home is important as 

there is high turnover of both residents and staff (i.e. primary contacts) 
- being a highly regulated sector, most nursing homes operate in similar ways, 

there are formal protocols around access and common ownership of multiple 
centres (e.g. Estia Health, Amity, Blue Cross, charitable and religious 
institutions) 

- some facilities have both an RV and NH, with residents moving from the RV 
to the NH as care needs escalate. 

Retirement 
Villages 

▪ Retirement villages are similar to nursing homes in that: 
- there is high borrowing of large print books, mainly fiction 
- any in-house ‘library’ at the village is usually made up of items donated by 

residents’ families or discards 
- most customers were library members prior to entering the facility 
- there is some common ownership, although this is more likely to be by 

property developers (e.g. Stockland) 
- this is aslo a growth sector with more facilities being built to accommodate 

demand as Baby Boomers enter their older years. 
▪ Retirement villages differ from nursing homes in that: 

- residents are, on average, younger (i.e. 70-80 years) and more mobile 
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- the appeal, when compared with people living in a typical suburban house 
block, is the lifestyle advantages, communal recreational opportunities, 
reduced household and garden care needs 

- the primary contact is more likely to be a resident who communicates with 
other residents, rather than an employee 

- there are far fewer employed staff at retirement villages (e.g. Centre 
Manager, maintenance person, part-time activities person) 

- residents usually come on to the vehicle to browse and collect books 
- the OV visit is a social occasion in the calendar of village life 
- turnover of residents and staff is lower than in nursing homes 
- retirement villages are unregulated. 

 
Coverage 

The outreach van currently has 43 nursing homes or retirement villages on its schedule. Additional analysis 
undertaken by the Review has identified a further 17 aged care facilities across the three LGAs. This 
includes 11 nursing homes and 6 retirement villages, with 8 in Whittlesea, 5 in Nillumbik and 4 in Banyule. 
 
Even if this search has overlooked some retirement villages (this being an unregulated sector), it is unlikely 
that this would take the total number of facilities in the three LGAs from the known 60 to any more than 
70. Consequently, it is reasonable to assume that the outreach van currently has coverage of 60-70% of 
aged care facilities by number. 
 
It should not be assumed that 100% of facilities would want a visit from the YPRL outreach van, however, 
from an equity perspective YPRL’s outreach service should be aware of and have engaged all such facilities 
with an offer of a visit. This would include periodically checking in with non-participating facilities to see if 
their interests have changed, as well as monitoring of the environment to identify when new facilities are 
opened. This is highly likely – especially in Whittlesea – given the ageing population and the transition of 
the Baby Boomer generations into this sector. 
 

1.6. Customer perspective 

In April 2021 YPRL conducted a survey of library users which asked a range of questions about respondents 
use of different library services, the way they accessed those services, and the impact of those services on 
themselves and their community. The survey also asked whether COVID closures and restrictions had 
influenced attitudes to and use of library services and what might encourage people to return to the 
library. 
 
1,793 completed survey responses were received, of which 13% (236) were from people who live in a 
township or suburb served by the mobile library but choose to access a YPRL branch as their ‘main’ service 
point and do not use the mobile library. This could be because: 
 
▪ they go near a library branch on their way to work, when they are shopping or undertaking other 

day to day activities 
▪ they are not in their home township when the mobile library visits 
▪ they prefer to travel to a library branch to access the full range of library services available. 
 
Twenty two respondents (1.2%) listed a library branch as their ‘main’ service point, with the mobile or 
outreach service listed as a secondary or tertiary option. 
 
Thirty seven survey respondents listed their ‘main’ and only library access point as being the mobile library 
(28), the outreach service (7) or the Hurstbridge Hub (2). Of these 37 respondents: 
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▪ 48% were aged 65 years or more, 30% were 35 to 44 years and 19% were 45 to 64 years (one 
person was aged under 18) 

▪ 100% have English as their first language, with 11% having grown up speaking another language 
▪ 5 lived in St Andrews, 5 in Hurstbridge, and 4 or less lived in each of another 15 towns or suburbs 
▪ 84% choose to use the mobile or outreach service because it is closest to their home or workplace 
▪ 92% highly value the free access to reading materials, information and resources 
▪ 32% think it provides a friendly meeting space. 
 
Survey respondents clearly value the contribution the mobile and outreach services make to social capital. 
 
▪ 89% believe the service promotes learning, 78% believe it promotes community connections and 

75% believe it promotes good health and wellbeing 
▪ 86% agreed that they feel welcomed in the space 
▪ 81% agreed that ‘the library helps me feel connected to my local community’ 
▪ 54% agreed that the library provides ‘access to educational opportunities that I would not have 

outside of the library’ 
▪ 24% value the service as contributing to a support network for their community 
 

“My child gets to access more books than he can imagine. The truck is a beacon of excitement 
when we see it in various locations.” 
 
“I love the fact that the mobile library visits St. Andrews so we don't have to drive to Eltham.” 
 
“We love the mobile library; it has helped my children develop a love for reading and happy story-
time memories. Three generations in my family attended.” 
 
“I live in a retirement village and the fact you provide an outreach service makes it very helpful, 
particularly as I don’t drive.” 
 
“A vibrant dynamic service with helpful committed staff who actually know their community and 
the best mobile service in the country. An invaluable contribution to our community.” 
 
“I love the fact I can explore online and collect from the mobile library. This makes it so amazingly 
convenient for my entire family to continue reading and learning. I also love that you sent out 
packages of books in lockdown.” 
 
“I am an avid reader and really appreciate Michele bringing me the books I am able to order online. 
The Outreach library is a blessing!” 
 
“I love the library bus. It’s warm and kind and it doesn’t matter how many books it can hold 
because we can order any book to go to the bus for us to collect. It’s amazing!” 
 
“The staff on the mobile are wonderful. Always greet customers by name and make an effort to 
engage with my son who doesn't engage socially very well.” 

 
In looking to the future, 71% of respondents indicated that they would be likely to use Click and Collect 
services if these were continued once COVID restrictions were lifted. 79% said that they would not (38%) 
or would be unlikely to (41%) pay for a fee for service book delivery program if one was introduced. 
 
Suggested improvements to the mobile and outreach service also raised the issue of additional library 
infrastructure in growing communities in Whittlesea. 
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“Build a branch library in Doreen.” 
 
“Will there be a library coming closer to Doreen???” 
 
“Open a branch in Epping North.” 

 

1.7. One model, five distinct services 

In looking at YPRL’s current mobile and outreach services they can (for analytical purposes) be considered 
as five distinct services. 
 
1. Nillumbik mobile library 
2. Banyule mobile library 
3. Whittlesea mobile library 
4. Outreach service to older persons 
5. Early years literacy support. 
 
Each of the three mobile library services are delivered by the same vehicle and the same staff in the same 
way with the same level of customer service. But this same service is performing a different function in 
each of the three LGAs. The mobile library’s support for early learning centres, kindergartens and primary 
schools is an integral part of its operation, but moving forward there may be some value in looking at this 
service slightly separately. 
 

Nillumbik Mobile – Inclusion 

In the Shire of Nillumbik the mobile library has ten stops in nine outer urban or small rural townships. 
These towns have limited service infrastructure, and most residents have to regularly travel out of town 
for work, to access to secondary schools and tertiary education, for major retail purposes and to access 
many health and other community services. 
 
User feedback through YPRL surveys indicates that the mobile library is a visible and much-loved local 
Council service that engenders feelings of pride, belonging and ownership. This stands in contrast with the 
perception that ‘all the government services are delivered in the bigger areas.’ 
 
The mobile library is used by people of all ages who are present in or travel to the town during opening 
hours. This includes: 
 
▪ parents and young children (pre-school and school age) 
▪ people in their 30s and 40s who access collections and computers 
▪ older and retired persons who access books, audiobooks and DVDs and highly value the social 

connection with the library staff and other library users who gather when the mobile is in town. 
 
In Nillumbik, especially in smaller rural townships (St Andrews, Christmas Hills, Arthurs Creek, Panton Hill, 
Hurstbridge), the YPRL mobile delivers inclusion. That is both service inclusion (in terms of providing place-
based local services) and social inclusion (in terms of providing a gathering point for the community). 
 

Banyule Mobile – Equity  

The mobile library’s only truly metropolitan stop (and one of the few mobile library stops in metropolitan 
Melbourne) is at Heidelberg West. This is a suburb whose population experience very high socio-economic 
disadvantage. The ABS’ 2016 SEIFA score of 835 places Heidelberg West in the 2nd percentile of Victorian 
suburbs and towns for relative disadvantage – the 30th lowest score among 2,672 Victorian suburbs and 
towns (and the 13th lowest in metropolitan Melbourne). In contrast, Heidelberg Heights has a SEIFA score 
of 994 (31st percentile) and Heidelberg has a score of 1,077 (91st percentile, that is, highly advantaged). As 
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is the case in many disadvantaged communities where there is a greater need to access government, 
community, education and health services, there is a safety in the known, and a reluctance to and level of 
discomfort in travelling outside of the familiar area to access services. 
 
The City of Banyule has retained the mobile library stop at Heidelberg West as a means of providing this 
relatively disadvantaged local community with local access to collections and internet services that they 
cannot afford. Even though there are several public libraries within a 4km radius (it is less than 8 minutes 
drive to Rosanna, Ivanhoe and Preston Libraries), residents are reluctant to use public transport to travel 
outside of the neighbourhood. 
 
In Banyule, the mobile library stop at Heidelberg West delivers equity, with the hope that this can 
contribute to increased community capability and aspirations. 
 

Whittlesea Mobile – Access  

The mobile library currently has three stops in the City of Whittlesea, but this has changed over time. Prior 
to 2007 the City only had one mobile stop at the town of Whittlesea, in addition to the three branches 
serving the urban population in the south at Thomastown, Mill Park and Lalor. Mernda was added to the 
mobile schedule in 2007 as the community started to grow from a small rural town to an urban centre, 
with Doreen coming on board in 2009. 
 
When a new library branch was opened at the Whittlesea Community Activity Centre in 2014, the 
Whittlesea mobile stop was no longer required. Council chose to retain the slot on the mobile schedule 
and shifted the stop to the then fast-growing suburb of Epping North. 
 
Given this experience, in the City of Whittlesea the mobile library delivers access by acting as an interim 
service outlet, seeding library use in smaller and greenfields communities until they grow to the point 
where they warrant provision of a static library branch. 
 
Today, the high level of use of the mobile library at Mernda, Doreen and Epping North reflects the local 
community demographics, with a high proportion of members being families with children, especially 
young families of Sri Lankan or Indian origin who seek picture books and early reading material to support 
their children’s language and reading development. In time it would be expected that this level of use and 
population growth would translate into establishment of additional library branches. 
 

Outreach service to older persons – Access and inclusion 

The outreach vehicle plays a different role to the mobile library. It delivers collections to people living in 
retirement villages, nursing homes and assisted living settings across the three LGAs. This is a more 
targeted cohort who are residentially clustered together by circumstance, current or emerging level of 
personal care and lifestyle choices. 
 
For this cohort the outreach service plays a dual role. Firstly, access to collections that they might 
otherwise find difficult to obtain, due to limited mobility, health issues or transport options. Secondly, 
inclusion through the capacity of the outreach vehicle to create a social gathering point which is more 
than just a book drop-off service. 
 

Early years literacy support – Engagement 

The move in the past three years to have the mobile library provide collection material to childcare centres 
and kindergartens has created an extra dimension to the mobile library role, that of engagement through 
early years literacy outreach. In many locations the mobile library stops at or near the local primary school 
or early learning centre, so it is a natural extension of the library service to reach out to these users (staff, 
children and in some cases parents). 
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The interesting feature of this approach is that the mobile library is demonstrating the way that outreach 
services could be used proactively as a way of community engagement and community programming. This 
same approach could be adopted with other components of the library service offering by taking relevant 
collections and programs out to particular target audiences. 
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PART 2. FACTORS INFLUENCING FUTURE DIRECTIONS  
In imagining the future direction of YPRL’s mobile and outreach services there are a number of strategic, 
contextual, population-based and operational factors that should be considered. In addition to assessment 
of the existing service mobile and outreach services – their structure, accessibility, use, implementation 
and impact (as discussed in Section 1) – these include: 
 
▪ forecast population growth in each of YPRL’s three member Councils 
▪ strategic community objectives of each of the member Councils and YPRL (as described in their 

long-term vision, strategic, community wellbeing and asset plans) 
▪ public library standards, guidelines and conventions 
▪ new and emerging library service models 
▪ operational considerations, including staffing needs and the asset replacement schedule for the 

current mobile and outreach vehicles. 
 

2.1. Forecast population growth 

As they are widely used by people of all ages and interests (approx. 40% of the community are library 
users) public libraries are a volume business. That is, baseline demand for library services is driven by the 
size of the population. Therefore, future demand for library services across YPRL’s three Council areas will 
be driven by the size of the respective municipal populations, and to a lesser degree the demographic 
profile of those populations. However, ABS data shows that the forecast population growth profile in each 
of the three LGAs over the next 15 to 20 years is distinctly different. 
 

LGA Banyule Nillumbik Whittlesea YPRL 

Population, ABS census 2016 121,865 61,273 197,491 380,629 

 32.0% 16.1% 51.9% 100% 
     

Population forecast 2021 136,188 63,418 242,027 441,633 

Population forecast 2041 165,256 72,773 388,417 626,446 

 26.4% 11.6% 62.0% 100% 

Growth from 2021 to 2041 29,068 9,355 146,390 184,813 

 21.3% 14.8% 60.5% 41.8% 

Annualised growth 2021 to 2041 0.97% 0.57% 1.95% 1.76% 
* Population forecast data for Banyule and Whittlesea is taken from profile.id. Nillumbik data is from the Shire’s 
Shire Plan 2050 Research Paper2. 

 
Population forecasts put a sharp focus on the future library service needs of YPRL’s member Councils.  
 
▪ In the next 20 years YPRL’s regional population will increase by 184,813 

- 146,390 (79%) of this will be in Whittlesea. 

• 85,237 (46%) will be in greenfields developments in Donnybrook and Wollert. 

• 27,803 (15%) will be in Epping North and Epping. 

• 13,901 (8%) will be in South Morang and Mernda. 
- That is, 69% of the regional population growth (more than 126,000) will occur in three areas 

in Whittlesea that are not currently serviced by a static library branch. 
- More than half of the remaining 31% will occur as infill or strategic redevelopments in 

Banyule (Heidelberg, Ivanhoe, Greensborough) and Whittlesea (Thomastown, Lalor, 
Bundoora – an additional 30,364 population or 16.4% of the regional growth. 

- Nillumbik’s entire Shire population will grow by only 9,355 over 20 years. As a proportion of 
the total regional population Nillumbik will shrink from 16.1% in 2016 to 11.6% in 2041. 

                                                      
2 Shire Plan 2050 Research Paper, Shire of Nillumbik, https://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au  

https://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/
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 Whittlesea locations  Banyule locations  Nillumbik locations 

 

City of Whittlesea 

Over the next 20 years the City of Whittlesea’s population will grow from 242,027 in 2021 to 388,417 by 
2041 (+60.5%). This will be consistent with the significant growth anticipated in other Interface Councils 
on Melbourne’s outer fringes. 
 

LGA City of Whittlesea Area 490km2 
  

 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

Population 197,491 242,027 278,913 319,092 356,350 388,417 

5-year growth  44,536 36,886 40,179 37,258 32,067 

Growth from 2016  44,536 81,422 121,601 158,859 190,926 

Growth from 2021   36,886 77,065 114,323 146,390 

% growth from 2021   15.2% 31.8% 47.2% 60.5% 
 

 

 
Having in the past experienced population outflows from Whittlesea to competing developments in 
Craigieburn and Roxburgh Park (City of Hume), these flows have reversed in recent years as residential 
opportunities to the west have been exhausted and new development fronts have been established in the 
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15,556 
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South Morang, Mernda 
(W), 13,901 

Banyule balance (B), 
13,512 

Nillumbik Shire (N), 
9,355 

Whittlesea balance 
(W), 4,641 

YPRL regional population growth, 2021 to 2041 (total +184,813)
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City of Whittlesea. There is now significant pressure for residential expansion within Whittlesea from both 
existing residents in the southern suburbs and inward migration, most notably from overseas migrants. 
The major source of additional dwellings over the next 20 years will be in greenfield opportunities that 
are: i) ongoing in Epping North, Doreen and Mernda; and ii) emerging in the new urban areas of 
Donnybrook and Wollert. Development with greater densities and more apartment construction is also 
expected around pre-existing centres at Epping, Lalor and Thomastown, and in strategic sites such as 
University Hill and the Plenty Valley Town Centre.3 
 

Suburb                    ‘000 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 Change 2021 to 2041 

Donnybrook 2.2 12.1 25.8 40.1 52.7 +  50.4 

Wollert 1.8 8.9 18.9 29.2 36.6 +  34.8 

Epping North 37.9 45.4 51.0 54.9 57.9 +  20.0 

Epping 16.0 17.4 19.6 21.6 23.8 +  7.8 

South Morang 25.3 28.0 29.7 31.0 32.4 +  7.2 

Mernda 27.7 30.7 33.4 34.4 34.5 + 6.7 

Thomastown 22.3 24.0 25.6 27.1 28.7 + 6.4 

Lalor 25.5 26.4 27.4 28.3 29.8 + 4.4 

Bundoora 15.7 16.3 17.4 18.5 19.7 + 4.1 

Doreen 28.6 30.3 30.6 30.8 31.0 + 2.5 

Whittlesea Surrounds 5.6 6.0 6.3 6.6 6.9 + 1.3 

Rural Balance 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.9 + 0.6 

Mill Park 30.1 29.9 30.0 30.1 30.4 +  0.3 

City of Whittlesea 242.0 278.9 319.1 356.4 388.4 +  146.4 
 

 

 
Population growth will be concentrated in the northern greenfields sites of Donnybrook and Wollert – 
growing more than 20-fold from a combined 4,020 residents in 2021 to more than 89,000 in 2041. By 2041, 
Donnybrook and Wollert will have a combined population 20% greater than the Shire of Nillumbik. 
 

                                                      
3 Forecast.id, City of Whittlesea, https://forecast.id.com.au/whittlesea.  
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City of Banyule 

Banyule will experience modest population growth over the next 20 years, increasing by 21.3% from 
136,188 in 2021 to 165,256 in 2041. 
 

LGA City of Banyule Area 62.5km2 
  

 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

Population 121,865 136,188 143,083 150,378 158,009 165,256 

5-year growth  14,323 6,895 7,295 7,631 7,247 

Growth from 2016  14,323 21,218 28,513 36,144 43,391 

Growth from 2021   6,895 14,190 21,821 29,068 

% growth from 2021   5.1% 10.4% 16.0% 21.3% 

 
Since the 1990s most of Banyule has been built out and opportunities for greenfield development are 
confined to remnant parcels, mainly in the City’s north. Future growth in Banyule will mainly occur through 
redevelopment of strategic sites or encouragement of growth in key locations (e.g. activity centres, around 
railway stations). Heidelberg, Ivanhoe and Greensborough will accommodate most new dwellings over the 
period 2016 to 2041 as there are structure plans to encourage densification. The regeneration of 
Heidelberg West will see the suburb retain a role in housing families and public housing renters. 65% of 
the City’s forecast growth will occur in these four suburbs.4 
 

Suburb                         ‘000 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 Change 2021 to 2041 

Heidelberg 8.1 9.5 11.1 12.7 14.2 + 6.2 

Ivanhoe 15.5 17.0 18.4 19.8 21.1 + 5.6 

Greensborough 16.7 17.3 18.3 19.4 20.5 + 3.8 

Heidelberg West-Bellfield 8.7 9.5 10.4 11.2 12.0 + 3.3 

Banyule balance 87.2 89.8 92.2 94.9 97.5 + 10.2 

City of Banyule 136.2 143.1 150.4 158.0 165.3 + 29.1 
 

 

 

                                                      
4 Forecast.id, City of Banyule, https://forecast.id.com.au/banyule.  
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Shire of Nillumbik 

The Shire of Nillumbik’s Shire Plan 2050 Research Paper5 provides an indication of future population 
growth within the LGA over the next 20 years. While noting that Northern Melbourne’s population is 
projected to increase by around 40% from 2018 to 2036, the paper also notes that this anticipated level of 
regional growth will not be occurring in Nillumbik. It is estimated that the Shire’s population will grow to 
70,310 by 2036, up 14.7% from the 2016 figure. If population growth were assumed to be constant in the 
period from 2016 to 2036, and beyond to 2041, it is estimated that the current population of 
approximately 63,400 will grow to around 72,800 by 2041. 
 

LGA Shire of Nillumbik Area 432km2 
  

 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 

Population 61,273 63,418 65,637 67,934 70,310 72,773 

5-year growth  2,145 2,219 2,297 2,376 2,463 

Growth from 2016  2,145 4,364 6,661 9,037 11,500 

Growth from 2021   2,219 4,516 6,892 9,355 

% growth from 2021   3.5% 7.1% 10.9% 14.7% 
Note: Figures in italics are interpolated/extrapolated from the 2016 and 2036 estimates. 

 
Total population growth in Nillumbik over this 25 year period is less than that which Whittlesea will 
experience in any 2 years. Given the small volume of population growth in the Shire, both independently 
and in comparison with Banyule and Whittlesea, for the purposes of this review there is little value in 
speculating on where within the Shire this growth might occur. 
 

2.2. Council plans for library service provision 

The published plans of the three member Councils make reference to community goals that are supported 
by provision of library services in general and mobile and outreach services in particular. 
 

City of Whittlesea 

The City of Whittlesea’s vision for the future – Whittlesea 2040: A place for all 6 – describes four key goals, 
two of which are directly supported through the provision of mobile and outreach library services. 
 

“Goal 1: Connected Community 

We love participating in the wide range of activities, festivals and events that bring our community 
together and we want to continue to celebrate in the future through a great variety of affordable 
activities. We love our libraries, community centres and neighbourhood houses. 

We really hope that community infrastructure is available across the municipality, particularly in 
growth areas so sections of the community don’t miss out.” 

 
“Goal 2: Liveable Neighbourhoods 

We love that our neighbourhoods are beautiful, clean and tidy and many of the services and 
facilities we need are in easy reach of our homes. 

We love that the things we need, like shops, schools, parks, sports facilities, playgrounds, libraries 
and community spaces are close by. We hope that all these facilities are even better in the future, 
with upgrades to parks, new facilities and more theme parks.” 

 

                                                      
5 Shire Plan 2050 Research Paper, Shire of Nillumbik, https://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au  
6 Whittlesea 2040: A place for all, City of Whittlesea, https://www.whittlesea.vic.gov.au/whittlesea2040 

https://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/
https://www.whittlesea.vic.gov.au/whittlesea2040


Yarra Plenty Regional Library 
Outreach Services Review 

I & J Management Services 

 

 

 Final Report, December 2021  Page 37 
 

Significantly, in response to the City’s forecast population growth over the next 20 years, the vision 
recognises the need to expand community infrastructure.  
 

“By 2040, a mix of new housing types will be required to cater for the needs of our growing 
community. There will also be a need for new education, community, recreation and aged care 
services and facilities. … The shops, schools and health services you need are around the corner … 
Community cohesion is deep and strong with the support of facilities and opportunities designed to 
make life more fulfilling, secure and inclusive.” 

 
The library service also contributes to the goals outlined in the City’s annual plans and its Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership Plan.7 
 
Hub and spoke model 

Over the coming period, as the City of Whittlesea’s population continues to grow rapidly, the Community 
Infrastructure Team will be undertaking long-term precinct planning. The resulting plan will be a roadmap 
for delivery of all types of community infrastructure, including a proposed hub and spoke model for library 
service provision. This would see library services delivered in Community Activity Centres (CAC) through a 
mix of onsite and drop-in services. 
 
For example, Council is exploring the potential of incorporating a spoke library in the foyer/community 
space at the Patterson Drive CAC (operational in Donnybrook approximately 2025). The library would 
house an onsite collection similar to the Click and Collect service at Hurstbridge. The mobile library would 
visit and set up in the CAC carpark during its weekly schedule (providing a staff presence) and drop-in 
programs would be delivered by staff from other YPRL library branches. 
 
Further work is still required by the City in planning for future provision of library services via a full hub 
and spoke model. Library services currently listed in the infrastructure pipeline include: 
 
▪ Mernda Branch Library – interim activation by 2023, unconfirmed date for permanent outcome 
▪ Donnybrook Hub and Branch Library – unconfirmed 2032 
▪ Wollert Multi-purpose Hub and Library – unconfirmed 2033 
▪ Epping North Library – unconfirmed 2034. 
 
As the City evolves over the next 10 years it appears likely that residents in Whittlesea’s central growth 
areas are likely to access library services primarily through a mix of mobile, outreach, digital, flexible and 
express service models (see Section 2.6). Longer term there may be additional library branches in Mernda, 
Epping North and the western corridor. 
 
Infrastructure Victoria 

In this context it is worth noting recent developments related to Infrastructure Victoria. Between the 
release of Victoria’s draft 30-year infrastructure strategy in December 2020, and Victoria’s infrastructure 
strategy 2021–2051 in August 2021, Infrastructure Victoria developed a new recommendation related to 
libraries and aquatic and recreation centres (ARCs): 
 

Recommendation 73: Fund libraries and aquatic centres in growth areas 

In the next five years, increase funding to support local governments to plan and deliver libraries 
and aquatic recreation centres in Melbourne’s seven growth area municipalities 

 

                                                      
7 Health and Wellbeing Partnership Plan, City of Whittlesea, https://www.whittlesea.vic.gov.au/about-us/news-
publications/plans-strategies-and-policies/health-and-wellbeing-partnership-plan/ 

https://www.whittlesea.vic.gov.au/about-us/news-publications/plans-strategies-and-policies/health-and-wellbeing-partnership-plan/
https://www.whittlesea.vic.gov.au/about-us/news-publications/plans-strategies-and-policies/health-and-wellbeing-partnership-plan/
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In September 2021 Infrastructure Victoria released Social infrastructure in Melbourne’s growth areas: A 
background paper to recommendation 73 of Victoria’s infrastructure strategy: Fund libraries and aquatic 
centres in growth areas. The background paper highlights the northern metropolitan growth corridor, 
including Whittlesea, as an area where there will be significant future gaps in access to library services. 
 

“Cardinia, Casey, Hume, Melton, Whittlesea, and Wyndham local government areas will likely each 
need a new library in the next five years. … Each of Melbourne’s growth area local governments 
should receive from the Victorian Government up to $100,000 for library planning. The Victorian 
Government should also fund up to one-third of the cost of new facilities, capped at $10 million for 
libraries, with local governments to provide funding for the remaining capital costs and operational 
expenses. … This investment will be of sufficient scale to enable growth area local governments to 
leverage other funds, including either through their own revenue or potentially from private, not-
for profit, government or other partnerships, and will better support growth area local 
governments to address provision, service, and access gaps for this essential infrastructure.” 

 

City of Banyule 

The City of Banyule’s Banyule Community Vision 20418 has six priority themes, one of which is ‘Our 
Inclusive and Connected Community’. 
 

“A safe, healthy, vibrant, and connected community where people of all ages and life stages love to 
live, work and stay; diversity and inclusion are valued and encouraged. 

In 2041 … we encourage community connection and look after our vulnerable community 
members, women, children and young people by making Banyule a safer place for everyone. … 
Participation in sport and other recreational interests is prominent and people lead active lifestyles 
and have good mental and emotional wellbeing.” 

 
The Council Plan sets a strategic framework for planning and delivery of Council services for strong, healthy 
and inclusive communities and clearly defines key focus areas related to access and equity, reduction of 
disadvantage, community connection, celebration of doversity and opportunities for involvement in 
community life. 
 
The recent opening of the new Ivanhoe Library and Community Hub and planned redevelopment of the 
Rosanna Library demonstrate the City of Banyule’s commitment to provision of library services for its 
community. Over the next 5 years the City is also looking to significantly enhance service provision within 
the Olympic Village precinct, which includes greater collaboration between and alignment of Council’s 
library, maternal and child health, youth, aged and other community services. It is anticipated that this will 
involve investment in physical community infrastructure which would remove the need for a regular 
mobile library stop at Heidelberg West. There would still be expectations of library collections, technology 
access, relaxation and study areas and onsite library programming being delivered in this space. 
 

Shire of Nillumbik 

Building on the Community Vision – Nillumbik 2040, the Shire of Nillumbik’s draft Council Plan 2021-20259 
outlines four strategic themes, the first of which is ‘Community and Connection’. 
 

“Objective: To encourage inclusion and participation to support health and wellbeing and ensure 
that all our residents have equitable access to services, programs, events and initiatives. … 

                                                      
8 Banyule Community Vision 2041, City of Banyule, https://shaping.banyule.vic.gov.au/Banyule2041. 
9 Council Plan 2021-2025, Shire of Nillumbik, https://participate.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/our-future/Council-plan-2021-2025. 

https://shaping.banyule.vic.gov.au/Banyule2041
https://participate.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/our-future/Council-plan-2021-2025
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Equity and inclusion – We aim to make Council’s programs, services, processes and information 
accessible and inclusive. … 

Ages and stages – We ensure people of all ages and stages have access to inclusive services that 
respond to their individual needs.” 

 
The Plan specifically lists active library membership as an indicator of success against this theme, and notes 
provision of library services to the whole community as contributing to the Plan’s intended outcomes. 
 
Council is firmly committed to maintaining its provision of library services to the rural catchments in the 
north of the muncipality and the mobile library is a visible and highly-valued service in these townships. 
 
There are no firm plans for expansion of the library network. If this were to occur one option might be 
development of a static library at Diamond Creek (full service or flexible model), which would remove the 
need for the two mobile library stops (Wednesday afternoon, Thursday evening) and might have a flow-
on impact on the Kangaroo Ground mobile stop. 
 

2.3. YPRL Library Plan 2021-2025 

YPRL recently released its Library 
Plan 2021-2025 10 
(#ThisLibraryCan). In pursuing a 
vision of “Informed creative 
communities: connected, 
empowered and well” the Plan 
identifies four outcomes which it 
will focus on and strive towards 
over the next four years. Ten 
priorities listed against these 
outcomes will inform YPRL’s 
actions, decisions and investment. 
 
YPRL’s mobile and outreach 
services – individually within each 
LGA and through the regional 
outreach service to aged persons 
and support for early years literacy 
– directly support each of the 
priorities listed as contributing to 
achievement of the three outward-
facing targeted outcomes.  
 
 
 

Knowledge and Learning 
Programs and pathways 
Develop programs and pathways that focus on: 
- partnerships for youth capacity building 
- pathways to employment 

- community resilience B 

- community-led programming and collections. 

Information and resources 
Build on our existing collections, assets, and services 
through investment in: 
- digital resources, collections, and assets 
- resources that reflect our diverse communities 
- supporting local creatives 

- early years, adult, and digital literacy. N W E 

                                                      
10 Library Plan 2021-2025, YPRL, https://www.yprl.vic.gov.au/about-the-library/policies-plans-strategic-frameworks/  

https://www.yprl.vic.gov.au/about-the-library/policies-plans-strategic-frameworks/


Yarra Plenty Regional Library 
Outreach Services Review 

I & J Management Services 

 

 

 Final Report, December 2021  Page 40 
 

Connection 
Participation and belonging 
Deliver places, spaces and services that provide: 
- safe, accessible digital environments and programs 
- volunteering and other opportunities to participate 

- increased participation in our services. N B W O E 

Outreach 
Look beyond our existing places to: 

- build strong links with local communities N O E 

- engage with youth, CALD and First Nations 
communities 

- explore and test co-location/integration of 

services. W 

Wellbeing 
Mental, physical and social wellbeing 
Contribute to the wellbeing of our communities through: 
- inclusive and safe programs, spaces, and opportunities 
- promoting health literacy 
- health and wellbeing programming and collections 
- programs for those in our communities experiencing 

social isolation. O 

Connect to local experts 
Work alongside experts to bring the best to our local 
communities by: 
- inviting, including, and hosting wellbeing partners 

within our spaces 
- partnering with member councils to deliver better 

outcomes. B  

N Nillumbik mobile B Banyule mobile W Whittlesea mobile O Outreach E Early years 

 

2.4. Public library standards, guidelines and conventions 

In Australia, public library services are delivered by local government. 
 
All state and territory governments provide some funding to support provision of local library services and 
collections. In Victoria the state’s annual $45M contribution to library operations (explicitly to support 
local library priorities and the Premiers Reading Challenge) is distributed between LGAs on the basis of 
total population, with some equity considerations for rural, remote and vulnerable communities. This 
represents approximately 17-18% of total library funding, with local government contributing around 81% 
(the balance is mainly user fees and charges). The Victorian Government also has a Living Libraries 
Infrastructure Program which in 2020-21 provided $10M for library infrastructure projects on a co-
contribution model with local Councils. 
 
The Commonwealth government provides no direct support to public libraries, other than where libraries 
are able to apply for program funding associated with discrete Commonwealth initiatives. Annually this 
represents <1% of total library income.  
 

Standards and Guidelines 

There is no statutory legislation or regulatory framework that governs the provision of public library 
services. While NSW and Queensland have specific state-based public library standards and guidelines, 
Victoria does not. 
 
However, the Australian Library and Information Association (ALIA) and the Australian Public Library 
Alliance (APLA) have jointly published national standards and guidelines which are in effect a best practice 
guide for public library administration - Standards and Guidelines for Australian Public Libraries, December 
2020.11 The quantitative standards and qualitative guidelines cover all aspects of library operations (see 
Appendix 3), with differentiated standards for library services of different size (i.e. population catchment) 
and location (e.g. metropolitan, regional, rural and remote). 
 
The ALIA/APLA standards and guidelines make specific reference to mobile library and outreach services. 
The relevant guidelines and additional points with respect to YPRL’s mobile and outreach services (see 
Working Notes report) address: 
 

                                                      
11 http://read.alia.org.au/apla-alia-standards-and-guidelines-australian-public-libraries-december-2020. 

http://read.alia.org.au/apla-alia-standards-and-guidelines-australian-public-libraries-december-2020
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▪ library service points and facilities 
▪ mobile library vehicles, opening hours, operation, staffing and sustainability 
▪ outreach service planning, delivery, equipment and staffing 
▪ access to collections and technology services 
▪ community engagement 
▪ risk management. 
 
Where applicable, YPRL’s mobile and outreach services are consistent with the standards and guidelines 
in that they take the library out into the community and provide facilities which: 
 
▪ are convenient and accessible to the public and serve the identified needs of the community 
▪ are attractive, functional and stimulate interest in library services 
▪ are designed for flexible use, efficiency in operation and sustainability 
▪ are safe and secure for library users and staff. 
 
There is no reason to suggest that any changes to YPRL’s mobile library and outreach services arising from 
this review would constitute a significant departure from the national standards and guidelines. 
 

Library buildings 

The Outreach Services Review is not intended to make recommendations about YPRL’s library branch 
infrastructure. However, any consideration of future mobile and outreach services must occur within the 
context of the entire service delivery network – onsite, online and in the community … as it is now and as 
it might be in 5, 10 or 20 years’ time. 
 
ALIA and APLA have endorsed People Places: A guide for public library buildings from the State Library of 
NSW 12 as a primary source of practical advice and tools to assist in the planning of public library buildings 
to meet community needs. People Places includes advice on: 
 
▪ the recommended size of central and branch libraries to serve a population catchment (including 

base floor area, additional functional spaces and back of house/central management areas) 
▪ the range of functional areas and standards for furniture and fittings 
▪ minimising barriers to access for users with physical limitations or disabilities. 
 
With a current regional population of 441,000 serviced by nine branches and a mobile library YPRL would 
be expected to have library buildings with total public access floor space (PAFS) of around 16-18,000m2. 
With current PAFS of 9,179m2 YPRL’s branch network is 40-50% under-sized. 
 

Library branch floorspace 2021 2041 

Regional population (forecast) 441,000 626,000 

YPRL current public access floor space (approx.) 9,179m2  

People Places standard 16-18,000m2 23-27,000m2 

 
If the People Places standards were to be applied to the forecast 626,000 population in 2041 the required 
public access floor space would be around 23-27,000m2. 
 
It is not known what standards for library spaces might be in 20 years’ time. However, there is no scenario 
where a mobile library vehicle which visits for a few hours a week can be seen as an adequate alternative 
to place-based provision of library services for population catchments of 20,000 people or more. In 2020-
21 the average population catchment for library branches in metropolitan Melbourne was 37,000. 
 

                                                      
12 https://www.sl.nsw.gov.au/public-library-services/people-places. 

https://www.sl.nsw.gov.au/public-library-services/people-places
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Access 

The Plan Melbourne 20-minute neighbourhood13 is a concept that is trialing the practical application of 
‘living locally’—giving people the ability to meet most of their daily needs within a 20-minute walk from 
home, with safe cycling and local transport options. The 20-minute neighbourhood concept uses an 800-
metre walk as a benchmark for determining neighbourhood accessibility, a distance which corresponds to 
a 10-minute walk to a chosen destination. 
 
However, as noted by Infrastructure Victoria in its background paper on additional funding for libraries in 
high growth LGAs (see Section 2.2), libraries do not service neighbourhood catchments but more typically 
service district or regional population catchments. Consequently, Infrastructure Victoria opted for 
catchment areas of 1,600 metres and 3,200 metres rather than 800 metres. 
 
In major metropolitan areas the accessibility threshold is more often considered in terms of the number 
of minutes’ drive to the nearest library branch. Even in outer urban areas 90% of the population would 
expect to be able to access a library branch within a 10 minute drive. Where this is not possible alternative 
service models would be considered, including placement of mobile library stops or other service points. 
 
Of the 13 scheduled mobile library locations, three are located within 10 minutes of a YPRL library branch 
(i.e. Heidelberg West, Diamond Creek, Yarrambat), North Warrandyte is 4 minutes from the Warrandyte 
Library in the City of Manningham and Christmas Hills is 9 minutes from the unstaffed Yarra Glen Hub in 
the Yarra Ranges Shire. 
 

Mobile location  Day Time Hours Closest branch km Drive 

St Andrews N Tue 2 to 4.30 2½ Eltham 
Kinglake* 

22 
13 

25 min 
16 

Christmas Hills N Fri 2 to 4 2 Eltham 
Yarra Glen Hub* 

20 
9 

22 
9 

Arthurs Creek N Thu 9.45 to 12 2¼ Whittlesea 
Diamond Valley 

18 
22 

19 
25 

Panton Hill N Tue 10.30 to 12.30 2 Eltham 15 18 

Hurstbridge N Tue 6 to 8.15 2¼ Eltham 
Hurstbridge C&C 

13 
0 

18 
1 

Epping W Mon 9 to 12 3 Lalor 8 15 

Doreen W Mon 1 to 2.30 1½ Whittlesea 11 14 

North Warrandyte N Wed 10 to 12 2 Eltham 
Warrandyte* 

10 
2 

13 
4 

Mernda W Mon 3 to 4 1 Whittlesea 11 12 

Kangaroo Ground N Wed 12.30 to 2.30 2 Eltham 9 12 

Yarrambat N Thu 2 to 5 3 Diamond Valley 
Mill Park 

7 
7 

9 
11 

Diamond Creek N Wed 
Thu 

3 to 5 
6.30 to 8.30 

2 
2 

Diamond Valley 
Eltham 

5 
7 

8 
11 

Heidelberg West B Fri 9 to 12 3 Rosanna 
Ivanhoe 

2 
4 

5 
8 

* Kinglake Library is in Murrindindi; Yarra Glen Hub is in Yarra Ranges; Warrandyte Library is in Manningham. 

 

The Hurstbridge mobile stop is only 1 minute from the newly established Hurstbridge Click and Collect 
service point, although anecdotally the two cater for different catchments – the Click and Collect open 
from 10am until 3pm and the mobile stop being in the early evening for families and people seeking 
services outside of school and working hours. 

                                                      
13 https://www.planmelbourne.vic.gov.au/current-projects/20-minute-neighbourhoods.  

https://www.planmelbourne.vic.gov.au/current-projects/20-minute-neighbourhoods
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The three mobile library stops in Whittlesea are 12-15 minutes from the nearest library branch, although 
in the cases of Doreen and Mernda this trip would involve driving from a densely populated area to the 
small Community Activity Centre (CAC) at Whittlesea. As noted in Appendix 4, residents in the central part 
of the City of Whittlesea have, for population catchments in excess of 15,000 people, the lowest level of 
access to public library services of any communities in Australia. They also have service access that can be 
seen to be less than 1/40th of that in the City’s southern area. 
 
By industry standards, the five more distant mobile stops in Nillumbik at St Andrews, Christmas Hills, 
Arthurs Creek, Panton Hill and Hurstbridge (minimum 18 minutes’ drive to a full service library branch) all 
clearly warrant provision of some form of community-based library service (e.g. the mobile library). 
 

2.5. Alternative service models 

A modern public library can be anywhere and everywhere – 24/7. Library collections, programs and 
services are now being delivered in different ways to different users in different places at different times. 
Familiar and well-loved branch libraries staffed by welcoming, knowledgeable and helpful professionals 
are now complemented by digital, mobile, outreach and express library services that take the library out 
and into the community, offering customers greater levels of access and convenience. 
 
These models differ in terms of what services they provide, how they are provided and to whom. But they 
are based on common principles that ensure library places and spaces – onsite, online and in the 
community – are welcoming, easily accessible, minimise barriers to access for users who are vulnerable or 
have physical limitations and disabilities, and respect user privacy. That is, contemporary public libraries: 
 
▪ are convenient and accessible to the public and serve the identified needs of the community 
▪ are attractive, functional and stimulate interest in library services 
▪ are designed for flexible use, efficiency in operation and sustainability 
▪ are safe and secure for library users and staff.14 
 
Public libraries deliver services 
to the community through a 
combination of four basic 
service models. Each model 
plays a different role in the 
library network – reaching out 
to different audiences, 
facilitating convenient access 
and encouraging increased and 
widespread use of library 
services across the community. 
 
As they are reasonably well 
understood, library branches 
and online/digital service 
models are not discussed in 
detail here (see Working Notes report). 
 

Mobile and outreach services 

Mobile and outreach models take library services out into the community. The most well-known example 
is the mobile library – as at YPRL, typically a large custom-made prime mover and semi-trailer housing up 

                                                      
14 Standards and Guidelines for Australian Public Libraries, APLA/ALIA, December 2020. 

LIBRARY BRANCHES

• Local branch library
• Most familiar and most used model
• Located in activity centres
• Vary in size (200-3,000 m2)
• Fully-staffed
• Offer full service range

ONLINE / DIGITAL

• Anywhere anytime access
• Library website and app
• Browse catalogue, reserve/extend 

items
• Download digital resources
• View online programs

MOBILE / OUTREACH

• Take library to where the people are
• Services delivered in the community, 

often with partner organisations
• Large mobile vehicles being phased 

out/replaced by more smaller 
options

FLEXIBLE / EXPRESS

• Emerging models are often variants 
of other types

• Library lounge (unstaffed)
• Pop up libraries
• 24/7 open library
• Book vending machines, kiosks
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to 15,000 collection items, on-board computers and wifi, and pop-out activity and reading spaces that 
stops at community locations on a weekly or fortnightly schedule. These models also involve smaller 
vehicles which can carry a smaller collection and wifi hotspot, as with the YPRL Outreach Service vehicle. 

 

Other outreach models  can include pop-up libraries at community events (e.g. festivals, school fetes, 
shopping centres, bus stations), delivery of literacy and reading programs at kindergartens and childcare 
centres, and book delivery services for housebound readers and people living in residential facilities (e.g. 
aged care homes). These outreach models can be delivered through a mobile vehicle (e.g. the Outreach 
Service van) or can occur independently of a mobile service. 
 

Flexible and express library services 

Express library services are innovative approaches to filling the gap between permanent full-service library 
branches and mobile or outreach services. They deploy community facilities and/or technology-enabled 
solutions to offer a limited range of library services – especially access to collections. Express library models 
may provide basic services to emerging communities in high growth areas and communities poorly 
serviced by the network of permanent libraries, or they may enhance access to basic library services in key 
community nodes. Depending on population catchment, geographical location and the presence of other 
facilities, express library services may range from staffed or unstaffed shopfront facilities, library lounges 
or reading rooms with limited boutique collections, wifi and limited programming to self-service options 
such as vending machines, lockers or wifi beacons facilitating resource downloading. 
 
YPRL’s Hurstbridge Hub is a good example of an express library service. Opened in October 2020 and 
accessible weekdays from 9am to 3pm, Hurstbridge Hub and its Click and Collect service allows library 
users to return library items, collect holds, and browse and borrow from a small collection of around 500 
books and resources. 
 

Future options 

While the focus of the YPRL Outreach Services Review is on mobile and outreach models, it must be 
acknowledged that these only exist within a network of physical and digital service options that are 
variously deployed to meet the particular service needs of local communities. Consequently, decisions on 
whether YPRL’s mobile and outreach services are appropriate in meeting the current and emerging needs 
of the community can only be made within the context of the entire service network. 
 

2.6. Operational considerations 

Staffing 

The major constraint on staffing the mobile and outreach vehicles is the need for staff to possess a heavy 
vehicle licence. This essential employment condition takes precedence over customer service skills and 
library qualifications or experience. 
 
Consequently, with both the mobile library and outreach vehicle on the road at the same time, and both 
people staffing the mobile library on any day requiring a heavy vehicle licence (a reasonable and prudent 
approach), YPRL requires three people with a relevant driving licence to run the service. Factoring in staff 
entitlements to leave, and the need to cover unexpected illness and emergencies, YPRL needs a total of 
five staff to continually operate both the current mobile and outreach vehicles. In practice this might be 
three or four permanent staff and one or two relief drivers (for a total of five employees). 
 
This staffing requirement would be different if, for example, YPRL were to use long wheelbase vans as 
outreach vehicles. These are much smaller than the current vehicles and have reduced capacity in terms 
of size of collection and on-board space, but could be purpose-built as walk-on library vehicles (with 
collection space, wifi hotspot, external awnings, etc.). These vehicles are more versatile and can travel 
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through residential areas with smaller road widths 
and park in places where the current vehicles cannot. 
More importantly, the only licencing requirement is a 
standard driver licence, meaning most library staff 
could drive the vehicle – and potentially have a more 
active role in supporting provision of community-
based outreach library services. 
 
Blacktown City Council in Sydney, for example, 
currently uses a long wheelbase van and Noosa Shire 
Council in Queensland is in the process of replacing its 
end-of-life mobile semi-trailer with a smaller vehicle. 
 

Vehicle replacement schedule 

The mobile library is currently operated via a Mercedes Benz 6-wheel 3-axle 19-metre prime mover and 
semi-trailer. A new prime mover was purchased in December 2018 to replace an ageing vehicle. The trailer 
was purchased in 2005 and, with mobile library trailers typically having a 10-12 year serviceable lifespan, 
was due for replacement in 2016. Having been upgraded in 2020 the trailer is still in operation. While the 
upgraded trailer might continue to be used for another 2-3 years it would not last another 10 years. 
 
As an alternative, something like the City of Brisbane’s current mobile library could be considered. The 
vehicle is a smaller version of the traditional large-scale mobile, being a medium-rigid truck rather than a 
semi-trailer. It has 6,000 items, on-board access (rear steps and lift), an extension pod that becomes a 
sheltered covered deck (for outdoor reading, activities or programs), solar panels, internet computers and 
a wifi hotspot. 

 
The Brisbane mobile does require a heavy vehicle licence, but this is a medium-rigid licence and not the 
heavy-combination licence required for the YPRL prime mover. Being a smaller vehicle parking options are 
greater than the for the 19m semi-trailer. City of Brisbane’s capital costs for purchasing the mobile in 2016 
were approximately $750,000. 
 
The current outreach vehicle is a 7.5-metre-long Isuzu NQR 450 Long truck. It was also purchased in 2005 
and is due for replacement. 
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As noted above, smaller more agile vehicles 
are now being deployed by library services to 
support mobile, outreach, home delivery and 
community programming activities. Noosa 
Shire Council, for example, is in the process of 
obtaining a specially manufactured light-rigid 
vehicle with library specific fit-out, holding 
approximately 2,500 library items. The vehicle 
will have air-conditioning, 
two nearside entry and 
exits, internal windows, 
LED lighting, a small staff 
desk with folding seat for 
customers, and an 
alfresco area with 
external roller door and 
library display shelving 
which will be covered by 
a powered awning. 
Capital costs for the 5.9m 
custom-fitted vehicle are 
in the order of $300,000. 
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PART 3. OPTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  
By state and national standards, YPRL provides a very good public library service to its three member 
Councils in north-eastern Melbourne. Its mobile and outreach services deliver library collections and 
community connection to people with limited access to physical library branches. The questions for the 
Outreach Services Review are: 
 
▪ whether these service approaches meet current, developing and future community needs 
▪ whether there are alternative delivery models that meet these needs 
▪ if these services meet and support the YPRL Library Plan and member Council strategies. 
 

3.1. Summary of findings 

In considering these questions it is useful, in the first instance, to return to the distinction made in Section 
1.7 about the five different roles that YPRL’s mobile and outreach services play for the three Councils and 
their communities. 
 
1. Nillumbik mobile library 
2. Banyule mobile library 
3. Whittlesea mobile library 
4. Outreach service to older persons 
5. Early years literacy support. 
 
The following analysis looks at each of these roles and potential service options over the next 10 years. 
 

Nillumbik mobile library 

The current mobile library service in Nillumbik meets community demand. It provides: 
 
▪ place-based local services in towns which otherwise have limited service access 
▪ valuable reading and literacy support to different population cohorts 
▪ a gathering point for social inclusion. 
 
With little forecast population growth, like-for-like demographic replacement, limited local service 
infrastructure and no major civic developments in the pipeline, it is likely that a mobile library service in 
the outer parts of the Nillumbik Shire will continue to complement the two branches in the urban areas. 
 

Nillumbik mobile library INCLUSION 

Service status ▪ Traditional mobile library service 
▪ Visits smaller more isolated communities 
▪ Focus on service inclusion and social inclusion 
▪ Well used and highly valued by Council and communities 

Future conditions ▪ Very little population growth 
▪ No likelihood of major service infrastructure development in outer areas 

Options and 
opportunities 

▪ Hurstbridge: 
- Click & Collect demonstrates alternative service delivery model 
- mobile stop (Tue evening) plus C&C (10-3 Mon to Fri) probably warranted 

given different opening hours and different audiences (working/families 
vs non-working) 

▪ North Warrandyte: 
- Warrandyte Library (Tue to Sat, City of Manningham) is only 2km from the 

North Warrandyte mobile stop 
- mobile stop demonstrates service commitment to Nillumbik residents  
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Nillumbik mobile library INCLUSION 

▪ Diamond Creek: 
- 2 mobile stops (Wed pm, Thu evening) probably warranted given different 

opening times and audiences 
- could reconsider location (Wed near school, Thu near station/shops) 
- could trial C&C (as at Hurstbridge) or other flexible service model in a local 

community facility 
- if Council established a community library at Diamond Creek 2 stops 

would cease, mobile stop at Kangaroo Ground might be questioned, and 
time would be freed up to spend more time in northern part of LGA 
(extension, expansion) 

▪ Alternative/additional services (e.g. small collection, PC/wifi) might be offered 
in small townships if an appropriate local service outlet can be identified  

Recommended 
approach 

▪ Continue mobile library service for the foreseeable future, especially to more 
distant townships – St Andrews, Christmas Hills, Arthurs Creek, Panton Hill 

▪ RETAIN and REVIEW 

 

Banyule mobile library 

The mobile library stop at Heidelberg West has been valuable in providing local access to resources for a 
highly disadvantaged community which has limited access to services and a reluctance to travel outside of 
the area to access services. 
 

Banyule mobile library EQUITY 

Service status ▪ Single mobile library stop in an urban location 
▪ Some borrowing, solid use of computers on the mobile 
▪ Heidelberg West and Olympic Village are a highly disadvantaged community 

which needs targeted community support 
▪ Local access to library services helps to build community capability and 

connections 

Future conditions ▪ Council is committed to exploring options to increase community 
infrastructure and service access in the area within the next 5 years 

▪ This would be a holistic service approach involving a range of Council services 
and service partners – maternal and child health, youth services, family 
services, aged services, library, cultural services 

Options and 
opportunities 

▪ YPRL expected to be an active participant in development of appropriate 
service solutions, which may involve some onsite collections and local 
program delivery 

▪ Size of community and proximity to other library branches does not (in itself) 
warrant full-scale library service point 

Recommended 
approach 

▪ Continue mobile library service until alternative services are established 
▪ REPLACE and STOP 

 

Whittlesea mobile library 

Historically, the mobile library has acted as an interim service outlet in the City of Whittlesea – seeding 
library use in smaller and greenfields communities until they grow to the point where they warrant 
provision of a static library branch. However, investment in community infrastructure has not kept pace 
with population growth in the centre of the LGA, leading to a highly inequitable situation where library 
service access in Mernda, Doreen and Epping North is less than 1/40th of that in Mill Park, Lalor and 
Thomastown. Further population growth will only exacerbate this inequity. 
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Locations Full service 
branches 

Mobile 
library 
stops 

Total weekly 
service 
hours 

Population 
2021 

Service access 
hours per 
1,000 pop 

Mernda - Doreen 
- Epping North 

- 3 stops 
5.5 hrs 

5.5 hrs 94,200 0.06 

Mill Park - Lalor - 
Thomastown 

3 branches 
197 hrs 

- 197 hrs 77,900 2.5 

Shire of Nillumbik 2 branches / 1 Hub 
156 hrs 

10 stops 
 22 hrs 

178 hrs 63,400 2.8 

 
The mobile library as seeding service point may have a role in the emerging Donnybrook and Wollert 
populations but is no longer appropriate in Mernda, Doreen and Epping North. 
 

Whittlesea mobile library ACCESS 

Service status ▪ Three mobile stops are very well-used but of limited duration (total 5.5 hours 
per week) 

▪ Large established communities in Mernda, Doreen and Epping North do not 
have local access to the full range of library services and programs that are 
provided in a static branch 

Future conditions ▪ City of Whittlesea’s proposed hub and spoke model sees the mobile library 
complementing programs delivered at Community Activity Centres (CACs, e.g. 
Laurimar, Mernda, Galada) 

▪ Population will grow by 146,000 in next 20 years, with 84,000 in Donnybrook 
and Wollert and an extra 20,000 in Epping North 

▪ Given Melbourne metropolitan averages (e.g. 37,000 catchment per library 
branch), convention indicates that in the future there would be branch 
libraries at Mernda/Doreen, Epping North and Donnybrook/Wollert 

▪ Given the City’s forecast population size and spread, a traditional mobile 
library service would not be expected to be part of the City’s long-term 
service delivery network 

Options and 
opportunities 

▪ In the absence of alternatives the mobile library must be continued, 
preferably with extended hours 

▪ Interim models include Click and Collect services (e.g. Hurstbridge), 
Community Libraries, drop-in programs at existing community facilities 

▪ Expansion of onsite library services at Mernda, Doreen and/or Epping North 
could free up mobile library hours to continue the seeding approach in 
Donnybrook and Wollert 

▪ If YPRL replaces its mobile library trailer, the current trailer could be sold to 
City of Whittlesea as an interim service point 

Recommended 
approach 

▪ Deploy mobile library, C&C models and drop-in programming as interim 
approaches until appropriate library infrastructure is established 

▪ SEED, BUILD, repeat 

 

Outreach service to older persons 

For people living in retirement villages, nursing homes and assisted living settings YPRL’s outreach vehicle 
provides access to collections that they might otherwise find difficult to obtain (due to limited mobility, 
health issues or lack of transport) and inclusion in social settings (where the outreach vehicle creates a 
gathering point). As far as possible all such facilities for older persons in the three LGAs should have access 
to the outreach service. 
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Outreach service ACCESS and INCLUSION 

Service status ▪ Current outreach service visits 43 facilities on a 3-weekly cycle (to fit in with 
YPRL’s standard loan period) 
- represents 60-70% of known facilities in the 3 LGAs 

▪ Many residents who use the service were regular library users prior to 
entering the facility, and highly value the book browsing and delivery services 

▪ Where facilities have in-house book collections these are usually donated 
family discards that are old titles, hard-copy, small print and may not be of 
interest to residents 

▪ Most Australian libraries only have a Home Library Service and do not visit 
aged care facilities 

▪ Current approach is not transparent or equitable 
▪ Current outreach vehicle is difficult to park at some locations 

Future conditions ▪ The number of facilities will continue to grow as the population ages 
▪ Facilities have high turnover of residents and staff (notably lifestyle 

coordinators), meaning that circumstances can change within 12 months 
▪ Outreach service does not require a large heavy vehicle  

Options and 
opportunities 

▪ All nursing homes and retirement villages in the 3 LGAs should have the 
opportunity to participate in the service 
- YPRL should monitor emerging developments/new facilities so that none 

are left out 
- facilities that choose to not receive the service should be re-contacted 

each year in case demand changes 
▪ Facilities with low usage could be serviced through book-drop or delivery 

service (e.g. 10 of the current 43 facilities have fewer than 5 users) 
▪ Net effect of +s and -s could still be accommodated in a 3-week cycle 

(potentially at 5 days per week, which would require 0.2 FTE increase) 
▪ Current vehicle could be replaced with custom-fitted long wheelbase step-in 

van (e.g. Blacktown, Noosa) 
▪ More agile vehicle increases flexibility in servicing facilities 

- creates more options for staffing (any library staff member with a driver 
licence could use the vehicle) 

- outreach vehicle could be used on evenings and weekends for other 
community-based outreach activities 

Recommended 
approach 

▪ Continue outreach service, but increase reach, strengthen transparency and 
standardise operations 

▪ REFINE and ENHANCE 

 

Early years (EY) literacy support 

The proactive approach of mobile library staff to engaging primary schools, kindergartens and early 
learning centres and supporting early years literacy demonstrates the way that outreach services can be 
used for community engagement and programming. This same approach could be adopted with other 
components of the library service offering by taking collections and programs out to target audiences. 
 

Early years literacy support ENGAGEMENT 

Service status ▪ Mobile library often parks at or near primary schools or early learning centres 
▪ Mobile staff have taken advantage of close proximity to deepen engagement 

with local primary schools, kindergartens and early learning centres 
▪ Some bring students/children (and parents) on to the mobile library, all 

receive regular deliveries of reading material from the mobile library or caddy 
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Early years literacy support ENGAGEMENT 

van (approx. more than 100 boxes or 3,000 items per month – 30% of current 
‘normal state’ mobile use) 

▪ Strongly aligned with YPRL Strategic Plan (Knowledge and Learning, 
Connection) and core purpose of public libraries 
- reading to young children in the home is known to deliver lifelong learning 

and literacy benefits 
- normalisation of library experience can increase current (and potentially 

long-term) library membership 

Future conditions ▪ No major change anticipated 
▪ Schools and early learning centres – their teachers, students and parents – 

will still value access to quality contemporary reading material 

Options and 
opportunities 

▪ If resources were available this service could be expanded to deepen 
connections with existing facilities and/or reach out to new facilities in other 
vulnerable and rural communities 

▪ Would require a dedicated outreach vehicle with an EY and children’s focus, 
staffing and mobile collection 
- might involve collections, programs, incursions, etc. 
- some similar models in other library services (e.g. Eastern Regional 

Libraries’ mobile Literacy Officer, City of Charles Sturt Library SA) 
▪ Could be adapted to support additional general community-based outreach 

services (e.g. school fetes, festivals, poo-ups) 
▪ Showcase YPRL and member Councils in: 1) EY and children’s literacy; and 2) 

outreach service provision 

Recommended 
approach 

▪ Continue current early years literacy support 
▪ Subject to funding, expand approach to engage more sites and children 
▪ LEAD 

 

Other issues 

Several other generic or holistic issues also need to be considered in assessing the future of YPRL’s mobile 
and outreach services. For example: 
 
▪ the on-board customer experience – which is different for a large mobile library vehicle than for 

the smaller outreach vehicles 
▪ lack of versatility – when having to park a semi-trailer or a smaller van  
▪ constraints on staffing models – a heavy vehicle license is the essential staffing requirement 
▪ service continuity – a branch library would never be closed to the public if a staff member was ill 

or on leave, but this can happen with the mobile if no relief driver is available 
▪ staffing flexibility – smaller vans that can be staffed by a single person with a driver licence create 

opportunities for more staff to be engaged in mobile and outreach service delivery 
▪ staffing levels – would YPRL staff a smaller mobile service with one or two staff members 
▪ capital cost of purchasing and maintaining a semi-trailer vs that of a long wheelbase van 
▪ long timeframes – the purchase of a new mobile semi-trailer locks in a service model for 10 years 
▪ extension of mobile life – current mobile semi-trailer was due for replacement in 2016, but might 

be serviceable for another 3-4 years (buying time to resolve some uncertainties in service 
expectations) 

▪ supervision of mobile and outreach staff – as the mobile is in effect a branch library on wheels 
should reporting lines be similar to or through branch management reporting. 

 
Overall, there are many moving parts to YPRL’s mobile and outreach services. Some are complementary, 
some are competing. Some are known, some are unknown. In the end, however, it will be the member 
Councils who determine what the future service profile looks like, because they pay for it. And each of the 
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three Councils has their own objectives and aspirations for their communities, which lead to varying 
service expectations between Councils and within Council areas. YPRL’s role is to provide professional 
advice on options and then deliver the agreed service to the best of its ability with the funding provided. 
 

3.2. Future directions/possibilities 

When all of the findings from the Outreach Services Review are put together, what does the future look 
like? The answer is that there are multiple possibilities because there is uncertainty about the timing and 
form of future development of allied community infrastructure – primarily in the City of Whittlesea (which 
will experience a period of dramatic growth and change), and to a lesser degree in the Shire of Nillumbik. 
 
Three potential scenarios illustrate the permutations and combinations which might be considered: 
 
▪ Scenario 1.   Steady state 
▪ Scenario 2.   Transition 
▪ Scenario 3.   Transformation. 
 

Scenario 1 – Steady state 

SCENARIO 1 – Steady state 

YPRL’s mobile and outreach service is much as it is in 2021. 

A new mobile library semi-trailer replaces the current vehicle. Its weekly schedule includes 9-10 stops 
in Nillumbik and 1-1½ days in Whittlesea (at current stops or stops in new growth areas, all of which 
are complemented by drop in programs). Banyule’s Heidelberg West stop continues until a new 
service model is established. Children from schools, kindergartens and early learning centres visit the 
mobile where possible with book drops made by the mobile and a leased caddy van. 

A new custom-fitted long wheelbase van replaces the current outreach vehicle. The outreach service is 
available to all nursing homes and retirement villages. Facilities with fewer than 5 library users get 
deliveries via the Home Library Service. The 5-day per week 3-weekly schedule is split between two 
library officers who also work in customer service roles in library branches. 

YPRL retains 3 staff with a heavy vehicle license – 2 to operate the mobile, 1 to cover leave. A 4th relief 
driver is contactable for emergencies. 

Mobile library vehicle Outreach vehicle 
Each can be configured to YPRL specifications 

▪ Prime move and ~18-20m semi-trailer 
▪ 15,000 items 
▪ 2 PCs with internet access 
▪ Wifi hotspot 
▪ Dedicated children’s area 
▪ Up to 30 visitors on board at one time 
▪ External awning 
▪ Desk space for 2 staff 
▪ Secure staff area 
▪ Capital cost ~ $1M 
▪ Annual running cost ~ $250K (includes lease 

of caddy van) 

▪ Long wheelbase van 
▪ Nearside entry and exit doors (2 doors) 
▪ 2,500 items 
▪ 1 PC with internet access 
▪ Wifi hotspot 
▪ Folding seat for customers 
▪ Up to 6-8 customers at one time 
▪ External display shelving and awning 
▪ Desk space for 1 staff 
▪ Capital cost ~$350K 
▪ Annual running cost ~ $120K 
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Pros and cons 

✓ Continuity of service in agreed locations 
✓ Large vehicle can hold many customers, 

especially school visits 
✓ Retains the ‘experience’ of a mobile library 
✓ Outreach service is better targeted to need 
✓ More flexibility in staffing of outreach service 

x No significant improvement to current service 
x Purchase of semi-trailer locks in large mobile 

service model for 10 years 
x Staffing constraints on mobile library (heavy 

vehicle licensing) 

Other observations 

▪ Assumes only minor changes to the mobile schedule (e.g. 3-4 Whittlesea stops – although 
locations might vary, Heidelberg West ceases within next 5 years, possible change to Diamond 
Creek) 

▪ Assumes additional services in Whittlesea (e.g. Click and Collect, drop in programs) are delivered 
separately 

▪ Assumes total of 60-70 nursing homes and retirement villages with ~ 70% take up of outreach 
service (40-50 stops per 3-week schedule) and remainder choose to not access service or have 
small numbers supported by Home Library Service 

▪ Assumes no expansion of early years literacy support 
▪ Assumes cost of collection is part of whole of YPRL collection expenditure 

 

Scenario 2 – Transition 

SCENARIO 2 – Transition 

YPRL explores new ways of delivering mobile and outreach services. The fleet expands to four vehicles 
which, being slightly smaller and more agile, create new opportunities for reaching out to and 
engaging the community. 

The current mobile library is replaced with a smaller medium-rigid truck (e.g. Brisbane Library) that 
still provides the on-board mobile library experience of collections, activities, technology access and 
social connections, but can be parked in more locations (potentially closer to activity centres – 
especially in Whittlesea) and have lesser vehicle licensing requirements. Two staff would run the 
mobile with the Caddy Van retained for local flexibility in supporting early years settings. 

Flexible unstaffed and small-scale open library models would be trialed in Nillumbik to complement 
mobile services (e.g. a Book Box – a static 24/7 access library built in a shipping container with 1,500 
collection items, self-checkout, computers and a wifi hotspot). The mobile stop at Heidelberg West 
would continue until a new service model is established. 

As with Scenario 1, a new long wheelbase outreach van visits nursing homes and retirement villages in 
all 3 LGAs. Facilities with fewer than 5 library users get deliveries via the Home Library Service. The 5-
day per week 3-weekly schedule is split between two library officers who also work in customer 
service roles in library branches. 

The fourth vehicle is an all-purpose long wheelbase van similar to the outreach vehicle. It allows YPRL 
to be more active in community programming by going to kindergartens, schools, Community Activity 
Centres, fetes, festivals, open days, cultural and civic events in a variety of settings. The van is staffed 
by branch library staff and provides access to collections, hosts small groups on the vehicle, facilitates 
programs and promotes YPRL and Councils through its visible presence in the community. 
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Mobile library vehicle Outreach vehicles (x2) 
Each can be configured to YPRL specifications 

▪ Medium rigid truck 
▪ 6,000 items 
▪ PC with internet access 
▪ Wifi hotspot 
▪ Extension pod creates outdoor under-awning 

activity area 
▪ Up to 15 visitors on board at one time 
▪ Staff desk space 
▪ Capital cost ~ $850-900K 
▪ Annual running cost ~ $250K (includes lease 

of caddy van) 

▪ Long wheelbase van 
▪ Nearside entry and exit doors (2 doors) 
▪ Up to 2,500 items 
▪ 1 PC with internet access 
▪ Wifi hotspot 
▪ Folding seat for customers 
▪ Up to 6-8 customers at one time 
▪ External display shelving and awning 
▪ Desk space for 1 staff 
▪ Capital cost ~$350K per vehicle 
▪ Annual running cost ~ $120K per vehicle for 

single staff member or $200K per vehicle for 
two staff 

Pros and cons 

✓ Library services delivered in agreed locations 
✓ More agile service can reach out to other 

locations and communities 
✓ Expanded general outreach capacity and 

ability to trial new service models 
✓ Outreach service is better targeted to need 
✓ Stronger role in children’s literacy 
✓ More flexibility in staffing of mobile and 

outreach services (reduced licencing 
requirements) 

✓ More flexibility in capital investment 

x Reduced customer capacity on-board 
vehicles, especially for school visits 

x Possible perceived reduction in service 
(smaller vehicles) 

Other observations 

▪ Assumes some changes mobile schedule (e.g. potentially different stops in Whittlesea, Heidelberg 
West ceases within next 5 years) 

▪ Assumes additional services in Whittlesea (e.g. Click and Collect, drop in programs) are delivered 
separately 

▪ Assumes total of 60-70 nursing homes and retirement villages with ~ 70% take up of outreach 
service (40-50 stops per 3-week schedule) and remainder choose to not access service or have 
small numbers supported by Home Library Service 

▪ Assumes cost of collection is part of whole of YPRL collection expenditure 
▪ Book Box model is an option, not currently included in estimate of running costs  

 

Scenario 3 – Transformation 

SCENARIO 3 – Transformation 

YPRL’s mobile and outreach services are flexible and agile. Library services are still being delivered to 
communities across the 3 LGAs but the network looks quite different, with a fleet of four long 
wheelbase outreach vehicles complemented by flexible onsite service models. 

The Nillumbik mobile spends 3 hours at each of its 8 stops, with Diamond Creek now having a small 
library branch at the Community Centre. Hurstbridge has a Click & Collect service and Arthurs Creek 
and Panton Hill have Book Boxes (as in Scenario 2) which provide a constant library presence and 
service access for these communities. The mobile continues to support children’s literacy with mobile 
stops located close to schools, kindergartens and early learning centres and book drops to other 
facilities in the area. 
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The Whittlesea mobile performs a similar dual role – providing full-week access to library collections 
and services at Community Activity Centres until full-scale library branches are built. 

The Reading Rover is an outreach vehicle which visits nursing homes and retirement villages in all 3 
LGAs. Facilities with fewer than 5 library users get deliveries via the Home Library Service. The 5-day 
per week 3-weekly schedule is split between two library officers who also work in customer service 
roles in library branches. 

The fourth vehicle is an all-purpose community programming outreach van. It has a wide brief to 
provide outreach services in a variety of settings across the region (e.g. fetes, festivals, open days, 
cultural and civic events). The van provides access to collections, hosts small groups on the vehicle, 
facilitates programs and promotes YPRL and Councils through its visible presence in the community. 

Outreach vehicles Operation 
Customised to meet specific requirements  

▪ Long wheelbase van 
▪ Nearside entry and exit doors (2 doors) 
▪ 2,500 items 
▪ 1 PC with internet access 
▪ Wifi hotspot 
▪ Folding seat for customers 
▪ Up to 6-8 customers at one time 
▪ External display shelving and awning 
▪ Desk space for 1 staff 
▪ Capital cost ~$350K 
▪ Annual running cost ~ $120K per vehicle for 

single staff member or $200K per vehicle for 
two staff 

▪ Four vehicles – Nillumbik mobile / Whittlesea 
mobile / Reading Rover / Outreach van 

▪ Each requires only a standard driver licence 
▪ Staffing numbers flexible subject to activity 

being undertaken (e.g. book delivery vs 
community engagement) 

Pros and cons 

✓ Library services delivered in agreed locations 
✓ Longer mobile hours at all stops 
✓ More agile service can reach out to other 

communities 
✓ Expanded general outreach capacity and 

ability to trial new service models 
✓ Outreach service is better targeted to need 
✓ Stronger role in children’s literacy 
✓ More flexibility in staffing of mobile and 

outreach services 
✓ More flexibility in capital investment 
✓ If successful, Book Box model could be 

adopted in other locations 

x Loss of ‘experience’ of a big mobile library 
x Reduced customer capacity on-board 

vehicles, especially for school visits 
x Possible perceived reduction in service 
x Change to mobile library staff responsibilities 

and experience (e.g. loss of team) 

Other observations 

▪ Assumes some changes to mobile schedule (e.g. potentially different stops in Whittlesea, 
Heidelberg West ceases within next 5 years, Diamond Creek ceases) 

▪ Assumes additional services in Whittlesea (e.g. Click and Collect, drop in programs) are delivered 
separately 

▪ Assumes total of 60-70 nursing homes and retirement villages with ~ 70% take up of outreach 
service (40-50 stops per 3-week schedule) and remainder choose to not access service or have 
small numbers supported by Home Library Service 

▪ Assumes cost of collection is part of whole of YPRL collection expenditure 
▪ Book Box model is not included in estimate of running costs  
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3.3. Recommendations 

Given the interrelationship of YPRL’s built library infrastructure and mobile and outreach services, the 
significant forecast population growth over the next 10 years, and the uncertainty in the future operating 
environment it is difficult to make firm recommendations that accommodate all of these factors. 
Therefore, the review presents a series of recommendations and options that respond to the differing 
possibilities. These start in ‘known’ territory and move progressively into the more ‘unknown’. 
 
Outreach vehicle 

The current outreach vehicle is due for replacement. The service is valuable to the mostly older people 
who access it and is well-received by the nursing homes and retirement villages that are currently included 
on the schedule. The service would benefit from greater transparency and a more rigorous approach to 
providing a consistent whole of region service in targeted facilities, especially given the likely growth in the 
number of people living in nursing homes and retirement villages. 
 

Rec O1 That YPRL continue to provide an outreach service to people living in nursing homes, 
retirement villages and other assisted living facilities. 

Rec O2 That YPRL replace the current outreach vehicle with a long wheelbase van that: 

- is more agile and better able to get into and deliver a service to participating 
facilities 

- removes the requirement for the driver to have a heavy vehicle licence 
- is custom-fitted to hold a relevant collection and provide a focal point for gathering 

of library users. 

Rec O3 That YPRL regularly monitor the number of nursing homes and retirement villages in the 
3 LGAs and ensure that all have the opportunity to participate in the outreach service. 
Facilities that choose not to participate should be re-contacted each year in case 
demand changes. 

Rec O4 That YPRL support facilities with fewer than 5 active library users through an alternative 
book drop or delivery service. 

Rec O5 That YPRL explore options for: 

- using more staff in the provision of the outreach service 
- using the vehicle for other community-based outreach activities on evenings and 

weekends. 

 
Community outreach 

YPRL could significantly extend its capacity for community programming, and thereby increase service 
access and community outcomes, if it had a dedicated general outreach vehicle to take the library into the 
community. This would also give it flexibility to respond to specific circumstances within each of the Las as 
required. 
 

Rec C1 That YPRL purchase a long wheelbase van to act as a general purpose community 
programming vehicle delivering literacy support and outreach services in community 
locations. 

 
Mobile library 

The current vehicle is due for replacement. A more flexible lower cost vehicle (e.g. City of Brisbane mobile) 
creates opportunities for accessing different locations and reduces some of the vehicle licensing 
constraints. 
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Rec M1 That YPRL replace the current mobile library with a custom-built and custom-fitted 
medium rigid truck. 

 
Banyule 

The City of Banyule’s one mobile stop at Heidelberg West provides library services directly to a highly 
disadvantaged community. As Council and its partners explore a more holistic approach to provision of 
services to this community through enhanced infrastructure and access, the mobile library will no longer 
be an appropriate service model. It is expected that this will occur within the next 5 years. 
 

Rec B1 That YPRL continue to provide a mobile library service in Heidelberg West until 
alternative service access is established. 

Rec B2 That YPRL work closely with the City of Banyule and its community partners in 
development of appropriate service solutions. This may involve some onsite library 
collections and technology access, local program delivery and drop in library 
programming through the outreach vehicle. 

 
Nillumbik 

YPRL delivers a traditional mobile library service in the Shire of Nillumbik, with 10 weekly visits to smaller 
more isolated communities. The service is highly valued by library users and Council as it facilitates both 
service inclusion and social inclusion. The Hurstbridge Click & Collect service demonstrates how a blend of 
flexible and mobile library services can enhance local service access. With little forecast population growth 
and no expectation of major infrastructure development in the Shire’s outer areas, it is likely that future 
demand for mobile library services will be remain around current levels. 
 

Rec N1 That YPRL continue provision of mobile library services in the Shire of Nillumbik for the 
foreseeable future, especially to the more distant townships of St Andrews, Christmas 
Hills, Arthurs Creek and Panton Hill. 

Rec N2 That YPRL and the Shire of Nillumbik explore and trial flexible service models to 
complement the mobile library and increase service access in smaller communities. This 
might involve a mix of unstaffed service points (in community, commercial or purpose-
built facilities, potentially with extended hours access), drop in programming and 
outreach services. 

Rec N3 That longer-term, following consultation with the Shire of Nillumbik and community 
members, and subject to the outcomes of Rec N2, YPRL consider replacing the mobile 
library vehicle with a smaller custom-fitted long wheelbase van (like the proposed 
outreach vehicle) which would just service the Shire of Nillumbik. A more agile and 
dedicated local vehicle would have the capacity to deliver more hours of onsite access 
than the mobile library. 

 
Whittlesea 

Residents in the central part of the City of Whittlesea have significantly less access to public library services 
than similar large communities in Australia. A fully-deployed mobile library, of any size, cannot adequately 
service a population of close to 100,000. At this stage it is not clear what additional library infrastructure 
will exist in the City of Whittlesea in the next 5 to 10 years and beyond. 
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Rec W1 That, until full-service library branches are opened, YPRL and the City of Whittlesea: 

- explore opportunities to increase the number of hours of mobile library service 
provision in Mernda, Doreen and Epping North (e.g. weekend hours) 

- explore and trial flexible service models to complement the mobile library and 
increase service access (e.g. in community or commercial facilities) 

- explore opportunities to increase community programming in activity centres, 
including targeted use of the Community Outreach van. 

Rec W2 That as library branches are opened in Whittlesea YPRL look to replace the mobile 
library with a smaller custom-fitted long wheelbase van (like the proposed outreach 
vehicle) to deliver outreach services (e.g. collections, programs) in emerging population 
areas (e.g. Wollert, Donnybrook). 

 
Operations 

YPRL should continually look to improve the quality and efficiency of its mobile library and outreach 
services. 
 

Rec Op1 That YPRL review the standard of facilities at all mobile library stops to ensure that: 

- all sites are safe for library users and mobile library staff (e.g. road surfaces, 
pedestrian areas, electrical connections) 

- signage is accurate, consistent, informative and encourages community access. 

Rec Op2 That as the composition of the mobile and outreach fleet changes, YPRL work with the 3 
LGAs to house and maintain vehicles at Council facilities close to their primary area of 
operation. 

Rec Op3 That YPRL identify and employ, as needed, relief drivers to ensure the mobile library 
trailer is on the road as much as possible. 

Rec Op4 That, as frontline library staff, mobile library and outreach service staff be positioned 
within the Public Participation portfolio. Day-to-day reporting could be through a senior 
branch manager in the relevant location (e.g. Outreach Service staff report to Branch 
Manager, Ivanhoe Library and Community Hub). 
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APPENDICES  

Appendix 1. Outreach Service schedule (August 2021) 

Round Facility  Location LGA Members 

     ✓ X 

1 Estia Health South Morang RVNH Morang W 16  

1 Sunlight TLC NH Whittlesea W 9  

1 # Whittlesea Lodge NH Whittlesea W 8 2 

1 # Blue Cross Boulevarde NH Mill Park W 9  

2 Bupa @ Greensborough NH Greensborough N 3  

2 Calvary RV RV Greensborough N 12  

2 Leith Park NH RVNH Greensborough B 38  

3 Regis Macleod Heathcliff Manor NH Macleod B 8  

3 Mayflower Macleod RV Macleod B 17  

3 # Strathalan RVNH Macleod B 36 2 

4 Blue Cross Waterdale NH Ivanhoe B 31 1 

4 Heidi Planned Activity Group Other Heidelberg West B 1 3 

4 Viewbank RV RV Viewbank B 15  

5 # Villa Maria NH NH Bundoora B 21 1 

5 Bundoora RV RV Bundoora W 65  

5 Bundoora Residential Aged Care NH Bundoora B 3  

6 Lyndarum RV RV Wollert W 42  

6 Estia Health Epping NH Epping W 9  

6 * Epping Gardens NH NH Epping W 3 3 

6 * Green Gables NH NH Epping W 5  

7 Trinity Manor Greensborough NH Greensborough B 9  

7 Lower Plenty Garden Views NH Lower Plenty B 8  

7 St Vincents Aged Care RVNH Eltham N 22  

8 St Thomas Village RV Greensborough N 12  

8 Hurstbridge Cottages RV Hurstbridge N 15  

8 Estia Health Wattle Glen NH Wattle Glen N 7  

8 Kerala Manor NH Diamond Creek N 2 4 

9 Grace Villa NH Greensborough B 11  

9 Deloraine NH NH Greensborough B 3  

9 Multiple Sclerosis Units Other Watsonia B 1 1 

9 Rosanna Views NH Rosanna B 4  

9 Benetas The Views NH Heidelberg B 15  

10 Estia Health Plenty Valley RV South Morang W 8  

10 Epping Meadows NH Epping W 13  

10 Arcare Greenhills NH Epping W 6  

10 Plenty Valley RV RV Epping W 55  

11 Arilla RV RV South Morang W 52  

11 Mernda RV RV Mernda W 46  

11 * Bethel Aged Care NH Mill Park W 9  

12 Kooringa Close RV RV Eltham N 14  

12 Beechwood RV RV Eltham N 6  

12 Poulter Ave Units RV Greensborough B 4  

12 Estia Health Heidelberg West NH Heidelberg West B 1 6 

Total     674 23 

Members: Some facilities have listed members who have not borrowed for some time. Some members are only 
allowed to borrow ‘withdrawn’ collection items due to concerns about loss or damage. Both types are shown as ‘X’.  
* Three facilities have currently requested to pause deliveries due to concerns about COVID. 
# Four facilities have requested residents only be allowed to access the collection via ‘Click and Collect’ mode. 
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Appendix 2. Early years’ literacy support (August 2021) 

The following table lists the childcare centres, kindergartens and schools currently on the mobile library 
roster. 
 

Day Facility Location Activity Boxes per 
 Childcare / Kinder / School LGA Visit / Mobile delivery / 

Drop off 
month* 

Mon Galada Kindergarten K Epping North W ½ box / week 
1 box / week 

V 
M 

2 
4 

Mon Epping North YMCA ELC C Epping North W ½ box / fortnight V 1 

Mon Wollert One Learn C Wollert W 1 box / month D 1 

Mon Guardian Laurimar C Laurimar W 2 box / month D 2 

Mon Little Flyers Doreen North C Laurimar W ½ box / fortnight V 1 

Mon Mernda ELC C Mernda W ½ box / week 
1 box / fortnight 

V 
M 

2 
2 

Mon Mernda PS S Mernda W 2 box / week V 8 

Tue Panton Hill Playhouse C Panton Hill N 1 box / fortnight M 2 

Tue Panton Hill Kindergarten K Panton Hill N 1 box / fortnight M 2 

Tue Panton Hill PS S Panton Hill N 2 box / week V 8 

Tue St Andrews PS S St Andrews N 1 box / week V 4 

Wed Yarra Warra Kinder K North 
Warrandyte 

N 1 box / week M 4 

Wed Little Scooters ELC C Research N 2 box / month D 2 

Wed Research Kindergarten K Research N 2 box / month D 2 

Wed Kangaroo Ground Kinder K Kangaroo Ground N 1 box / fortnight M 2 

Wed Diamond Creek Kinder K Diamond Creek N 1 box / fortnight M 2 

Wed Story House ELC C Diamond Creek N 1 box / month M 1 

Wed Kangaroo Ground PS S Kangaroo Ground N 1½ box / week V 6 

Wed Diamond Creek East PS S Diamond Creek N ½ box / week V 2 

Wed Diamond Creek PS S Diamond Creek N ¼ box / week V 1 

Wed Sacred Heart PS  S Diamond Creek N ¼ box / week V 1 

Thu Yarrambat Kinder 1 K Yarrambat N 1 box / fortnight M 2 

Thu Yarrambat Kinder 2 K Yarrambat N 1 box / fortnight M 2 

Thu Smiling Children ELC C Yarrambat N 1 box / fortnight M 2 

Thu Arthurs Creek PS S Arthurs Creek N ½ box / week 
2 box / week 

V 
M 

2 
8 

Thu Yarrambat PS S Yarrambat N ½ box / week V 2 

Fri Olympic Village Kinder K Heidelberg West B 1 box / fortnight M 2 

Fri Olympic Village PS S Heidelberg West B 4 box / month M 4 

Fri Christmas Hills PS S Christmas Hills N ½ box / week 
1 box / week 

V 
M 

2 
4 

- Orchard Road Daycare C Doreen W 1 box / week D 4 

- Story House ELC C Doreen W 1 box / month D 1 

- Hippity Hop Childcare C Yarrambat N 2 Vbox / month D 2 

- Ashley Park PS S Doreen W 1 box / month D 1 

- Al Siraat K-12 College S Epping W 12 box / two month D 6 

* A standard box has 30 items in it. 
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Appendix 3. Standards and Guidelines for Australian Public Libraries 

The Australian Library and Information Association (ALIA) and the Australian Public Library Alliance (APLA) 
have jointly published national standards and guidelines which are in effect a best practice guide for public 
library administration - Standards and Guidelines for Australian Public Libraries, December 2020.15 The 
quantitative standards and qualitative guidelines cover all aspects of library operations, with differentiated 
standards for library services of different size (i.e. population catchment) and location (e.g. metropolitan, 
regional, rural and remote). 
 

Standards and Guidelines for Australian Public Libraries, 2020 

Standards Guidelines 

S1. Library expenditure 

S2. Staffing 

S3. Opening hours 

S4. Expenditure on library materials 

S5. Physical collection size 

S6. Collection age 

S7. Public technology Access 

S8. Membership 

S9. Visits 

S10. Loans 

S11. Turnover of stock 

S12. Electronic service use 

S13. Program participation 

S14. Customer satisfaction 

G1. Community engagement 

G2. Governance 

G3. Library management 

G4. Collections 

G5. Information and reference services 

G6. Programs 

G7. Technology access 

G8. Places and spaces 

G9. Targeted services for young, old, culturally 
diverse and other groups 

G10. Service points 

G11. Staffing 

G12. Funding 

G13. Partnerships and collaboration 

G14. Customer service 

 
 
 

  

                                                      
15 http://read.alia.org.au/apla-alia-standards-and-guidelines-australian-public-libraries-december-2020. 

http://read.alia.org.au/apla-alia-standards-and-guidelines-australian-public-libraries-december-2020
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Appendix 4. Library servicing of population catchments 

Analysis of population and library service data indicates that residents in the City of Whittlesea have, for 
population catchments in excess of 15,000 people, the lowest level of access to public library services of 
any communities in Australia. 
 
Based on 2016 census and updated population data there were 237 suburbs or towns in Australia with 
populations of 15,000 or more. Being significant population centres most of these have a local full-service 
public library branch located within the suburb or town, and therefore located within a short drive of 
residents’ homes. 93 of these suburbs or towns (39%) have a library branch within 1-2 minutes’ drive. 
Another 75 (32%) have libraries within 3-4 minutes and 41 (17%) have a library branch within 5-6 minutes’ 
drive. 
 

 

 
With 88% of larger Australian population centres accounted for, there are only 28 Australian suburbs or 
towns (12%) with a population > 15,000 where it is more than a 6 minute drive to the nearest library. Of 
these, 14 are in the 7-8 minute range and 6 have average travel time of 9-10 minutes. Across Australia this 
leaves residents in only 8 towns (3%) having more than a 10 minute drive to their nearest full service library 
branch. Seven of those 8 population centres are in Victoria and 4 are in the City of Whittlesea. 
 

Suburb/Town LGA Catchment population 
(2020) 

Minutes drive to 
nearest library 

Doreen Whittlesea 28,045 16 

Mernda Whittlesea 27,478 15 

Glenmore Park Penrith, NSW 24,626 12 

Langwarrin Frankston 24,199 12 

Epping North Whittlesea 38,055 11 

South Morang Whittlesea 23,680 11 

Greenvale Hume 20,084 11 

Hillside Melton 18,720 11 

 
On average, residents in Doreen and Mernda have to drive at least 15 minutes to get to the nearest full-
service library branch at Mill Park. This is around 4 times longer than the average 4 minute drive to a 
library.  
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Project brief

• Examine current global and local best practice in mobile and 
outreach library service delivery and determine:

- whether YPRL’s mobile and outreach service approaches meet current, 
developing and future community needs

- whether there are alternative delivery models that meet these needs

- if these services meet and support the YPRL Library Plan and member 
Council strategies.

NOTE: All research and analysis has taken the impact of 
COVID into consideration (e.g. reduced service access, rapid 
deployment of alternative service models, drop in use, 
consumer reluctance to visit in confined spaces).
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Mobile library

• 14 stops per week at 13 locations (10N, 3W, 1B)

• Total visits/loans peaked 2008-09 to 2011-12, declined, then 
increased in 2018-19 … against statewide downward trend in 
mobile library use

• Cost per visit and cost per loan at or below YPRL average

• Additional early years support (~ 106 book boxes per month).

Visits per stop Visits per hour Loans per hour

90 Epping 83 Mernda 95 Mernda

89 Panton Hill 44 Panton Hill 90 Epping

83 Mernda 35 Doreen 84 Arthurs Creek

70 Hurstbridge 33 Kangaroo Ground 79 Panton Hill

67 Kangaroo Ground 31 Hurstbridge 74 Christmas Hills

… … …
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Outreach service

• 43 nursing homes and retirement villages on 3 week cycle

- 12 rounds … Tue to Fri … 19B, 15W, 9N

• ~ 1,000 members and 22,000 loans in 2018-19

- Dropped off during COVID (750 members, 9,000 loans)

• Currently visits ~ 60-70% of known facilities.

Members per facility Members per facility

65 Bundoora Retirement Village (B) 10 of 43 facilities currently have 
fewer than 5 active members (7B, 2N, 
1W)

Membership is fluid as facilities are 
added/deleted and residents sign 
up/cease borrowing

RVs operate differently to NHs

55 Plenty Valley RV (W)

52 Arilla RV (W)

46 Mernda RV (W)

42 Lifestyle Lyndarum (W)

…
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Customers love the service

“My child gets to access more books than 
he can imagine. The truck is a beacon of 
excitement.”

“I love the fact that the mobile library 
visits St. Andrews so we don't have to 
drive to Eltham.”

“We love the mobile library; it has helped 
my children develop a love for reading 
and happy story-time memories. Three 
generations in my family attended.”

“I live in a retirement village and the fact 
you provide an outreach service makes it 
very helpful, particularly as I don’t drive.”

“I love the fact I can explore online and 
collect from the mobile library. This 
makes it so amazingly convenient for 
my entire family to continue reading 
and learning.”

“I am an avid reader and really 
appreciate Michele bringing me the 
books I am able to order online. The 
Outreach library is a blessing!”

“I love the library bus. It’s warm and 
kind and it doesn’t matter how many 
books it can hold because we can order 
any book to go to the bus for us to 
collect. It’s amazing!”

Mobile and Outreach combined
3,500 members, 30,000 visits, 100,000 loans per year

Loans per member 50% above YPRL average



Whittlesea Mobile

ACCESS

Banyule Mobile

EQUITY
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One model, 5 distinct services

Nillumbik Mobile

INCLUSION

Early years literacy 
support

ENGAGEMENT

Outreach service for 
older persons

ACCESS and 
INCLUSION
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Influencing factors

• Library services are mainly volume-driven (widespread appeal 

means larger population = larger demand)

• + 185,000 people in the region in the next 20 years

- 85,000 Donnybrook, Wollert

- 28,000 Epping North, Epping

- 14,000 South Morang, Mernda

- Remaining 58,000 (31%)

- 30,000 infill and strategic redevelopment in Banyule and Whittlesea

- 18,000 balance Banyule and Whittlesea

- 9,500 Nillumbik

• Alternative and emerging library service models

• Operational considerations (e.g. asset replacement, staffing)

• Member Councils’ strategic community objectives.

111K to 238K in area not 
currently served by static 
library branch
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Broad recommendations

Nillumbik Mobile Inclusion Retain and Review

Banyule Mobile Equity Replace and Stop

Whittlesea Mobile Access Seed, Build, repeat

Outreach service for 
older persons

Access and Inclusion Refine and Enhance

Community 
programming

Engagement Lead
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Many possibilities

Scenario 1
STEADY STATE

Scenario 2
TRANSITION

Scenario 3
TRANSFORMATION

• Carry on with minor 
changes

• Like-for-like mobile 
replacement

• More flexible 
outreach van

• Tweak schedules

• Explore alternative 
service models

• Mid-size mobile 
replacement

• More flexible 
outreach van

• Programming 
vehicle

• Revise schedules
• Trial open library 

approach (N)

• Transform mobile 
and outreach 
services

• Fleet of smaller 
more agile vehicles

– Nillumbik
– Whittlesea
– Reading Rover 

(outreach)
– Community 

programming





What?

Collections

Public libraries offer 
5 core services

Programs

Information/
Reference Services

Technology access

Places and
spaces



How? Where? When? 4 basic service 
delivery models

LIBRARY BRANCHES

• Local branch library
• Most familiar and most used model
• Located in activity centres
• Vary in size (200-3,000 m2)
• Fully-staffed
• Offer full service range

ONLINE / DIGITAL

• Anywhere anytime access
• Library website and app
• Browse catalogue, reserve/extend 

items
• Download digital resources
• View online programs

MOBILE / OUTREACH

• Take library to where the people are
• Services delivered in the community, 

often with partner organisations
• Large mobile vehicles being phased 

out/replaced by more smaller 
options

FLEXIBLE / EMERGING

• Emerging models are often variants 
of other types

• Library lounge (unstaffed)
• Pop up libraries
• 24/7 open library
• Book vending machines, kiosks



Why? 6 individual and 
community outcomes

Literacy and 
Lifelong 
Learning

Digital 
Inclusion

Informed and 
Connected 
CitizenshipEconomic and 

Workforce 
Development

Stronger and 
more Creative 
Communities

Personal 
Development 
and Wellbeing

Public libraries 
strengthen communities 

and build social capital 
by providing an inclusive 

forum and support for 
expression of creativity 

and cultural identity. 

Use of library services and programs 
by different groups in the community 
can support improved employment 
and productivity outcomes (e.g. job 
seekers, entrepreneurs).

Public libraries are safe welcoming and 
universally accessible places that 

provide access to authoritative 
information on health and wellness, 

support reading for pleasure and 
provide social interaction.

The ability to access 
and use technology is 
fundamental to 
meaningful 
engagement in 
modern society.

People come together
at the library to connect with 
one another and with what is 

happening in their community.

Public libraries help 
children to learn to read, 
support youth and adult 
literacy, and help people to 
improve their English 
language skills. Libraries 
also provide opportunities 
for people of all ages and 
interests to pursue formal 
and informal study and 
lifelong learning.

Guidelines, Standards and Outcome Measures for 
Australian Public Libraries, ALIA/APLA 2016
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Agenda Item 10: Re-Engaging our Communities 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Jane Cowell, Chief Executive 

 

  

REPORT 

SUMMARY 

This report outlines the strategies YPRL have in place to re-engage our communities back to 

the libraries and is for noting. 

REPORT 

Over the past two (2) years the pandemic has severely impacted the service levels YPRL has 

been able to offer our many communities.  Opening hours have been adjusted, new 

services such as Click and Collect have been developed and our staff have increased our 

digital offer for events and collections significantly.  From our customer survey undertaken 

in March 2021 we also discovered our members were feeling disengaged from the physical 

library services delivered in branch and were anxious about returning to public places.   

With our new Library Plan in place YPRL has a four (4) prong approach to re-engaging our 

communities back to the library. 

1. Return Yourself to the Library campaign: designed to re-engage lapsed users of the 

library this marketing campaign includes video content, social media content, and a 

physical mailout and eNews.  This is a state-wide campaign with an aspiration for high 

media promotion. 

2. Increased Touch Points with the community: Our Click and Collect hubs have 

expanded to Donnybrook and we are setting up a further hub outlet at the Galada 

Community Access Centre. Planning is about to be undertaken for a Library Lounge 

presence in the new Patterson Drive Community Access Centre for the City of 

Whittlesea and we are in consultation with Banyule City Council regarding how the 

library can increase its presence at West Heidelberg. 

3. Outreach programming: With the increased touchpoints in new communities YPRL is 

planning to program into these communities. Storytime sessions, tech help sessions 

and other events will be delivered outside of our physical branches to meet 

communities where they meet and encourage them to come back to our Branch 

libraries and make use of the library collections.  

4. Removal of membership renewal requirements: Currently our members are required 

to renew their membership every two (2) years and if they do not act, they are 

removed as a member. This will no longer be a requirement. Instead YPRL will use this 

two-year point as an opportunity to re-engage members with a targeted marketing 
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campaign about our services, programs, spaces, and collections to encourage them to 

make use of the library again. 

Our messaging also includes our COVIDsafe measures to reassure the community that it is 

safe to return to the library as we are aware this is still a concern. 

CONSULTATION 

N/A 

CRITICAL DATES 

N/A 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

This approach is within budget. 

POLICY STRATEGY AND LEGISLATION 

N/A 

LINKS TO STRATEGIC PLAN 

Strategies:  

• Connection 

• Organisational strength  

Priorities:  

• Create places and spaces for people throughout our communities to connect, 

belong and actively engage with each other. 

• Investment in our staff, capacity, and governance to ensure we are capable and 

ready to adapt, learn and empower our communities in environmentally and 

socially responsible ways. 

DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Under section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to the 

Library must disclose any interests, including type of interest. 

The Responsible Officer reviewing this report, having made enquiries with the relevant 

members of staff, reports that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this 

report. 

CONCLUSION 

YPRL is continually adapting and developing our services and ways of connecting with 

communities in response to the changing circumstances. These strategies are what has 

been identified as the way forward as a roadmap to recovery from the impact of COVID on 

our services and our communities. 
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RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to NOTE this approach to re-engaging our communities 

 M:  

 S:  
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Agenda Item 11: OHS Six Monthly Report 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Author: Kate Karrasch, Executive Manager Corporate Services 

 

  

REPORT 

SUMMARY 

This report provides a summary of incidents for the 1 July to 31 December 2021 period and 

an update on activities undertaken as part of YPRL’s OHS management system. 

REPORT 

YPRL’s OHS management system is made up of the following elements: 

• Policies, procedures and planning 

• Incident reporting 

• OHS Committee 

• Employee training 

• WorkCover management 

 

1. Policies, procedures and planning 

The annual review of the Fire Safety Procedure was completed, with minor changes, and 

was approved at the December 2021 Board meeting. The Fire Safety procedure was not 

required to be enacted in the reporting period. 

Working in Heat procedures were communicated to all staff in the lead up to summer, with 

actions taken where required to ensure the continued health and safety of staff and 

members of the public during days of extreme heat.  

‘Safety Moments’ was added to all standard meeting agendas as a standing agenda item, 

with staff encouraged to share and minute an example of a safety moment they have 

experienced in their work or personal life. This change was made to continue fostering 

YPRL’s Safety First culture.  

As part of YPRL’s continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic, a diverse range of actions 

were taken to address health and safety impacts including: 

• YPRL’s staff COVID-19 SharePoint page was regularly updated; 

• Infection Control Guidelines were regularly reviewed to ensure safe work practices; 

• COVID-19 Check-in Marshall’s were appointed; 

• Continuous review and updates were made to COVID Safe Plans. 
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2. Incident Reporting 

Sixty six (66) incident reports were submitted between 1 July to 31 December 2021. This 

included forty (40) incidents, twenty one (21) hazards, and five (5) near misses.  A summary 

and comparison of incidents by type for the periods 1 January to 30 June 2021 and 1 July to 

31 December 2021 is shown in Table 1, and a breakdown of incident types by location is 

provided in Table 2. 

Table 1: Incident Summary and Comparison 

Incident Type 
No. Incidents 

1 Jan to 30 June 2021 

No. Incidents 

1 July to 31 Dec 2021 

Inappropriate Behaviour 30 17 

Burglary/Theft 0 3 

Patron Injury/Illness 18 10 

Staff Injury/Illness 18 5 

Property/Building Damage 4 2 

Other 17 3 

Hygiene 1 0 

TOTAL 88 40 

 

Table 2: Summary of Incident Types by Location (1 July to 31 December 2021) 

Incident Location 
Inappropriate 
Behaviour 

Burglary/
Theft 

Patron 
Injury/ 
Illness 

Staff 
Injury/ 
Illness 

Property/ 
Building 
Damage 

Other Total No. 

Diamond Valley 1 0 0 0 2 0 3 

Eltham 5 3 3 0 0 1 12 

Ivanhoe 2 0 5 0 0 0 7 
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Table 2: Summary of Incident Types by Location (1 July to 31 December 2021) 

Lalor 2 0 0 1 0 0 3 

LSS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Mill Park 1 0 0 1 0 0 2 

Mobile Library 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Outreach 
Vehicle 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Rosanna 1 0 1 1 0 0 3 

Thomastown 3 0 1 0 0 2 6 

Watsonia 2 0 0 1 0 0 3 

Whittlesea 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Total 17 3 10 5 2 3 40 

 

Incident Trends: 

Seventeen (17) of the forty (40) incidents reported related to a range of inappropriate 

behaviours exhibited by patrons including alcohol and drugs, verbal abuse, swearing and 

threatening behaviour relating to vaccination status.   To provide staff with additional skills 

to cope with responding to these types of incidents, training was offered to staff on 

Managing Aggressive Behaviours, Understanding and Identifying Loneliness, and COVID-19 

Check-in Marshall training. In addition, as a result of reported inappropriate behaviours, 2 

patrons were spoken to and received a copy of YPRL’s Responsible Conduct Policy, and 3 

received a written warning. 

Ten (10) incidents related to patron injury/illness including three (3) children and (2) adults 

falling over at different Branches. One incident related to a patron who was COVID-19 

positive attending a Branch. Four (4) related to patrons who were offered and/or received 

first aid support from branch staff.  In four (4) cases, an ambulance was called to assist 

members of the public. 

Five (5) staff reported minor injuries, of which four (4) received minor first aid. 
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Three (3) incidents related to burglary and/or theft, including theft from e-waste bins, and a 

large amount of security tags found in study corrals.  

Two (2) incidents related to Property/Building Damage including a vehicle reversing into a 

storage shed, and vandalism of outdoor furniture.  

Three (3) incidents were reported as Other, relating to drug paraphernalia found outside a 

Branch, community group extending past allocated booking time, and a reported missing 

person.  

The total number of incidents reported has decreased by forty eight (48) overall, from 

eighty eight (88) in January to June 2021, to forty (40) from July to December 2021.  The 

decrease is due to COVID-19 impacts such as less patrons visiting Branches, decreased 

opening hours, and an increased focus on reporting and resolving hazards before incidents 

occur. 

Five (5) incident reports related to Near Misses including three (3) related to shelving, and 

two (2) related to children almost tripping. 

21 incident reports advised of hazards, including 16 related to furniture and equipment 

damage or hazards. 12 Hazards have been resolved and 9 are in progress. 

3. OHS Committee 

There are currently nine (9) appointed Health and Safety Representatives (HSR) across the 

region and the usual schedule of bi-monthly OHS Committee meetings resumed. One 

Health and Safety Representative resigned during the reporting period, and one new Health 

and Safety Representative was appointed and completed their 5-day initial training 

program. 

During the reporting period the OHS Committee: 

• Continued to review the OHS manual. 

• Delivered Safety First presentations to all employees to drive our Safety First 

culture, and increase hazard reporting to minimise near misses and incidents.  

• Led the implementation of bi-annual online manual handling training, to 

complement  face to face manual handling training sessions. This ensured staff 

could continue to maintain their skills and capability during periods of lockdown, 

and broadens our ability to deliver this type of training to staff in the future. 
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4. Employee Training 

All employees are required to complete annual OHS training, with current completion rates 

shown below. Managers are following up with staff to ensure training is complete.  

Topic Current Completion Rate 

Bullying and Harassment 91% 

OHS Duty of Care 89% 

Equal Opportunity 89% 

Social & Digital Media 85% 

Incident Investigation for Leaders & Health and Safety 

Representatives 
88% 

Manual Handling 82% 

Several other health and safety training sessions were offered during the reporting period 

including: 

• COVID-19 Infection Prevention and Control – (Mandatory – All staff) 

• COVID-19 Safety at Work – (Mandatory – All staff) 

• COVID Marshall Training (11 staff) 

• COVID Vaccine Information Session (5 staff) 

• Vaccine Hesitancy – Vaccination Ambassadors (4 staff) 

• Talking about COVID Vaccination (4 staff) 

• Workplace Equality – Contact Officer Essentials (1 staff) 

• CPR Refresher (3 staff) 

• First Aid Refresher (1 staff) 

• HSR Refresher course (6 staff) 

• Building Resilience in Uncertain times (6 staff) 

• Responsible Conduct Policy and Procedure (13 staff) 

• OHS for Managers (13 Managers) 

• Book Sorter training (8 staff) 

• Fire Season Preparedness (6 staff) 

• Ladder Use training (15 staff) 

• R U OK Workshop (22 staff) 

• Security Awareness (5 staff) 

There are two (2) Health and Safety Reps that require Refresher training.  Training will be 

scheduled as soon as restrictions for face to face training have been lifted. 
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There are fourteen (14) First Aid Officers across the region.  First Aid and CPR refresher 

training has been modified to accommodate COVID-19 restrictions. All First Aid Officers 

have completed refresher training online and will complete the practical component of the 

certificate when face to face training resumes.    

5. WorkCover Management 

There are currently 3 active WorkCover claims, including one new accepted claim. During 

the period 1 claim was declined, and 3 claims have closed with minor medical expenses. 

CONSULTATION 

N/A 

CRITICAL DATES 

N/A 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

POLICY STRATEGY AND LEGISLATION 

N/A 

LINKS TO STRATEGIC PLAN 

Strategies:  

• Organisational strength  

• Wellbeing 

Priorities:  

• Investment in our staff, capacity, and governance to ensure we are capable and 

ready to adapt, learn and empower our communities in environmentally and 

socially responsible ways. 

• Help individuals and communities to better engage in, understand and take 

positive actions to support their mental and physical health. 

DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Under section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to the 

Library must disclose any interests, including type of interest. 

The Responsible Officer reviewing this report, having made enquiries with the relevant 

members of staff, reports that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this 

report. 
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RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Board resolves to RECEIVE and NOTE the OHS Six Monthly Report 

 M:  

 S:  
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F. Continuation of matters lapsed from previous meetings 

 

G. Consideration of action petitions and joint letters 

 

H. General Business 

 

I. Reports from delegates appointed by the Board to other bodies 

 

J. Urgent Business 

 

K. Confidential Meeting (meeting closed to the public as per 89 (2) of 

the Local Government Act 1989 
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